
















Dear Fellow Shareholder: 

We hav'e many reasons to celebrate 2006, 

not the least of which was our company:~ 

100th birthday. 

In our centennial year, Atmos Energy 

delivered exceptional financial results 
that were driven by increased saks VOhlllWS 

and higher margins inc)ur llonUlilit,. 

segment. Atthe same time, om utility 

operations implemented improved 

rate designs to strengthen our futme 

financial performance. 

Net income for the fiscal year increast.'\.i 
9 percent to $147.7 million from $135.8 

million in fiscaJ 2005, and earnings per 
diluted share grew by 10 cents to SI.82. 

We paid dividends of $1.26 per 
share, resulting in a yield ofbetwe..:n 

4 percent and 5 percent. In November 
2006, the board of directors declared ou r 

19th consecutive annual div'idend 
increase, raising the dividend by 2 cents 
a share. The indicated rate ftl[ fiscal 

2007 is $1.28. 
During 2006, we achieved smooth 

management transitions in both our utility 

and nonutility operations. Kim R.Cocklin 

assumed respollsibiliti..:s as senior vice 

NONJJTIlITV 

president, utility operations, and 

Mark H. Johnsoll was named senior vice 

president, nonutility operations. 

We also began recovering from 

Hurricanes Katrina and Rita, which ini~ 

tially had ,lHected service to more than 

60 percent of our Louisiana customers. 

Although Atmos Energy has changed 

in mall)' ways during the past centurv, 

it has remained true to the founders' core 

vision to serve the public as a natural 

gas companr. 
·Joday, that vision translates imo om 

complementary strategy of natural 
gas utilitv services and non utility gas 

marketing, pipeline and storage 
services-a strategy that produced 

exceptional results in fiscal 2006. 

A very bright spot in 2006 was our 
nonutility operations. Earnings from 

these operations offset a 35 percent 
decline in our utility earnings to contribute 

a record··setling $94.7 million to nel 

income, or $1.I7 per diluted share. 

Our gas marketing subsidiary, 

At 11105 Energy Marketing (A£1",1), was 

able to realize $68.7 million more in 

margins primarily as a result oftlle extreme 
volatility in natural gas commodity 

prites last winter. AEM used its e-,!>erience 

and expertise 35 one of the COlllltrr's 

leading gas marketers to help many public 
utilities, municipalities and indust rial 
customers contend with the wide swings 

in wholesale gas prices. As a result, 

/l.E!v! increased its 2006 marketing sales 

volumes by 46 billion cubic fed (BcO 

to 284.0 Bef. 
Furthermore, our pipeline and storage 

segment, also part of our nonutility 

operations, achieved higher transportation 
and rclated~service margins and 

favorable arbitrage spreads on its storag..: 
contracts. The segment contributed 

$35.6 million to net income, 316 percent 

increase over its contribution in fiscal 

2005. Consolidated pipeline and storage 
throughput increased to 420.2 Beffrom 
383.4 Bcf ill fiscal 2005. 

A significant step we took during 
2000--{1ne that promises favorable returns 

and future opportuniti..:s-was our 

expansion into natural gas gathering. W..: 
expect to be able to use many of the same 

operating and marketing strengths found 
in our pipeline business in the gathering 

business. A gathering system collects raw 

gas from producers'wdlsand transports 

it to a processing and sales knninaI. From 

there, larger regulated pipelines C'lrfy 

the gas to market. 

In October 2006, we received an order 

frorTlthe Federal Energy Rc'gulatory 
Commission (FERC) excompting our 

proposed Straight Creek Gathering 
System from fERC regulation. This 

gathering system will USt' a 20-inch 

backbone pipelinc running approximately 

60 miles through the Big Sandy natural 

gas producing region in eastern Kentucky. 

Jt will be able to transport up to 100,000 
million BIll (MJvlBtu) a day of gas when 

it goes into operation in 2007, with th<' 

capability to expand throughput up to 

225,000 Ivl MBtu ada;'. 
The Big Sandy producing region 

historically has not had sutlicient gathering 

capacity to handle the available supply. It's 

estimated that our project could generate 
more than $]50 million a y,,'ar in 
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wellhead sales revenues, st'verance taxes, 

property taxes and royalty-owner 

revenUt's. Atmos Energy and our minoritr 

partner, Kinzer Drilling Company, 

plan to invest between $75 million and 

:'>'80 million in the project. 

'HElP UTiU1Y SEGMENT 

Extremely volatile natural gas prices, one 

of the warmest winters on r<"cord and 

two orthe worst hurricanes in American 

history strained our utilit r business 

b;' adding operating costs and lowering 

utility revenues. 

to write off our irrigation prop(~rties 

in West -rhas. The volumes or natural g3S 

Wt' deliver for irrigation pumping in 

Texas have continued to decline rear after 

year and were not expected to generate 

enough cash flow from operations to 

recover our net investment. 

On the positive side, our biggest 

financial success came in breakthroughs 

in rate design in our utility segment. 

These cbanges should help return our 

utility to strong performance in tiscal 

2007 and be}'ond. 

\Ve secured protection from weather 

in our two largest divisions. In Texas, the 

'vVe cannot control the weather and we cannot control the cost ofnatural gas; 
however, \ve can control how we address adverse situations. 

In particular, unseasonably warm 

winter weather, which was 13 percent 

warmer than normal, reduced our utility­

earnings. Net income from utility 

operations tell to $53.0 million from $81.1 

million in fiscal 2005. In addition, 

we lost approximately 230,000 utility 

customers in Louisiana until service 

C<)uld be restored after Hurricanes Katrina 

and Rit3. About 26,500 of these customers 

became permanent losses with no plans 

tor rebuilding homes or businesses. 

Utility earnings also were reduced by 

a non recurring after-tax charge of 

$14.6 million, or 18 cents per diluted share, 

Railroad Commission granted our 

Mid~Tcx Division a weather normalizat ion 

adjustment as part of a pending rate case. 

In Louisiana, the Public Service 

Commission allowed new rate provisions 

that protect our margins from warm 

winter weather, declining customer lise 

and greater conservation. 

As a result or these changes, more 

than 90 percent of our customer margi ns 

3re now substantially insulated from 

the effects of adverse weather. This has 

been a primarr goal to help saleguard 

our earnings. 

We cannot control the weather and 

we cannot control the cost of natural 

gas; however, we can control how we 

address adverse situations. We believe 

that implementing sound rate·design 

principles benellt.s both the company 

and our customers over thc long term. 

KHPING llAHS CUllflE!'H .........................................................................................................
 

\Ne filed a number of rate cases during 

2006, seeking rate increases and weather 

normalization adjustments as well as 

provisions to compensate for declining 

customer use and to recoup our costs 

for the natural gas consumed by customers 

with uncollectible accounts. 

In Louisiana, the Public Scrvice 

Commission acted quickly to allow a rate 

increase, subject to refund, of $1 0.8 million. 

The incn,'ase covered customer losscs in 

Katrina-affected parishes and increases in 

rate base and operating expenses. 

Our Illost significant rate filing was 

for a $60 million in<:rease in -kxas by our 

;'\'1id~Tex Division to recover increases 

in the division's operating costs and its 

allmved rate of return. A decision is due 

no later than April 2007. 

In Texas, \~e also continued to refresh 

our rates under the state's Gas Reliability 

Infrastructure Program, or GRIP. The 

program authorizes utilities to cam a rate 

of rdurn on their incremental annual 

capital investments. It also reduces the 

regulatory lag time between when we 

make an investment and when we begin 

earning a return on it. 

Since 2003, we have been able to 

increase base rates in 'Jexas under GRIP 

by about S190 million while earning 

about $36 million in allowed return on 

that investment. 

In Missouri, we reached a tentative 

settlement in a rate case seeking an 

nfVI~W 
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increase of $3.4 million. Significantly, the [~SlI 
co1l1mission staff has agreed to support 

a fixed monthly delivery charge, which 
would allow us to earn our residential 

rnargi ns regardless of customers' usage. 
A final decision in the case is expected 

in March 2007. 
In a contested case, the Tennessee 

Regulatory Authority ordered a 56.1 million 
reduction in our base rates, effective 

Dt'Cember 1,2006. Because the comp:Jny 

had absorbed a decade of inflation 

and expenses for system improvements 

without seeking a rate increas(:, we 

believe the current rates are deficient. 

We are continuing to analyze our rate 

strategy in Tennessee. 

$UGr.~ss ANn iNEHPENOf.NCr 

Strategic innovation has always set our 
company apart. For example, in 1986, the 
company was still a regional utilil yin \Vest 

Texas with a complementary irrigation 
business. That year, CEO Charles Vaughan 

made a tender offer to acquire Trans 

Louisiana Gas Company. It was a bold 
step that set the course for the company's 

future gl'O'wth. 

"Wt' had 10 do something because our 

service area was nol growing,"Vctughan 
said. "We had to bny something-or be 

bought ourselves." 

Vaughan chose to diversify lhe 

company's operations into other states 

but to maintain its basic strategy as a 

regulated local distribution company. 

-- ---..- ----.-----,.- ~--, ,----, 

fudicat?tI Hlt~ 

Other successful acquisitions followed 
lhat confirmed the corporate vision and 

the long-standing belief in independence by 
our board of directors. Charles Vaughan 

set 1he dual hallma rks of limmcial success 
and corporate independence b,. which 

we operate toda,.. 
Atmos Energy has continued 10 

expand, largely through mergers and 

acquisitions, to become the largest all­
natural-gas distribution company in the 

country. Our 10 major acquisitions 

to dale not only have bolstered our core 

utility business, but also have provided 

valuable diversification. 
In particular, our acquisition in ZOO I 

of the balance ofWoodward Marketing 

has proved to be one of our best steps. We 

acquired one of the countq"s leading 

and most respected mid .. tier natural 

gas marketing companies. Under 

ID Woodward's leadership, we greatly 

expanded the scope and scale ofour 

nonutility business. 

In 20(H, we acquired tht' operations 

of TXLJ Gas Company. Not only did we 
obtain one of the most d}11amic markets 

for natural gas distribution-Dallas-Fort 

Worth is now the nation's fourth largest 

mdropolitan statislical area, bill we also 

core business. And we will remain 

'lCliVt~ in using acquisitions as an engine 
of tlltllre growth. However, we expect 

to be even more seleclive to lind the right 

fit of properties. 

We will invest most of our future 

growth capital in states with timely and 

adequate rates of return as well as in 
new Ilolllltility projects. We expect our 
capital expenditures in fiscal 2007 will be 

between $425 million and 5440 million, as 

compared to $425.3 million in fiscal 2006. 

Iam confident that we are in abetter position today than at any time in our past. 

acquirt'd a highly valuable intrastate 
gas pipeline system. ']()day, it is ~iekling 

superior returns in our pipeline and 
storage segment while oltering grov.1:h due 

to th(' extensive rate of gas drilling 
in Texas and the producers'needs to 

transport the gas to markets. 

As Atmos Energy enters its second 

cenlury, our strategic focus remains fiXt'd 

on being financially successful by 
profitably deliveri ng natural gas to our 

customers. We expect our earnings in 

liscal Z007 to grow at OIl I' stated goal of 

4 percent to 6 percent a year, on average. 

Our utility operations will remain our 

We will con tinue to work for federal 
laws 10 increase our country's natural gas 

supply in order 10 moderate gas prices. 
Towards this end, au I' interests are aligned 

perfectly wilh our customers' interest~. 

We both want reasonable gas costs and 

lower volatility in gas prices. 

Today, Atmos Energy is in an excellent 
position to expand its core business, 

stabilize its earnings and take advantage 

of its complementary strategy. We aI',' 

pursui ng consistenl and focused st ralcgies 



MANAGEMENT TRIBUTES 

to benefit our shareholders, (ustomns 
and employees. Furthermore, natural gas 

remains the most valued energr source in 
:\ l11crican homcs and businesses, offering 
comfort, convenknce and efllciencr. FOI 

all these reasons, I am confident that we 
are in a better position toda}' than at 
any time in our past 

IN 06H~VAt<tt Of 

\Ve haw many reasons to celebrate 
Atmos Energy's lOath anniversary. But 
the one that's most important to m" 
is our company's culture of developing 
exceptional employees. 

They produced innovative solutions 
and found market opportunities thM 
yielded our strong results in 2006 while 
they maintained the high level ofservice 
that we take pride in. Our employees look 
care of their ':lIstomers and their fellow 
employees in a time of suffering and need. 

Only hours after Hurricane Katrina 
devastated southern Louisiana and parts 
of rVlississippi, our employees-more 
than 50 ofwhom lost their own homes­
were in the field to ensure safety, to 
begin restoration where possibk and to 

help their neighbors. For weeks thert'after, 
more than 450 of our employees from 
across our system worked up to Ig-hom 
days under dangerQllS and difficult 
conditions. It is a fitting tribute to all our 
employees that the natural gas that 

powered the pUlllpS to drain the toxic 
walers from New Orle<ms and to begin 
the healing came from Atrnl)s Energy. 

Local teams of employees from every 
operation joined together to "adopt" 
the families of our employees who lost 
their homes, autos and belongings, 
They held fundraisers, donated clothing, 
furniture, toys and supplies and went 
to the destroyed communities to help 
them rebuild their lives. Above all, 
they gave personal encouragement and 
strength to sustain their idlowcmployees 
through a difficult time. 

Our tirst commitment always is to 
serve-safdy, reliably and efficiently. This 
commitment ensures the value and 
integrity ofyour investment-It provides the 
confidence on which our enterprise has 
been built during the past 100 years, Even 
as our business and our emplo>'ces .:hange, 
service remains our ddining mission. 

K:~ vJ :B.ert.. 
Robert W. Best 
Chilirll/<irt. I'rr.<idcI1F and C'ilicj'ExcclIIivc Officer 

Novembcr 2.!• .!()06 

Gene C Koonce-Almos Enrrg\' 
Corporation h~s berwfiled for 
nedrly 8 d~c,~d,' from to,' wisdom 
and insights of Gene C. Koonce. 
Gene ioill~d Our board of din'ctms 
in 1997 dft~r our >!lergN with 

l '"ited Gtit,., GdS Company, wher" he had wrwd 
ilsc!Mirman, president and chief ~xeculiv(' ollicl'r 
ttH ~o yC'ars, A long-tilll,' industry Iead{'r, Gc'n,' was 
also ,1 distinguish,'d ((HHlllunity servant in the 
Gr{'ilta Nashville art'a and across T~nnessee, In 
Februilrv .'007, Gene will r('lir" from tfl(' board, 
and w{' wiso hilTl and his wik Betlye, our wry b,'sl. 

Two members of Atmos Energy Corporation\ 
senior Management Committee retired during 2006 
fD Woodward, who led our nOTlutility business, 
retired on Aprill,and R. Eorl Fischer, who Ic'd om 
utility operations. r~tired on September 30. 

JD WfJfJdwMd-b~gan working 
with Atmos Ener!!)' in 1997 after om 
merger with United Cities Gas 
Company. United Cities had owned 
4S percent of h is company, 
Woodward l\1arketing LLC The 
relationship wns so bmeficial that we 

J(CJuired the remaining interest in his company 
in 21l['!, nnd Ii) ioined us ns senior vice prfsident. 
nonutility operation.s. He significantly expanded 
ou rgas nlarketing business into 22 states and 
devdol'ed our pipeline nnd storage operations 
into a separate business segment that is making 
major contributions to our earnings, \\'e are greatly 
indebted to him tor ailth"t Of did to help Atmo;; 
Fllngy grow and stKceed, We wish JI) and his wife, 
l.inda. much happiness. 

Mark H. Johnson-who joined 
Woodward Marketing in 1992 as vice 
presid~nt of marketing and 
operations, succeeded jD Woodward 
as s<"nior vice presidrnL nonutility 
operations. and as a member of our 
M'lI1ug~mentCommittee. Mark, a 

petroleum engineer by training, b a highly 
e.'perienc~d leader in gas JTl8rketing, trading. 
storage and flJlan('ial hedging. He previously had 
served in a number of executive positions with 
Woodward Marketing and AUllOS Energy 
Marketing. He brings a dynamic style and clear 
focus to his job. 

R. fall FischP.f-spent ,t,lvears with 
Almos Energy ~nd We,tern K"ntucky 
G~s (WKC) COJnl'anv, He sl.'rved 
in a('counting and oper'1tional 
management positions o[ WKC, wh,'rc 
tw tirelessly promol,'d the SIBl,"s 

c'(Onom,c development, recruiting the G,'lh'ral 
Motors Corve(l{' Assembly PIanl, the j\\id­
America Air Park and a dozen maior compani,'S, 
He was promoted to pr~sidt'l\t o(WKG in I'Wi. 
[n 1998, hl' was n;llned presidenlo(ourWest T,'Xih 

DIvision, then known a.> Erwrgas, and later 
b~C<Hne senior vic,' president, utility opera lions, 
Earl led our utilit y operations througo nMn}' 
(hal1g~s in the industry, d~uling with volatile gas 
price$, system conversions and major acquisitions. 
He hus truly heen dedicated to the people we "erve 
througo his extensive' (ivic and charitahk work. 
Larger than life, and always alot of fun, he leaves 
uS ~ Hving leg~cy in the m~ny young manage" 
he ha$ selected and developed ovc~r the years. We 
wish Earl and his wife, Sally, all the best. 

I 
Kim fl. Cocklin-.... assumed the 

> responsibilities as senior vice 

ici..... . pres.idem, miliry operations, ilnd 
" a member of tile Man'lgement 

Committee on October L Before 
joimng Atmos Energy, Kim was 

senior vice president, g~neral counsel nne! ehkf 
eompliilnc~ ottieer for Piedmont Niltmal GilS 
Company, Inc. At Piedmont, he was responsible 
lor all legal, governmental and communit,. 
affairs, corporate -communications and Sarbane.s­
Oxley wmplianc~. Earlier, Kim worked for 
The William~ Compnnies for 19 years, He served 
as senior vice presid~JH in charge of planning, 
rates and regl1btor,., and busin~ss developlllen t 
tor William~ Gas Pipeline and in other executive 
positions. Kim brings extensive expaiel1('e in both 
the mility .. distributioll ,\O(! ga.s-pipeline 
businesses. Hi~ management ph ilosophy rdle<·t~ 

our own corporate culture, making him a 
valuahl,' addi lion to our senior milrt~gern~nl team, 



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AlMOS ENERGY AT A GLANCE 

Year Ended September 30 Year Ended September .\if 

••dii!iNMdNJM LmzMMi. mi. )1111. • f4'" . 

Operating revenue, $ 6.152,363 S 49S1.873 24.0% Meters in service 

Gro"pwfit $ U16.570 S 1,117.637 8.9% l,e'identi~j 2,886,042 2,BS2.822 

CClnlll1tn::lal 275,577 214.536 
Utilitr net im:omr 53,002 S 81.117 ·347% lndu,tri"j 2,661 1.,715 
Natural ga.s mHketing net income 58.566 23,404 150.2% r\f..riculturJI 8,714 9.639 
Pipdine :lnd s:ttlragc ntl income 35,624 30.599 16.4% Publi, ;",thorit\' and other 8,205 8.1l8 
Odwr nonutilEty nef in(On1C 515 665 ·18.0% F.>tal n1(·t~rs 3,181,199 3.157.840 

Total $ 147.737 $ t35.785 8.8% 
Heating deg,ee days 

1<llal a,set> $ 5,719.547 S 5.653,527 1.2% .\((",,1 (weighted ,tl'trage) 2,527 2.587 

l'c>talcapitaliz:ltion' $ 3,828.460 $ 3.785.526 1.1% Percent d l10rrnJI 87% 89% 

Net income per ,hue-·diluted $ 182 S 172 58% Utility slles volumes IMMel) 
Chh divid,'mh per share $ 125 $ 1.24 \6% J<esidential 144,780 162.016 
Hook value pt'r share mend <,1' year $ 20.16 $ 1990 1.3% Cnn1lnefCiJI 87.006 92.40t 

COrLIolidaled utility segment throughput (MMcfi 

Consolidated natmal gas marketing segment throughput (MM,n 

ConsoUdated pipeline and ;torage segment 

transportation volumes (MMcf, 

393.995 

283.902 

420.217 

411,134 

238.097 

383.377 

-4.2% 

19.3% 

96% 

Indu,trial 

Agricultur31 

Public duthnritv and mh\'f 

Ttlt" I 

26,161 

5,629 

8,457 

272,033 

29.434 

3.348 

9.084 

296)83 

Hearing degree days 2.527 2,587 -2.3% Utility transportation volum 05 {MMd) 126.950 122.098 

Oegre.. day., a, a percentage of normal 87% 89% -2.2% Total utility throughput (MMel) 398,993 418.381 

Meters in service at end ofyear 3.181.199 3,157,840 0.7% lnt".."gm&ot .~tivity (MMel) (4,998) 17,2471 

Return on average ,hareholde,,' equity 89% ~.O% -1.1% Con$oHdated utility throughput (MMcf; 393.995 ~ 
Shareht>lders' equitv as a percentage "ftotal capitalization ConsoUdated n8turB~ gills marketing throughput {MMcH 283.962 23B.097 

(including shMt-term debt) at end ofyear 391% 407% -3.9% ConsofidatEtd pipe[inetransportBtion volumes (MMcfl 420,217 383.377 

Shart'holda, 01' rerord 7.4.690 26,242 ·5.9% Operating revenues (OOOs) 

Weighted average shares outManding-diluted (000,) 81,390 79,012 3.0% G3S utilit)' ,ales revenues 
"10l~1 ~:'p'jt~;;l"i:Q;\ \·~F'·e'::r;t~ t;1~ .,1.1,.. ,A ~I:.ltl?"o!ccrs· eqUlty ,mJ ~..:.ng"l.~rm c.ei'Jt,cxduJ:n-;r ":'_"~.~I\c I'!,;.m:_rili~ Re,idential 2.068,736 S 1.791.172 

COl1lmer(jal 1,061,783 869,722 

industrial 276,186 1(.9,649 

"wi"ultur,,1 40,664 7.7.889 

Public :lllth<"ity Jnd other 103,936 86,853 

Tot(d g3~ s:dt,'$ rl,>VenllC~ 3,551,305 3.005).85 

SUMMARY ANNUAL REPORT Trtln:)portaritm n.·Vt>m!(·~ 61,475 58.897 

Otht~rgas n.'Vc,mlli,';-. 37.071 37.859 

The tinancial inlonTlalion presenteJ in this 

report about Atmos Energy Corporation is 
condensed. Our complete financial statements, 

are required under the Sarbanes-Oxky Act 
of 2002 and all related rules and regulations of 
the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Total utility revenue, 

Natura.l ga.'i marketing rew.:nues 

Pipd ine and st"rJge revenues 

3,649,851 

2.418,856 

81,85/ 

3,102,041 

1.783.926 

/3.880 

including notes as well as m,Hlagement's InveSlOrs rna)' request, without charge, om Olher l1(1nutility revenues 1.799 2.026 

disnls>ion and analysis of financial condition Amlllal Report IJII Foml lO-K for the fiscal Total operatirt-g rQvenues (OOOs) :> 6.152,363 $ 4.96\873 

and results ofoperations, are presentt'd in our 
Amlllal Report orl Form 1O-K. Atmos Energy's 
chief executive officer and its chief financial 

officer have executed all certifications with respect 

to the fmancial statements contained therein 

year ended September 30, 2006, by calling 
Shareholder Relations at 972-855-3729 
between 8 a.m. and 5 p.m. Central time. Our 
Form lO-K also is available on Atmos 

Energy's Web site at www.atmosenergy.colTl. 

Otherstatfstics 

Gn.'S> plant '.O""'S! 
Net plant (000,) 

M il~s of pipe 

5,101,308 

3.629.156 

81.996 

$ 4,765.610 

S 3.374.367 

81.604 

and have completed management's report on Additional investor information is presented Employees 4,632 4,543 

internal control over financial reporting, which on page 32 of this report. 



CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS	 CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 

September 30 

Assets 

Property. plant and i!qufpment 

Construction in progress 

less ac.cumulated depreciation and amortization 

Nt't property, plJnt Jnd equipment 

Current assets 

CJ,h and ca,h eqllivaknh 

Cash held on drpo~it in rn.;'lrgin a(count 

A"wunb ,,"eiva"I,', Irs, allow:HKe ")r doubtful J,counbof$ll,M6 in 2006 

and $15,61.' in It){]:; 

Cas stored undergr0und 

Other current assets 

Tutal current as,ets 

Goodwill and intangible a~sets 

Deforred charges and other assets 
24 

CapitalizBtton and Liabilities 

Shareholders' equity 

Cummon stock, no par value (St3kd at S.OO' per ,harc); 

25 200,000.01>1> Sh"fl'S :lllthnri/d, i"ued and nm't"",jing: 

2otJ6--XI,TN,5Ih ~hclTe~~ ~005·, ~O,)39.,tOl ,hare~ 

Additional paid-i n capital 

t\~uIlnuli:ltt.:d other (dmpr\~hl>n~j\'e loss 

Retained earning" 

Shareh"lder,' eqltil Y 

lOhg-terrn debt 

Total capll.lint ion 

Current liabiHties 

Aecoltnt" payable and aecrued liabilities 

Other current liabil itie, 

Short-term debt 

Current maturities "flon~Herl11 debt 

Total Cll rrent li"bilitie' 

Deferred income tall:E$ 

Regulillltory catt of removal obligation 

Deferred: credits and other liabHitics 

S 5,026,478 

74,830 

5,101,308 

1,472.152 

3,629, \56 

75,815 

35,647 

374,629 

461.502 

169,952 

1,117,545 

738,521 

234,325 

S 5,719,547 

409 

1,467.240 

(43,8501 

224.299 

1.648.098 

2.180,362 

3.82&,460 

345,108 

388.451 

382,416 

3,186 

1.l19,161 

306,172 

261,376 

204,378 

S :;,719,547 

$ 4,631.684 

133.926 

4765,610 

1,391,243 

3.374,367 

40.116 

80.956 

~54,313 

450,80/ 

238,238 

U64.430 

/37.787 

276,943 

$ 5,653,527 

403 

1.426,523 

(3,3411 

178,837 

1.602.422 

2,183,104 

3,785.526 

461.314 

503,368 

144.809 

3.264 

1,112,755 

?9?,207 

263,424 

199,615 

$ 5.653,527 

Year Ended September 30 

Operating revenues 

Utilily,egment 

Natural gas marketing,...egment 

Pip,'lin<> and 'torage segnwnt 

Other nunutility segment 

Inter:)(.~ment l,.'liminatinn-.; 

Purehesed gOfi cost 

Utility segment 

Ndlurai gas nl~rkeljllg ~t.'grnelH 

Pipeline dod :'itor:lge ~t>gInent 

Other nOllutilitr,egment
 

Intersegmenl e1iminatioll\
 

Grossptofit 

Operating -9xp.ns.s 

Opemti"n and maintenanc~ 

Depreci3ti(.n and amnrtizat;(,n 

Taxes~ other th:lll in(ome 

Impairmenl oflong-lived ""et> 

Tot.1 opa;)t ing expen,e~ 

Operllting income 

Miscellaneous income 

Interest chpryes 

Income betilte income In"' 
Incometsx expense 

Net income 

Per share data 

Basic net income per $haro 

Diluted net income per sh~re 

WEt1ghted Bv-:trBge shares. outstanding: 

Basic 

Diluted 

S	 3,650.591 

3,156,524 

160.567 

5.898 

1821.2171 

6,152,363 

2,725.534 

3,025.897 

838 

1816,476) 

4.935.193 

1.216,5'/0 

433.418 

185,596 

191.993 

21,947 

833.954 

382,616 

881 

146,607 

236.890 

89.153 

$ 147.737 

S 183 

$ 1.82 

80,731 

81.390 

$	 3,103,140 S t,637.728 

2,106,278 1,618.602 

153.289	 19,758 

5,302 3.393 

(406.1361 1359,4441 

4.961,873 2,920.037 

2.195,774 t.134,594 

2,044.305 1.571,971 

6,811 9.383 

1402.6541 {358,102) 

3.844.236 2.351,846 

1,11/,631 562.191 

416,281 214,470 

118,005 96,647 

174,696 51,379 

768.982 368.496 

348,655 193.695 

2.021 9,507 

132,658 65,437 

218.018 137,765 

B2,233 51.538 

$ 135.785 $ 86,227 

$ 1'13 S 1.60 

$ 112 S 158 

78,508 54.021 

79,011 54,416 
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS Of CASH flOWS	 REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBliC ACCOUNTING fIRM 

Year Ended September _\0 

Cash F{ows from Opetrating Activhies 

Net income 

Adjus.trnents to reconcile nat intorneto net cash 

pl'ovi-ded by operating activities: 

G:lin on ;.;,a!t·, (If .hseh 

Impairment nflong-liwd as,,'!; 

Deprt..·ciation <wd arnortil.3.tinn: 

Charged to depre,iat;oll and amnrti/'lIiol\ 

Charged to other J.((Pllnts 

Deferred inWlllt' 1'1 X,'S 

Other 

Change, in asseh and liabilities 

Net ca,h provided by nperating activit ie" 

Cash Flows Used in InvBsting ActIvities 

Capita' expenditure" 

Acquisitions, net of cash re,eived 

Other. net 

l'roCl'ed, from sales oiass('!> 

Net (ash l1~cd in in ....c..':'tjng<h:tjvitje~ 

Cash flows from Financing A~tivities 

Net iIKn:a~e ide-c:rea:<\r) in \hort-h~rmdt"bl 

Net pro(eeds frnrn i~.suan(e ofl\lng-h~nn debt 

Settlement ofTrt'asury lock ~grr~ment> 

Repay ment of long-term debt 

Ca,b d i\'idend, paid 

Issuance OfC011111l0n stDck 

Net pmceeds from equity oiiering 

Net c~,h provided by financing actidtie, 

Net increase (decre"e) in cash and ca,h equh'alents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivnients at -end of year 

$ 147)37 $ 135.785 

22.947 

185.596	 178,005 

371 791 

86.178 12.669 

18,480 11.522 

049,8&01 48,172 

311,4<19 386,944 

1425.324} 1333,I83l 

{L916,6961 

15.767} (2,131) 

i431.091} iV52,01Ol 

237,607 144,809 

1.385,847 

(43,770) 

13,ZM} (103,425) 

(102,275) 198,978) 

23,273 37,183 

381.584 

155,341 1,703,250 

35,899 061,81&) 

40,116 201,932 

$"'75':815 s 40,116 

$ 86,227 

(6.7001 

96.647 

1,465 

36,997 

(1,7721 

57,870 

270.734 

(190,2851 

(1,9571 

(5701 

27,919 

(164,893) 

1118,5951 

5,000 

(9,7131 

(86,736) 

34.715 

235.737 

80,408 

186,249 

15,683 

$ 201,932 

The Board of Directors 

Atmo, Em'rgy Corporation 

Vie have audited, in accordance "ith the 
standards of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversighl Board (United States), the 
consolidalt'd bahlnt-e sheet; of i\tmos Energy 
Corporation ,It September 30,2006 ,jlld 
2005, and the related wnsolidated statements 
of inwme, sh.lreholders' equity, and cash 
llows fo!' each of the three years in the perrod 
ended September 30, 2006 (not presented 
hert'in); and in our report dated Novt'Tnber 20, 
2006, we expressed an unqualified opinion 
on those consolidated financial statements, 

In our opinion, the informal ion set forth in 
the accompanying condensed consolidated 
financial statements is fairly stated, in all material 

respects, in relatioll to the consolid'lted fmalled 
statements from which it has been derived. 

~"'MJ.LP 
Dallas, ']exas 
November 20, 2006 



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL SUMMARY ~21102·2006) FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Year Ended September .~O 

,!"u. iFIr 
' 

f'li imE jmE 
The matters discussed or incorporated by 
r~·ter('nct' in this Sumt1zary' A'ViUli/ Rt!p{)rT fl]"ly 

BBJ8nce Sheet Date OIlIt Soptembor 30 (ooosl contain "forward-looking sratements"within 

C3pit31 expenditures $ 425,324 $ 333,183 $ 190,2B5 S 159,439 $ 132,252 the meaning otSection 27A of the Securities Act 

Net property, plant and equipment 3,629.156 3,374,367 1,722,521 1,624,394 1.380,070 of 1933 and Sectioll 21E of the Securities 

Wurking ,apital 11,616) 151,675 283.310 16,248 (139,1501 Exchange Act of 1934. All statements other than 

Total a,set, 5,719.547 5,653,527 2.912,627 2.625,495 2,059.631 statements of historical fact included in th is 
Sharehold€l's' equity 1,648,098 1,602,422 1.133,459 857.511 573.235 report at'e forward-looking statements made in 
Long· term debt, exdud ing: wrrent maturit ies 2,180,362 2,183,104 861,311 862,500 668,959 good faith by the Company and are intended 
Total capitalization 3,828,480 3.185,526 1,994,770 1.720,017 t.242,194 to qualify for the safe harbor from liabilil y 

In~on'lc Statement Data established by the Privatc Securities Litig~tion 

Operating reY<'DUt'.; (!JOGs) $ 6,152.363 $ 4,961.873 $ 2,920,031 $ 2,799,916 $ 1.650,964 Reform Acto! 1995. When llsed in thi$ report 

Gross profit (000,) 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 534,976 431,140 or an)' othff of the Company's doultnents or 

Nd iDcum~ (OOOs) 141,737 135.785 85.227 71,688 59,656 oral presentation", the words "anticipate," 

Net inwmep~r dilutt'd ,h'l'e 1.82 I.n 1.58 154 1.45 "believe," "estimate:'"expect," "forecast," "goaL" 

Common Stock Data 
"intend ," "obiective," "plan," "projection," 

Sh'lfes outstanding (OOOs) 
End ofy~ar 81.740 80,539 62,800 51,476 41,6713 

"seek,""strategy" Qr similar words are intended 
to identif)' forward, looking statemmts. Such 

Weight~d avera"" 81,390 79,012 54,416 46,496 41.250 forward-looking statements arc subject to risks 

Cash divid"Jlds per ,hare $ 1.26 $ 124 $ 1.22 $ 1.20 $ 118 and uncertainties that could cause actual 

Sh" r"holders of fewfd 24,690 26,242 27,555 28,510 28.829 results to differ materially from those discussed 

Market prier-High $ 2911 $ 2916 $ 26.36 $ 25,45 $ 24.413 in tbis repol'l. These risks and uncert,]inties are 

l.ow S 25,79 $ 24.85 $ 2363 S 2070 $ 18.37 discussed in the Company's Form lO-K for the 

End "fvear $ 28.55 $ 2825 $ 25.19 $ 2394 $ 2150 fiscal ye,lf ended September 30,2006. Although 
Book value per ,har" ,~t end of )Ta r S 20.16 $ 1990 $ 13.05 $ 16.66 $ 13.75 the Company helieves these forward~l{)okjng 

Prke/Earning.s ralio alel1d "fvear 15.69 16.42 15.94 15.55 14.83 statements to be reasonable, there Gin be 
Ma rketlBook ratio al end of year 1.42 l.42 1.40 1.44 156 flO assunll1ce thal they wil1 'Ipproximate actual 
Annualized dividmd yield at ,'nd "f)'ear 4.4% 4.4% 4.8% 50% 5.5% experience or that the expectations derived 

CustQmors and Volumes {as metered) from them will be realized. Funher, the Company 

Consolidated utility gas sales volumes (MM(f) 212,033 296,283 113,219 184,512 145,488 undertakcs no obligation to update or revise 

Consolidated utility ga.' transportati.)n an)' of its forward-looking statements, wbether 

volumes (MMcf) 
Consdidated utility throughput (Ml\1d) 

121,962 
-'-39~95 

114,851 
'-"'''41i~i~,4 

_l~8T~ 

246,033 
63,453 

-2'47:965 
63,053 

-'2oB,541 
as a resnlt of new information, fmure evems 
or otherwise. 

Consolidated natural ga' marketing 
throughput (MMcf) 283,962 238,097 222,572 225,961 204,027 

Consolidated pipeline transportation 
volumes (M Mef) 420,217 383,317 

Meters in servke at end of yeal 3,181,199 3,157,840 1,619,136 1.672,/98 1,389.341 
Heating degree daY,' 2,527 2,587 3,211 3,413 3,368 
Degree days as a percentage of nmmal 81% 89% 96% 101% 94% 
Utilit), average cost r,f ga' per Mcf 'old $ 10.02 $ 7.41 $ 655 $ 5.16 $ 387 
Utility average transportation fee per Mcf S 49 $ 49 $ 36 $ 43 $ ,41 

Statistics 

Return on average sharcbl.ldet>· equity a.9% 9.0% 9.1% 9,9% 9.9% 
Nll mber of emplo)'ees 4,631 4,543 2,864 2,905 2,338 
Net utility plant per met€< S 969 $ 927 $ 994 S 930 $ 939 
Utility oper3tion and m,rintl'I13I1Ce 

apense pef meter S 112 $ 110 $ 116 S 115 $ 101 
Ivklers per employ"e-utilitv 723 130 612 594 616 
Times interest e3rned bl'fore in,ome taxes 2.55 <.59 305 275 2.55 

'H"L""J:itl~ d('~.\~,· <i.;,~s jl',~ ~;J,i'Hl<'i.i 10: ,,'1',,:,': .ll'·'::-~·, ",il:\ W,·JI:i.'r -i·,,~-,,)~il~.l.'<.! (}J.l'.~'dti"m 
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CORPORATE INfORMATION 

New York Stock Exchange. Trading symbol: ATO 

American Stock Tr,msfcT and Trmt Cornl'ony 
59 Maid<'n Lane 
Plaza Level 
N,~w York, N<,wYork 10038 
800-54:>-3038 

'Io inquire about your Alinos Energy stock. 
pkase elll AST at the telephone Humber above. 
You may use the agelll'> intt'ranive voice 

response system 24 hours a day to learn 'loom 
transferring stock or to check your recent 
account activity-all withollt the as,iSl<lllCe of 
a customer service representative. P!ea:;e 
have available your :\tmos Energy shareholder 
account number and your Sodal Senuity or 

federal taxpayer ID number. 
To speak to an AST customer service 

representative, pk'l>e «Ill the same nunl!>,'r 
between 8 a.m. and 7 p.m. Eastern time. 
Ivlonday through Thursday. or 8 a.lll. to 5 p.m. 
Eastern time on Friday. 

You also may send an e·mai! message on 
our agent's \Vt'll site ,1\ http://www.amstock. 
COI11. Please refer to Atmos Energy in your e·mail 
and include your Almos Energy shareholder 
.CCOUlH number and VOUI' Social Securit, or 
federal taxpayer ID nU;11ber. . 

Ernst & Young LLP 
~IOO Ross Avenue, Suite 1",00 
Dallas, 'Texas 7520 I 

214·969·8000 

Atmos Energy Corporation's Amlilal Repor{ 
011 Fonn IO-K i:; ~v~ilable at no ch<lrge 
from Shan'holder Rc!<llioli" Atlllo> Energy 
Corporation, P.O. Box 6",020"" Dallas, 'Iexas 
75265-0205 or by calling 972·853·3729 between 
8 a.m. and:; p.m. Ct'lltr<lltilllf. Almos Energy'.> 
Form IO-K also may be ,iewed on Almas Energy's 
Web site at http://ww.l..atmosener/:.y.com. 

The 2007 Annual Meeling "fShareholders will 
be held in the Symphony Ballroom at the 
Loew, Vanderbilt Hotel, 21 00 West End Avenue, 

Nashville Tcnnc"ce 37203 on Wednfsday, 
February 7, 200/, at II ,U11. C.~ntnltirne. 

i)lK{;':! 

Atmo, Energy Corporation ha~ a Dir<,et Stock 
Purchase Plan that is ovailabk to all investors. 
For an EnrollmC~!H Al'plic,Hion Form '1Od a Plan 
Prospectus, please c'l11 AST at 800· 543·3038. 

Th., ProspC'((US i, also available on the Internet 
ilt http://www.atlnosenergy.com. You may also 
obtain information by writing to Shareholder 
Relations. Atmo, Energy Corporation, 
P.o. Box 65020:;. DaILl', Texas 75265·0205. 

This is not an offer to sdl, or a iiolicitation 
to buy, ony securities of Atmos Energy 
Corporation. Shares of Atmos Energy common 
stock pur(hased through the Dirfn Stock 

PU/'chase Plan will be offered only by Prospectus. 

Information about Atmos Energy is available on 
the Internet at http://www.;ttrnosencrgy.com. 
Our Web site includes news rdc'lses, cmrt'nt and 
historical financial rerotts, other investor data, 
corporatc governancc dowments, management 
biographies, customer information and facts 
about Almo, Energy'~ operations. 

To contact Almos Energy'> Sbareholder 
Relations, c:aIl972-8S5-.3729 between 8 a.m. 
and 5 p.m. Central time or send an e·· mail 
mess~ge to InwslorReI,ltions@atmoscnergy.col1l. 

Securities an,liysts and investment managers, 
please contact: 

Susan Kappes Gil<'s 
Vke President, In,estor Rd'llions 
972-855·3729 972·855·3040 (fax) 
InvcstorRclations@,ltrnosenrrgy.com 

mailto:InwslorReI,ltions@atmoscnergy.col1l




UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
 
Washington, D.C. 20549
 

Form lO-K 
(Mark One) 

~	 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
 
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006
 

OR 

D	 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
 
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 
For the transition period from to
 

Commission file number 1-10042 

AtDlOS Energy Corporation 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Texas and Virginia	 75-1743247 
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS employer 
incorporation or organization) identification no.) 

Three Lincoln Centre, Suite 1800 75240 
5430 LBJ Freeway, Dallas, Texas (Zip code) 

(Addres.~ 4 principal executive offices) 

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: 
(972) 934-9227 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: 
Name of Each Exchange 

Title of Each Class on Which Registered 

Common stock, No Par Value New York Stock Exchange 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: 
None 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities 
Act. Yes 0 No 0 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the 
Act. Yes 0 No 0 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (l) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file 
such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 0 No 0 

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and 
will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference 
in Part III of this Form IO-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. 0 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See 
definition of "accelerated filer and large accelerated filer" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one): 

Large accelerated filer [{] Accelerated filer 0 Non-accelerated filer D 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes 0 No 0 

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of the last business day of the 
registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, March 31, 2006, was $2,064,662,421. 

As of November 8,2006, the registrant had 81,823,767 shares of common stock outstanding.
 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
 

Portions of the registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February 7, 
2007 are incorporated by reference into Part III of this report. 
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PART I 

The tenns "we," "our," "us," "Atmos" and "Atmos Energy" refer to Atmos Energy Corporation and its 
subsidiaries, unless the context suggests otherwise. 

ITEM 1. Business 

Overview 

Atmos Energy Corporation, headquartered in Dallas, Texas, is engaged primarily in the natural gas utility 
business as well as other natural gas nonutility businesses. We are one of the country's largest natural-gas-only 
distributors based on number of customers and one of the largest intrastate pipeline operators in Texas based 
upon miles of pipe. As of September 30, 2006, we distributed natural gas through sales and transportation 
arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residential, commercial, public authority and industrial customers 
through our seven regulated utility divisions, which covered service areas in 12 states. Our primary service 
areas are located in Colorado, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Tennessee and Texas. We have more 
limited service areas in Georgia, Illinois, Iowa, Missouri and Virginia. In addition, we transport natural gas for 
others through our distribution system. 

Through our nonutility businesses, we primarily provide natural gas management and marketing services 
to municipalities, other local gas distribution companies and industrial customers in 22 states and natural gas 
transportation and storage services to certain of our utility divisions and to third parties. 

We were organized under the laws of Texas in 1983 as Energas Company for the purpose of owning and 
operating the natural gas distribution business of Pioneer Corporation in Texas. In September 1988, we 
changed our name to Atmos Energy Corporation. As a result of the merger with United Cities Gas Company 
in July 1997, we also became incorporated in Virginia. 

Operating Segments 

Our operations are divided into four segments: 

• the utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations, 

• the natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of nonregulated natural gas management 
services, 

• the pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmis­
sion and storage services and 

• the other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations. 

Strategy 

Our overall strategy is to: 

• deliver superior shareholder value, 

• improve the quality and consistency of earnings growth, while operating our natural gas utility and 
nonutility businesses exceptionally well and 

• enhance and strengthen a culture built on our core values. 

Over the last five years, we have primarily grown through two significant acquisitions, our acquisition in 
December 2002 of Mississippi Valley Gas Company (MVG) and our acquisition in October 2004 of the natural 
gas distribution and pipeline operations of TXU Gas Company (TXU Gas). 

We have experienced over 20 consecutive years of increasing dividends and earnings growth after giving 
effect to our acquisitions. We have achieved this record of growth while operating our utility operations 
efficiently by managing our operating and maintenance expenses and leveraging our technology, such as our 
24-hour call centers, to achieve more efficient operations. In addition, we have focused on regulatory rate 

4 



proceedings to increase revenue as our costs increase and mitigated weather-related risks through weather­
normalized rates that now apply to most of our service areas. We have also strengthened our nonutility 
businesses by increasing gross profit margins, actively pursuing opportunities to increase the amount of storage 
available to us and expanding commercial opportunities in our pipeline and storage segment. 

Our core values include focusing on our employees and customers while conducting our business with 
honesty and integrity. We continue to strengthen our culture through ongoing communications with our 
employees and enhanced employee training. 

Utility Segment Overview 

We operated our utility segment through the following seven regulated natural gas utility divisions during 
the year ended September 30, 2006: 

• Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division, 

• Atmos Energy Kentucky Division, 

• Atmos Energy Louisiana Division, 

• Atmos Energy Mid-States Division, 

• Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division, 

• Atmos Energy Mississippi Division and 

• Atmos Energy West Texas Division. 

Effective October 1, 2006, the Kentucky and Mid-States Divisions were combined. 

Our natural gas utility distribution business is seasonal and dependent on weather conditions in our 
service areas. Gas sales to residential and commercial customers are greater during the winter months than 
during the remainder of the year. The volumes of gas sales during the winter months will vary with the 
temperatures during these months. 

In addition to weather, our financial results are affected by the cost of natural gas and economic 
conditions in the areas that we serve. Higher gas costs, which we are generally able to pass through to our 
customers under purchased gas adjustment clauses, may cause customers to conserve or, in the case of 
industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our 
accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt expense and may require us to increase 
borrowings under our credit facilities resulting in higher interest expense. 

The effect of weather that is above or below normal is substantially offset through weather normalization 
adjustments, known as WNA, which are now approved by the regulators for over 90 percent of residential and 
commercial meters in our service areas. WNA allows us to increase customers' bills to offset lower gas usage 
when weather is warmer than normal and decrease customers' bills to offset higher gas usage when weather is 
colder than normal. 

Prior to October 1, 2006, our largest division, the Mid-Tex Division, did not have WNA. However, its 
operations benefited from a rate structure that combined a monthly customer charge with a declining block 
rate schedule to partially mitigate the impact of wanner-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of 
the monthly customer charge and the customer billing under the first block of the declining block rate 
schedule provided for the recovery of most of our fixed costs for such operations under most weather 
conditions. However, this rate structure was not as beneficial during periods where weather was significantly 
warmer than normal. 

In May 2006, the Mid-Tex Division filed a Statement of Intent seeking additional annual revenues of 
$60 million and several rate design changes including WNA. In July 2006, the Railroad Commission of Texas 
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(RRC) approved an interim and a permanent WNA, effective October 1,2006 for the Mid-Tex Division. The 
agreement provided that the interim WNA will be based on the use of 30 years of weather history, while the 
permanent WNA will allow the parties to contest the appropriate period of weather data to use in calculating 
normal weather. The permanent WNA will also be modified or adjusted to conform to the rate design that the 
RRC ultimately approves in the case. Additionally, in May 2006, we agreed to a settlement with the Louisiana 
Public Service Commission (LPSC) that authorized the implementation of WNA in our Louisiana Division 
effective December 1, 2006. 

As of September 30, 2006 we had, or received regulatory approvals for WNA for our customer meters in 
the following service areas for the following periods: 

Georgia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. October - May
 

Kansas. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. October - May
 

Kentucky . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. November - April
 

Louisiana(l) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. December - March
 

Mid-Tex() . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. October - May
 

Mississippi. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. November - April
 

Tennessee .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. November - April
 

Amarillo, Texas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. October - May
 

West Texas " October - May 

Lubbock, Texas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. October - May
 

Virginia. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. January - December
 

(I) Effective beginning with the 2006-2007 winter heating season. 

Our natural gas supply comes from a variety of third-party providers and from gas held in storage. We 
anticipate that the natural gas supply for the upcoming winter heating season will be provided by a variety of 
suppliers, including independent producers, marketers and pipeline companies, in addition to withdrawals of 
gas from storage. Additionally, the natural gas supply for our Mid-Tex Division includes peaking and spot 
purchase agreements. We also contract for storage service in underground storage facilities on many of the 
interstate pipelines serving us. We estimate the peak-day availability of natural gas supply from long-term 
contracts, short-term contracts and withdrawals from underground storage to be approximately 4.2 Bet. The 
peak-day demand for our utility operations in fiscal 2006 was on December 8, 2005, when sales to customers 
reached approximately 3.4 Bcf. 

Supply arrangements are contracted from our suppliers on a firm basis with various terms at market 
prices. The firm supply consists of both base load and swing supply quantities. Base load quantities are those 
that flow at a constant level throughout the month and swing supply quantities provide the flexibility to change 
daily quantities to match increases or decreases in requirements related to weather conditions. Except for local 
production purchases, we select suppliers through a competitive bidding process by requesting proposals from 
suppliers that have demonstrated that they can provide reliable service. We select these suppliers based on 
their ability to deliver gas supply to our designated firm pipeline receipt points at the lowest cost. Major 
suppliers during fiscal 2006 were Anadarko Energy Services, BP Energy Company, Chesapeake Energy 
Marketing, Inc., ConocoPhillips Company, Cross Timbers Energy Services, Inc., Devon Gas Services, L.P., 
Enbridge Marketing (US) L.P., PPM Energy, Inc., Tenaska Marketing and Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC, our 
natural gas marketing subsidiary. 

The combination of base load, peaking and spot purchase agreements, coupled with the withdrawal of gas 
held in storage, allows us the flexibility to adjust to changes in weather, which minimizes our need to enter 
into long-term firm commitments. 

Also, to maintain our deliveries to high priority customers, we have the ability, and have exercised our 
right, to curtail deliveries to certain customers under the terms of interruptible contracts or applicable state 
statutes or regulations. Our customers' demand on our system is not necessarily indicative of our ability to 
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meet current or anticipated market demands or immediate delivery requirements because of factors such as the 
physical limitations of gathering, storage and transmission systems, the duration and severity of cold weather, 
the availability of gas reserves from our suppliers, the ability to purchase additional supplies on a short-term 
basis and actions by federal and state regulatory authorities. Curtailment rights provide us the flexibility to 
meet the human-needs requirements of our customers on a firm basis. Priority allocations imposed by federal 
and state regulatory agencies, as well as other factors beyond our control, may affect our ability to meet the 
demands of our customers. We anticipate no problems with obtaining additional gas supply as needed for our 
customers. 

We receive gas deliveries for all of our utility divisions, except for our Mid~Tex Division, through 
37 pipeline transportation companies, both interstate and intrastate, to satisfy our natural gas needs. The 
pipeline transportation agreements are firm and many of them have "pipeline no-notice" storage service which 
provides for daily balancing between system requirements and nominated flowing supplies. These agreements 
have been negotiated with the shortest term necessary while still maintaining our right of first refusal. The 
natural gas supply for our Mid-Tex Division is delivered by our Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division. 

The following is a brief description of our seven natural gas utility divisions. Additional information for 
our natural gas utility divisions is presented under the caption "Operating Statistics". 

Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division. Our Colorado-Kansas Division operates in Colorado, Kansas 
and the southwestern corner of Missouri and is regulated by each respective state's public service commission 
with respect to accounting, rates and charges, operating matters and the issuance of securities. We operate 
under terms of non-exclusive franchises granted by the various cities. Rates in our Kansas service area are 
subject to WNA. The principal transporters of the Colorado-Kansas Division's gas supply requirements are 
Colorado Interstate Gas Company, Northwest Pipeline, Public Service Company of Colorado and Southern 
Star Central Pipeline. Additionally, the Colorado-Kansas Division purchases substantial volumes from produc­
ers that are connected directly to its distribution system. 

Atmos Energy Kentucky Division. Our Kentucky Division operates in Kentucky and is regulated by the 
Kentucky Public Service Commission (KPSC), which regulates utility services, rates, issuance of securities 
and other matters. We operate in various incorporated cities pursuant to non-exclusive franchises granted by 
these cities. The sale of natural gas for use as vehicle fuel in Kentucky is unregulated. In February 2006, the 
KPSC approved our request to continue the performance-based ratemaking mechanism for an additional five­
year period. Under the performance-based mechanism, we and our customers jointly share in any actual gas 
cost savings achieved when compared to pre-determined benchmarks. Our rates are also subject to WNA. The 
Kentucky Division's gas supply is delivered primarily by Midwestern Pipeline, Tennessee Gas Pipeline 
Company, Texas Gas Transmission LLC and Trunkline Gas Company. As noted below, this division was 
combined with the Mid-States Division effective October 1, 2006. 

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division. Our Louisiana Division operates in Louisiana and serves the 
metropolitan area of Monroe, the suburban areas of New Orleans and western Louisiana. Our Louisiana 
Division is regulated by the Louisiana Public Service Commission, which regulates utility services, rates and 
other matters. We operate most of our service areas pursuant to a non-exclusive franchise granted by the 
governing authority of each area. Direct sales of natural gas to industrial customers in Louisiana, who use gas 
for fuel or in manufacturing processes, and sales of natural gas for vehicle fuel are exempt from regulation 
and are recognized in our natural gas marketing segment. Effective beginning with the 2006-2007 winter 
heating season, rates in our Louisiana service area will be subject to WNA. The principal transporters of the 
Louisiana Division's gas supply requirements are Acadian Pipeline, Gulf South, Louisiana Intrastate Gas 
Company, Texas Gas Transmission LLC and Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline, Inc., a subsidiary of Atmos 
Pipeline and Storage, LLC. 

Atmos Energy Mid-States Division. Our Mid-States Division operates in Georgia, Illinois, Iowa, 
Missouri, Tennessee and Virginia. In each of these states, our rates, services and operations as a natural gas 
distribution company are subject to general regulation by each state's public service commission. We operate 
in each community, where necessary, under a franchise granted by the municipality for a fixed term of years. 
In Tennessee and Georgia, we have WNA and a performance-based rate program, which provides incentives 
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for us to find ways to lower costs and share the cost savings with our customers. We have WNA in our 
Virginia service area that covers the entire year. Our Mid-States Division is served by 13 interstate pipelines; 
however, the majority of the volumes are transported through Columbia Gulf, East Tennessee Pipeline, 
Southern Natural Gas and Tennessee Gas Pipeline. The Kentucky Division was combined with the Mid-States 
Division effective October I, 2006. 

Atmos Energy Mid- Tex Division. Our Mid-Tex Division includes the natural gas distribution operations 
that operate in the north-central, eastern and western parts of Texas. The Mid-Tex Division purchases, 
distributes and sells natural gas in approximately 550 cities and towns, including the II-county Dallas/ 
Fort Worth metropolitan area. This division currently operates under a system-wide rate structure. The 
governing body of each municipality we serve has original jurisdiction over all utility rates, operations and 
services within its city limits, except with respect to sales of natural gas for vehicle fuel and agricultural use. 
We operate pursuant to non-exclusive franchises granted by the municipalities we serve, which are subject to 
renewal from time to time. The RRC has exclusive appellate jurisdiction over all rate and regulatory orders 
and ordinances of the municipalities and exclusive original jurisdiction over rates and services to customers 
not located within the limits of a municipality. Effective beginning with the 2006-2007 winter heating season, 
rates in our Mid-Tex service area will be subject to WNA. 

Atmos Energy Mississippi Division. Our Atmos Energy Mississippi Division operates in Mississippi and 
is regulated by the Mississippi Public Service Commission (MPSC) with respect to rates, services and 
operations. We operate under non-exclusive franchises granted by the municipalities we serve. Through fiscal 
2005, we operated under a rate structure that allowed us, over a five-year period, to recover a portion of our 
integration costs associated with the MVG acquisition and operations and maintenance costs in excess of an 
agreed-upon benchmark. In addition, we were required to file for rate adjustments based on our expenses every 
six months. Effective October I, 2005, our rate design was modified to substitute the original agreed-upon 
benchmark with a sharing mechanism to allow the sharing of cost savings above an allowed return on equity 
level. Further, beginning October I, 2005, we moved from a semi-annual filing process to an annual filing 
process. We also have WNA in Mississippi. This division's gas supply is delivered primarily by Gulf South 
Pipeline Company, Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company, Southern Natural Gas Company, Texas Eastern 
Transmission, Texas Gas Transmission LLC, Trunkline Gas Co. LLC and Enbridge Marketing LP. 

Atmos Energy West Texas Division. Our West Texas Division operates in Texas in three primary service 
areas: the Amarillo service area, the Lubbock service area and the West Texas service area. Similar to our 
Mid-Tex Division, the governing body of each municipality we serve has original jurisdiction over all utility 
rates, operations and services within its city limits, except with respect to sales of natural gas for vehicle fuel 
and agricultural use. We operate pursuant to non-exclusive franchises granted by the municipalities we serve, 
which are subject to renewal from time to time. The RRC has exclusive appellate jurisdiction over all rate and 
regulatory orders and ordinances of the municipalities and exclusive original jurisdiction over rates and 
services to customers not located within the limits of a municipality. We have WNA in each of our service 
areas. Our West Texas Division receives transportation service from ONEOK Pipeline. In addition, the West 
Texas Division purchases a significant portion of its natural gas supply from Pioneer Natural Resources, which 
is connected directly to our Amarillo, Texas, distribution system. 

Natural Gas Marketing Segment Overview 

Our natural gas marketing and other nonutility segments, which are organized under Atmos Energy 
Holdings, Inc. (AEH), have operations in 22 states. Through September 30, 2003, Atmos Energy Marketing, 
LLC, together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries Woodward Marketing, L.L.C. and Trans Louisiana Industrial 
Gas Company, Inc., comprised our natural gas marketing segment. Effective October 1, 2003, our natural gas 
marketing segment was reorganized. The operations of Atmos Energy Marketing, L.L.C. and Trans Louisiana 
Industrial Gas Company, Inc. were merged into Woodward Marketing, L.L.C., which was renamed Atmos 
Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM). 

We acquired a 45 percent interest in Woodward Marketing, L.L.c. in July 1997 as a result of the merger 
of Atmos Energy and United Cities Gas Company, which had acquired that interest in May 1995. In April 
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200 I, we acquired the remaining 55 percent interest that we did not own for 1,423,193 restricted shares of our 
common stock. 

AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural gas utility systems 
and industrial natural gas consumers primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states and to our Kentucky, 
Louisiana and Mid-States divisions. These services primarily consist of furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed 
and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and 
management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization 
strategies and gas price management through the use of derivative products. We use proprietary and customer­
owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our customers request. As a result, our 
revenues arise from the types of commercial transactions we have structured with our customers and include 
the value we extract by optimizing the storage and transportation capacity we own or control as well as 
revenues for services we deliver. 

We participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to 
minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers. Additionally, we participate in natural gas storage 
transactions in which we seek to capture the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical 
natural gas and then sell financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in a gross profit margin. Through the 
use of transportation and storage services and derivatives, we are able to capture gross profit margin through 
the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over 
time. 

AEM's management of natural gas requirements involves the sale of natural gas and the management of 
storage and transportation supplies under contracts with customers generally having one to two year terms. 
AEM also sells natural gas to some of its industrial customers on a delivered burner tip basis under contract 
terms from 30 days to two years. At September 30, 2006, AEM had a total of 679 industrial, 73 municipal 
and 289 other customers. 

Pipeline and Storage Segment Overview 

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos 
Pipeline - Texas Division and the nonregulated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and 
Storage, LLC (APS). The Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division, 
transports natural gas for third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also 
provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry including parking arrangements, lending and sales 
of inventory on hand. Parking arrangements provide short-term interruptible storage of gas on our pipeline and 
lending services provide short-term interruptible loans of natural gas from our pipeline to meet market 
demands. Both of these services are primarily offered on our Atmos Pipeline - Texas system. These 
operations represent one of the largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the 
established natural gas-producing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major 
producing areas of the Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. Nine basins 
located in Texas are believed to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining onshore natural gas 
reserves. This pipeline system provides access to all of these basins. 

APS owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also use these 
storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer demand 
during peak periods. 

In May 2006, APS announced plans to form a joint venture with a local natural gas producer to construct 
a natural gas gathering system in Eastern Kentucky. Referred to as the Straight Creek Project, the new system 
is expected to relieve severe gas gathering and transportation constraints that historically have burdened natural 
gas producers in the area and should improve delivery reliability to natural gas customers. In October 2006, 
the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (PERC) issued a declaratory order finding that the Straight Creek 
Project will be exempt from PERC jurisdiction. The joint venture provides APS the opportunity to apply its 
expertise to the upstream gathering business. 
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Other Nonutility Segment Overview 

Our other nonutility segment consists primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC (AES), 
and Atmos Power Systems, Inc. which are wholly-owned by our subsidiary, Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. 
Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex 
Division. These services, which began in April 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging 
transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive 
prices in exchange for revenues that are equal to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos 
Power Systems, Inc., we have constructed electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities 
and have entered into agreements to lease these plants. 

Through January 2004, United Cities Propane Gas, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Atmos Energy 
Holdings, Inc., owned an approximate 19 percent membership interest in U.S. Propane L.P. (USP), a joint 
venture formed in February 2000 with other utility companies to own a limited partnership interest in Heritage 
Propane Partners, L.P. (Heritage), a publicly-traded marketer of propane through a nationwide retail distribu­
tion network. During fiscal 2004, we sold our interest in USP and Heritage. As a result of these transactions, 
we no longer have an interest in the propane business. 
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Operating Statistics 

The following tables present certain operating statistics for our utility, natural gas marketing, pipeline and 
storage and other nonutility segments for each of the five fiscal years from 2002 through 2006. 

Utility Sales and Statistical Data 

Year Ended September 30 
2006 2005(1) 2004 2003(1) 2002 

METERS IN SERVICE, end of year 

Residential . 2,886,042 2,862,822 1,506,777 1,498,586 1,247,247 

Commercial . 275,577 274,536 151,381 151,008 122,156 

Industrial . 2,661 2,715 2,436 3,799 2,118 

Agricultural . 8,714 9,639 8,397 9,514 10,576 

Public authority and other . 8,205 8,128 10,145 9,891 7,244 

Total meters . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,181,199 3,157,840 1,679,136 1,672,798 1,389,341 

HEATING DEGREE DAYS(2) 

Actual (weighted average) . 2,527 2,587 3,271 3,473 3,368 

Percent of normal . 87% 89% 96% 101% 94% 
UTILITY SALES VOLUMES - MMc(3) 

Gas Sales Volumes 

Residential . 144,780 162,016 92,208 97,953 77,386 

Commercial . 87,006 92,401 44,226 45,611 35,796 
Industrial . 26,161 29,434 22,330 23,738 14,499 

Agricultural . 5,629 3,348 4,642 7,884 10,988 

Public authority and other . 8,457 9,084 9,813 9,326 5,875
-_...:...-.-

Total gas sales volumes . 272,033 296,283 173,219 184,512 144,544 

Utility transportation volumes . 126,960 122,098 87,746 70,159 69,589-_-'--.-.--

Total utility throughput . 398,993 418,381 260,965 254,671 214,133 
===== 

UTILITY OPERATING REVENUES (000'8)(3) 

Gas Sales Revenues 

Residential $2,068,736 $1,791,172 $ 923,773 $ 873,375 $ 535,981 

Commercial " 1,061,783 869,722 400,704 367,961 221,728 

Industrial. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 276,186 229,649 155,336 151,969 70,164 

Agricultural . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,664 27,889 31,851 48,625 37,951 

Public authority and other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 103,936 86,853 77,178 65,921 31,731 

Total utility gas sales revenues " 3,551,305 3,005,285 1,588,842 1,507,851 897,555 

Transportation revenues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 62,215 59,996 31,714 30,461 28,786 

Other gas revenues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,071 37,859 17,172 15,770 11,185 

Total utility operating revenues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3,650,591 $3,103,140 $1,637,728 $1,554,082 $ 937,526 

Utility average transportation revenue per Mcf . . . . . . . $ 0.49 $ 0.49 $ 0.36 $ 0.43 $ 0.41 

Utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold $ 10.02 $ 7.41 $ 6.55 $ 5.76 $ 3.87 

Employees . 4,402 4,327 2,742 2,817 2,255 

See footnotes following these tables. 
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Utility Sales and Statistical Data By Division 

Year Ended September 30, 2006 

Colorado- Mid- West Total 
Kansas Kentucky Louisiana ~~ Mississippi Mid-Tex Other(4) Utility 

METERS IN SERVICE 

Residential. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 213,566 158,408 330,694 277,998 273,520 241,406 1,390,450 2,886,042 

Commercial. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 21,440 18,228 23,108 36,686 25,984 27,868 122,263 275,577 

Industrial. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 84 240 681 808 643 205 2,661 

Agricultural. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 312 8,402 8,714 

Public authority and other ~~ ~~~ _ 8,205 

Total. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 235,945 178,513 353,802 316,399. 310,880 272,742 1,512,918 3,181,199 

HEATING DEGREE DAYS(2) 

Actual . 5,466 4,349 1,319 3,515 3,561 2,757 1,697 2,527 

Percent of normal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 99% 100% 78% 95% 100% 102% 72% 87% 

SALES VOLUMES - MMc(3
) 

Gas Sales Volumes 

Residential. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,113 9,249 12,131 15,065 15,609 12,601 65,012 144,780 

Commercial. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,901 4,526 6,944 11,328 6,309 6,440 45,558 87,006 

Industrial. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 419 1,830 6,945 3,933 8,250 4,784 26,161 

Agricultural. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 619 5,010 5,629 

Public authority and other ~~ ~~~ _ 8,457 

Total. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 23,442 16,842 19,075 33,564 32,823 30,933 115,354 272,033 

Transportation Volumes. . . . . . . . . . . . 9,680 25,871 ~ 20,654 15,135 ~ 47,608 126,960 

Total Throughput. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 33,122 42,713 25,385 54,218 47,958 32,635 162,962 398,993 

OPERATING MARGIN (000'S)(3) .... $ 71,000 $ 50,271 $ 98,502 $106,742 $ 93,693 $ 92,515 $ 412,334 $ - $ 925,057 
OPERATING EXPENSES (000'S)(3) 

Operation and maintenance $ 28,235 $ 19,874 $ 40,741 $ 38,148 $ 33,332 $ 44,533 $ 154,412 $ (1,756)$ 357,519 

Depreciation and amortization $ 13,578 $ 11,636 $ 21,201 $ 22,172 $ 13,690 $ 10,596 $ 74,375 $ (2,755) $ 164,493 

Taxes, other than income $ 6,663 $ 4,423 $ 8,788 $ 10,867 $ 21,509 $ 14,110 $ 111,844$ -$ 178,204 

Impairment of long-lived assets $ ~ $ - $ - $ ~ $ 22,947 $ - $ - $ - $ 22,947 

OPERATING INCOME (000'S)(3) $ 22,524 $ 14,338 $ 27,772 $ 35,555 $ 2,215 $ 23,276 $ 71,703 $ 4,511 $ 201,894 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (OOO's) .. $ 19,466 $ 16,645 $ 32,218 $ 38,307 $ 27,374 $ 15,389 $ 134,762 $ 23,581 $ 307,742 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT, NET (OOO's) $252,584 $190,959 $328,310 $436,916 $253,086 $226,690 $1,262,516 $132,240 $3,083,301 

OTHER STATISTICS, at year end 

Miles of pipe . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 6,601 3,937 8,214 8,015 14,831 6,415 27,856 75,869 

Employees . 263 220 412 416 341 437 1,458 855 4,402 

See footnotes following these tables. 
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Year Ended September 30, 2005 
Colorado- Mid· West Total 

Kansas Kentucky ~~~ Mississippi Mid·Tex Other(4l Utility 

METERS IN SERVICE 

Residential. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 209,321 159,216 348,576 276,667 267,278 244,136 1,357,628 2,862,822 

Commercial. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 20,914 18,350 23,850 36,519 25,410 28,350 121,143 274,536 

Industrial , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 81 239 684 816 664 231 2,715 

Agricultural , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 279 9,360 9,639 

Public authority and other .. , ~~ _~_~~ 2,797 _ 8,128 

Total. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 231,071 179,455 372,426 314,936 305,003 275,947 1,479,002 3,157,840 

HEATING DEGREE DAYS(2) 

Actual . 5,437 4,241 1,301 3,510 3,536 2,583 1,904 2,587 

Percent of normal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 99% 98% 78% 93% 99% 96% 80% 89% 
SALES VOLUMES - MMc(3) 

Gas Sales Volumes 

Residential. , , , . .. 16,404 10,741 13,134 16,222 19,292 12,985 73,238 162,016 

Commercial '" . . . 5,929 4,891 6,811 1l,806 7,493 6,711 48,760 92,401 

Industrial. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 338 1,858 8,205 4,477 9,057 5,499 29,434 

Agricultural . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 246 3,102 3,348 

Public authority and other ~~ ~ 2,296 ~ __~ 9,084 

Total. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 24,272 18,886 19,945 36,474 36,660 32,549 127,497 296,283 

Transportation Volumes ~ 26,066 7,046 20,142 12,390 ~ 46,757 122,098 

Total Throughput , . . . . . . .. 32,660 44,952 26,991 56,616 49,050 33,858 174,254 418,381 

OPERATING MARGIN (OOO'sP) .... $ 70,542 $ 52,302 $ 94,350 $110,012 $ 90,316 $ 91,610 $ 398,234 $ - $ 907,366 

OPERATING EXPENSES (OOO'sP) 

Operation and maintenance .. , $ 26,679 $ 18,618 $ 37,994 $ 38,427 $ 29,701 ,$ 49,241 $ 146,449 $ (515) $ 346,594 

Depreciation and amortization $ 13,693 $ 11,739 $ 21,911 $ 23,615 $ 13,249 $ 10,830 $ 64,460 $ - $ 159,497 

Taxes, other than income $ 5,013 $ 3,288 $ 9,626 $ 12,283 $ 19,846 $ 12,494 $ 102,360 $ - $ 164,910 

OPERATING INCOME (000'S)(3) $ 25,157 $ 18,657 $ 24,819 $ 35,687 $ 27,520 $ 19,045 $ 84,965 $ 515 $ 236,365 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (OOO's) .. $ 20,690 $ 17,525 $ 31,198 $ 34,176 $ 29,066 $ 15,925 $ 115,024 $ 36,970 $ 300,574 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT, NET (OOO's) $244,250 $183,931 $318,869 $416,825 $263,285 $206,511 $1,167,425 $125,000 $2,926,096 

OTHER STATISTICS, at year end 

Miles of pipe , . 6,530 3,908 8,151 7,958 15,000 6,356 33,701 81,604 
Employees . 267 236 421 412 346 467 1,398 780 4,327 

See footnotes following these tables. 
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Natural Gas Marlwting, Pipeline and Storage and Other Nonutility Operations Sales and Statistical Data 

Year Ended September 30 
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

CUSTOMERS, end of year 
Industrial .................... 746 624 638 644 641 
Municipal .................... 73 69 80 94 101 
Other ....................... 467 401 237 202 117 

Total ...................... 1,286 1,094 955 940 859 

NATURAL GAS MARKETING 
SALES VOLUMES ­ MMc(3) ... 336,516 273,201 265,090 294,785 273,692 

PIPELINE TRANSPORTATION 
VOLUMES - MMcr3

) ........ 590,985 563,949 9,395 11,648 12,788 
OPERATING REVENUES (OOO'S)(3) 

Natural gas marketing ........... $3,156,524 $2,106,278 $1,618,602 $1,668,493 $1,031,874 
Pipeline and storage ............ 160,567 153,289 19,758 20,298 18,720 
Other non utility ................ 5,898 5,302 3,393 2,853 5,985 

Total operating revenues ....... $3,322,989 $2,264,869 $1,641,753 $1,691,644 $1,056,579 

Employees, at year end ............ 230 216 122 88 83 

Notes to preceding tables: 

(1)	 The operational and statistical information includes the operations of the Mississippi Division since the 
December 3, 2002 acquisition date and the Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline - Texas Divisions since the Octo­
ber 1, 2004 acquisition date. 

(2)	 A heating degree day is equivalent to each degree that the average of the high and the low temperatures 
for a day is below 65 degrees. The colder the climate, the greater the number of heating degree days. Heat­
ing degree days are used in the natural gas industry to measure the relative coldness of weather and to 
compare relative temperatures between one geographic area and another. Normal degree days are based on 
30-year average National Weather Service data for selected locations. For service areas that have weather 
normalized operations, normal degree days are used instead of actual degree days in computing the total 
number of heating degree days. 

(3)	 Sales volumes, revenues, operating margins, operating expense and operating income reflect segment oper­
ations, including intercompany sales and transportation amounts. 

(4)	 The Other column represents our utility shared services unit, which provides administrative and other sup­
port to our seven regulated utility divisions. Certain costs incurred by this unit are not allocated to our util­
ity divisions. 

Ratemaking Activity 

Overview 

The method of determining regulated rates varies among the states in which our natural gas utility 
divisions operate. The regulators have the responsibility of ensuring that utilities under their jurisdictions 
operate in the best interests of customers while providing utility companies the opportunity to earn a 
reasonable return on investment. Generally, each regulatory authority reviews our rate request and establishes a 
rate structure intended to generate revenue sufficient to cover our costs of doing business and provide a 
reasonable return on invested capital. 

Rates established by regulatory authorities are adjusted for increases and decreases in our purchased gas 
cost through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. Purchased gas adjustment mechanisms provide gas utility 
companies a method of recovering purchased gas costs on an ongoing basis without filing a rate case to 
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address all of the utility's non-gas costs. These mechanisms are commonly utilized when regulatory authorities 
recognize a particular type of expense, such as purchased gas costs, that (i) is subject to significant price 
fluctuations compared to the utility's other costs, (ii) represents a large component of the utility's cost of 
service and (iii) is generally outside the control of the gas utility. There is no gross profit generated through 
purchased gas adjustments because they provide a dollar-for-dollar offset to increases or decreases in utility 
gas costs. Although substantially all of our utility sales to our customers fluctuate with the cost of gas that we 
purchase, utility gross profit (which is defined as operating revenues less purchased gas cost) is generally not 
affected by fluctuations in the cost of gas due to the purchased gas adjustment mechanism. Additionally, some 
jurisdictions have introduced performance-based ratemaking adjustments to provide incentives to natural gas 
utilities to minimize purchased gas costs through improved storage management and use of financial hedges to 
lock in gas costs. Under the performance-based ratemaking adjustment, purchased gas costs savings are shared 
between the utility and its customers. 

The following table summarizes some information regarding our ratemaking jurisdictions. This informa­
tion is for regulatory purposes only and may not be representative of our actual financial position. 

Jurisdictional Rate Summary 

Effective Authorized Authorized 
Date of Last Rate Base Rate of Return on 

Division Jurisdiction Rate Action (thousands)(l) Return(l) Equity(l) 

Atmos Pipeline - Texas ... Texas 5/24/04 $417,111 8.258% 10.00% 

Colorado-Kansas ......... Colorado 7/1105 84,711 8.95% 11.25% 

Kansas 3/1104 (2) (2) (2) 

Kentucky .............. Kentucky 12121/99 (2) (2) (2) 

Louisiana .............. Trans LA 10/1104 81,645 9.14% 10.50% - 11.50% 

LGS 10/1104 170,358 9.23% 10.88% - 11.50% 

Mid-States ............. Georgia 12/20105 62,380 7.57% 10.13% 

Illinois 1111100 24,564 9.18% 11.56% 

Iowa 3/1101 5,000 (2) 11.00% 

Missouri 10/14/95 (2) 10.58% 12.15% 

Tennessee 11/15/95 111,970 (2) (2) 

Virginia 8/1104 30,672 8.46% - 8.96% 9.50% - 10.50% 

Mid-Tex ............... Texas 5124/04 769,721 8.258% 10.00% 

Mississippi ............. Mississippi 1/1105 196,801 8.23% 9.80% 

West Texas ............. Amarillo 9/l/03 36,844 9.88% 12.00% 

Lubbock 3/1/04 43,300 9.15% 11.25% 

West Texas 5/1104 87,500 8.77% 10.50% 

See footnotes on the following page. 
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Effective Authorized Bad Performance-
Date of Last Debt! Debt Based Rate 

Division Jurisdiction Rate Action Equity Ratio Rider(S) WNA Program(3) 

Atmos Pipeline - Texas ........ Texas 5/24/04 50/50 No N/A N/A 

Colorado-Kansas .............. Colorado 7/1/05 52/48 No No No 

Kansas 3/1/04 (2) Yes Yes No 

Kentucky ................... Kentucky 12/21/99 (2) No Yes Yes 

Louisiana ................... Trans LA 10/1/04 50/50 No (4) No 

LGS 10/1/04 53/47 No (4) No 

Mid-States .................. Georgia 12/20/05 55/45 No Yes Yes 

Illinois 11/1/00 67/33 No No No 

Iowa 3/1/01 57/43 No No No 

Missouri 10/14/95 (2) No No No 

Tennessee 11/15/95 56/44 No Yes Yes 

Virginia 8/1/04 52/48 Yes Yes No 

Mid-Tex .................... Texas 5/24/04 50/50 No (4) No 

Mississippi .................. Mississippi 1/1/05 47/53 No Yes No 

West Texas .................. Amarillo 9/1/03 50/50 Yes Yes No 

Lubbock 3/1/04 50/50 No Yes No 

West Texas 5/1/04 50/50 No Yes No 

(I)	 The rate base and authorized rate of return presented in this table are the rate base and rate of return from 
the last base rate case for each jurisdiction. These rate bases and rates of return are not necessarily indica­
tive of current or future rate bases or rates of return. 

(2)	 A rate base, rate of return, return on equity or debt/equity ratio was not included in the respective state 
commission's final decision. 

(3)	 The performance-based rate program provides incentives to natural gas utilities to minimize purchased gas 
costs by allowing the utility and its customers to share the purchased gas cost savings. 

(4)	 During 2006, our Louisiana and Mid-Tex Divisions received authorization to implement WNA beginning 
in the 2006-2007 winter heating season. 

(5)	 The bad debt rider allows us to recover from ratepayers the gas cost portion of uncollectible accounts. 

Recent Ratemaking Activity 

Our current rate strategy focuses on seeking rate designs that reduce or eliminate regulatory lag and 
separate the recovery of our approved margins from customer usage patterns due to weather-related variability, 
declining use per customer and energy conservation, also known as decoupling. Additionally, we are seeking 
to stratify rates for low income households and to recover the gas cost portion of our bad debt expense. 

Improving rate design is a long-term process. In the interim, we are addressing regulatory lag issues by 
directing discretionary capital spending to jurisdictions that permit us to recover our investment in a timely 
manner and filing rate cases on a more frequent basis to minimize the regulatory lag to keep our actual returns 
more closely aligned with our allowed returns. 
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Approximately 97 percent of our utility revenues in the fiscal years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 
2004 were derived from sales at rates set by or subject to approval by local or state authorities. Net annual 
revenue increases resulting from ratemaking activity totaling $39.0 million, $6.3 million and $16.2 million 
became effective in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 as sununarized below: 

Increase (Decrease) to Revenue Most Recent for the Year Ended September 30 Effective Most Recent 
Division Date Rate Action Jurisdiction 2006 2005 2004 

(In thousands) 

Atmos Pipeline - Texas 8/1/06 GRIP(l) Texas $ 5,205 $1,802 $ 

Colorado-Kansas ........... 4/1/04 Show Cause Colorado (1,900) 

1/1/06 Ad Valorem Tax Kansas 1,565 
3/1/04 Rate Case Kansas 2,500 

Louisiana ................. 2/1/06 Stable Rate Filing(2) LGS 3,326 

1011104 Stable Rate Filing(2) LGS 225 
Mid-States ................ 8/1/04 Rate Case Virginia 372 

12120/05 Rate Case Georgia 409 
Mid-Tex ................. 211106 GRIp(1) Texas 25,313 
Mississippi ........................... (3) Stable Rate Filing(2) Mississippi 4,300 10,545 

1111/05 Rate Restructuring Mississippi (600) 
West Texas ............................. 1211105 GRIp(1) Lubbock 1,263 

311104 Rate Case Lubbock 1,525 

311106 GRIP(I) West Texas 2,539 

511104 Rate Case West Texas 3,200 

$39,020 $6,327 $16,242 

(I)	 In 2003, the Texas Legislature approved the Gas Reliability Infrastructure Program (GRIP) which allows 
natural gas utilities the opportunity to include in their rate base annually approved capital costs incurred in 
the prior calendar year. Natural gas utilities that enter the program will be required to file a complete rate 
case at least once every five years. 

(2)	 A stable rate filing is a regulatory mechanism designed to allow us to refresh our rates on a periodic basis 
without filing a formal rate case. 

(3)	 The MPSC had formerly required that we file for rate adjustments every six months. Through May 2005, 
rate filings were made in May and November of each year and the rate adjustments typically became effec­
tive in June and December. See further discussion under the recent ratemaking activity for our Atmos 
Energy Mississippi Division below. 

Additionally, the following ratemaking efforts were initiated during fiscal 2006 but had not been 
completed as of September 30, 2006: 

Division Rate Action Jurisdiction Revenue Requested 
(In thousands) 

Louisiana .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. Stable Rate Filing(l) LGS $10,753 

Mid-States. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Rate Case Missouri 3,396 
Rate Proceeding(2) Tennessee 3,400 

Mid-Tex . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. System-wide Case Texas 60,844 

$78,393 

(1)	 The Louisiana Division has included the Rate Stabilization Clause increase in rates. The increase is subject 
to refund, pending final resolution of the Stable Rate Filing. 

(2)	 The Tennessee rate proceeding was settled in October 2006. See below for information regarding the 
settlement. 
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Our recent ratemaking activity is discussed in greater detail below. 

Atmos Pipeline-Texas. In April 2006, Atmos Pipeline - Texas made a filing under Texas' Gas Reliabil­
ity Infrastructure Program (GRIP) to include in rate base approximately $21.6 million of pipeline capital 
expenditures incurred during calendar year 2005, which should result in additional annual revenues of 
approximately $3.3 million. The RRC approved this filing in July 2006 and these new charges were included 
in the monthly customer charge beginning in August 2006. 

In September 2005, Atmos Pipeline - Texas made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately 
$10.6 million of pipeline capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004, which resulted in 
approximately $1.9 million in additional annual revenue. In December 2004, Atmos Pipeline - Texas made a 
GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately $12.0 million of pipeline capital expenditures made by TXU 
Gas during calendar year 2003, which resulted in additional annual revenues of approximately $1.8 million. 

Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division. In December 2005, the Colorado-Kansas Division filed its 
second annual ad valorem tax surcharge for $1.6 million. The surcharge is designed to collect Kansas property 
taxes in excess of the amount in the Colorado-Kansas Division's most recent general rate case. We began to 
bill this surcharge in January 2006. 

In July 2004, the Colorado Public Utility Commission ordered us to issue a one-time credit to our 
Colorado customers of $1.9 million. The agreement was a result of an inquiry by the Colorado Office of 
Consumer Counsel related to our earnings in Colorado. The staff of the Colorado Public Utility Commission 
was also a party to the agreement. 

In May 2003, the Colorado-Kansas Division filed a rate case with the Ka"nsas Corporation Commission 
for approximately $7.4 million in additional annual revenues. In January 2004, the Kansas Corporation 
Commission approved an agreement that allowed a $2.5 million increase in our rates effective March 2004. 
Additionally, the agreement allowed us to increase our monthly customer charges from $5 to $8, provided that 
we would not file another full rate application prior to September 2005. WNA became effective in Kansas in 
October 2003 in accordance with the Kansas Corporation Commission's ruling in May 2003. 

Atmos Energy Kentucky Division. In February 2006, the KPSC approved the Company's request to 
continue its Performance Based Ratemaking (PBR) mechanism for an additional five year period. The PBR 
establishes predetermined gas cost benchmarks and provides incentives to the Company for purchasing gas 
supply below those benchmark costs. 

In February 2005, the Attorney General of the State of Kentucky filed a complaint with the Kentucky 
Public Service Commission (KPSC) alleging that our rates were producing revenues in excess of reasonable 
levels. We answered the complaint and filed a Motion to Dismiss with the KPSC. In February 2006, the KPSC 
issued an Order denying our Motion to Dismiss but stated that the Attorney General had not met his burden of 
proof concerning his complaint. In March 2006, the KPSC set a procedural schedule for the case. The 
Attorney General is currently conducting discovery. A hearing should be scheduled for early 2007. We believe 
that the Attorney General will not be able to demonstrate that our present rates are in excess of reasonable 
levels. 

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division. In September 2005, the Louisiana Public Service Commission 
(LPSC) consolidated several then-existing dockets. These dockets included a separate proceeding for the 
renewal of the Rate Stabilization Clause (RSC) for each of the LGS and TransLa Gas service areas; resolution 
of the outstanding 2003 RSC filing for the LGS service area; and our request for approval of a decoupling 
mechanism to stabilize margins in both the LGS and TransLa service areas. 

On May 25, 2006, the LPSC voted to approve a settlement which included a modified WNA providing 
for partial decoupling, renewal of the RSC for both the LGS and TransLa service areas with provisions that 
will reduce regulatory lag and a refund to customers of approximately $0.4 million for the LGS service areas 
that previously had been deferred. The first RSC filing was in August 2006 for approximately $10.8 million, 
based on a test year ended December 31, 2005, for the LGS service area. The increase is subject to refund, 
pending final approval by the LPSC. The first filing for the TransLa service area will be made by 
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December 31, 2006, for the test period ending September 30, 2006, with an effective rate adjustment of 
April 1, 2007. WNA for both service areas will be in effect for an initial three-year period beginning with the 
winter of 2006-2007. In the third quarter of fiscal 2006, $6.2 million in deferred revenue associated with the 
2003 RSC rate adjustment was recognized. 

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck the Gulf Coast, inflicting significant damage to our eastern 
Louisiana operations. The hardest hit areas in our service territory were in Jefferson, St. Tammany, St. Bernard 
and Plaquemines parishes. Although service has been restored for many of our customers, a significant number 
of customers will not require gas service for some time, if ever, because of sustained damages. We began 
implementing new rates, subject to refund, in September 2006 that reflected the reduction of approximately 
26,500 customers and included a request to recover costs attributable to Hurricane Katrina. We cannot 
accurately determine what regulatory actions, if any, may be taken by the regulators with respect to this filing 
or our ability to fully recover all costs incurred as a result of the storm. 

During the second quarter of 2005, the Louisiana Division implemented a rate increase of $3.3 million in 
its LGS service area. This increase resulted from our RSC filing in 2004 and was subject to refund, pending 
the final resolution of that filing. As the rate increase was subject to refund, we did not recognize the effects 
of this increase in our results of operations during fiscal 2005 or the first three quarters of fiscal 2006. 

During fiscal 2004, the Louisiana Public Service Commission approved tariff revisions for our LGS 
service area totaling $0.2 million that became effective in October 2004. 

In October 2002, Atmos received written notification from the Executive Secretary of the LPSC asserting 
that a monthly facilities fee of approximately $0.6 million charged since July 2001 to Atmos by Trans Louisiana 
Gas Pipeline, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Atmos, pursuant to a contract between the parties, was 
excessive. The Executive Secretary asserted that all monthly facilities fees in excess of approximately $0.1 million 
from July 2001 should be refunded to ratepayers with interest. In October 2003, the LPSC unanimously voted to 
approve an agreement to allow us to charge a facilities fee of approximately $0.5 million per month (subject to 
future escalation) beginning November 2003 for a period of 14 years. No retroactive adjustments were required 
under this agreement. 

Atmos Energy Mid-States Division. In April 2006, Atmos filed a rate case in its Missouri service area 
seeking a rate increase of $3.4 million. The Company is proposing to consolidate the rates for its Missouri 
properties into three sets of regional rates and consolidate the current purchased gas adjustment (PGA) into 
one statewide PGA. The Company is also proposing a WNA mechanism. An evidentiary hearing is scheduled 
to begin on November 27, 2006, with an order expected to be issued in February 2007. 

In March 2006, we received notification from the Tennessee Regulatory Authority (TRA) that it disagreed 
with the way we calculated amounts under its performance-based rate mechanism, which resulted in a one­
time $3.3 million income reduction during the second quarter of fiscal 2006. We believe the original 
calculations were correct and have appealed the TRA's decision. 

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, Atmos filed a rate case in its Georgia service area seeking a rate 
increase of $4.0 million. In December 2005, the Georgia Public Service Commission (GPSC) approved a 
$0.4 million increase. In January 2006, we filed an appeal of the GPSC's decision in the Superior Court of 
Fulton County. Oral arguments were held on September 7, 2006 before the Fulton County Superior Court. The 
court affirmed the commission's order. We are considering further appeal. 

In November 2005, we received a notice from the TRA that it was opening an investigation into 
allegations by the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division of the Tennessee Attorney General's Office 
that we were overcharging customers in parts of Tennessee by approximately $10 million per year. We 
responded to numerous data requests from the TRA Staff. In April 2006, the TRA Staff filed a Report and 
Recommendation in which it recommended that the TRA convene a contested case procedure for the purpose 
of establishing a fair and reasonable return. The TRA convened to consider the Staff's recommendation on 
May 15, 2006 and set a procedural schedule. A hearing was held from August 29, 2006 through August 31, 
2006. Of the $10 million rate reduction requested by the Consumer Advocate and Protection Division, the 
TRA approved on October 27, 2006 a $6.1 million reduction to future rates. 
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In February 2004, the Mid-States Division filed a rate case with the Virginia Corporation Commission 
(VCC) to request a $1.0 million increase in our base rates, WNA and recovery of the gas cost component of 
bad debt expense. The VCC granted a rate increase in November 2004 of $0.4 million that was retroactively 
effective to July 27, 2004. Additionally, the VCC authorized WNA beginning in July 2005 and the ability to 
recover the gas cost component of bad debt expense. 

Atmos Energy Mid- Tex Division. The following is a discussion of our recent ratemaking activity for our 
Mid-Tex Division. 

Rate Case 

During fiscal 2006, we received "show cause" resolutions from approximately 80 cities served by our 
Mid-Tex Division, including the City of Dallas, which require us to demonstrate that existing distribution rates 
in the Mid-Tex Division are just and reasonable. In May 2006, in response to these resolutions, we filed a 
Statement of Intent to increase rates on a division-wide basis. By agreement with the cities, the "show cause" 
resolutions were consolidated and became part of the Mid-Tex Division's first rate case before the RRC since 
we acquired the TXU Gas operations in October 2004. In this rate proceeding, we are seeking incremental 
annual revenues in the Mid-Tex Division of approximately $60 million and severai rate design changes, 
including WNA, revenue stabilization and recovery of the gas cost component of bad debt expense. 

In exchange for an agreement to provide the intervening parties in the proceeding additional time to 
prepare for the hearing, we obtained agreement from the intervenors to implement WNA in the rates for the 
Mid-Tex Division for the 2006-2007 winter season, which has been approved by the RRC, and to implement 
WNA in the final rates in this proceeding. The hearing in this proceeding was concluded on November 17, 
2006, and a decision is due from the RRC no later than April 2007. During the hearing, the principal issues 
raised by the cities included the Mid-Tex Division's rate of return, the reduction of rate base for the 
accumulated deferred federal income taxes and investment tax credits associated with the TXU Gas operations 
prior to our acquisition, the methodology used by us to allocate certain shared services expenses to the 
division, and the inclusion of certain items in operation and maintenance expenses. 

In addition, under applicable statutes, the RRC is reviewing the interim rate adjustments that were 
previously granted in response to the Mid-Tex Division's prior GRIP filings and our acquisition of the TXU 
Gas operations for consistency with the public interest. Any increase that the RRC may grant in this case 
would be effective prospectively from the date of the final order. However, any decrease that may be ordered 
by the RRC would be effective from May 31, 2006 pursuant to the agreement with the intervenors for 
consolidation of the show cause resolutions and the Statement of Intent filing. Any disallowance related to the 
previously granted GRIP interim rate adjustments would be refunded to customers with interest beginning 
some time after the issuance of a final order in this proceeding. 

While the decision of the RRC in this case cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that we have 
adequately demonstrated to the RRC that the Mid-Tex Division is entitled to receive an increase in annual 
revenues and that the remaining rate design changes should be implemented. 

GRIP Filings 

In March 2006, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately 
$62.2 million of distribution capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2005, which we estimate would 
result in additional annual revenues of approximately $11.9 million. The RRC approved this filing in August 
2006, and the new customer charges were implemented in September 2006 billings to customers. 

In September 2005, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately 
$29.4 million of distribution capital expenditures incurred during calendar year 2004, which currently provides 
additional annual revenues of approximately $6.7 million. The RRC approved this filing in January 2006, and 
these new charges were included in the monthly customer charge beginning in February 2006. 

In December 2004, the Mid-Tex Division made a GRIP filing to include in rate base approximately 
$32.0 million of distribution capital expenditures made by TXU Gas during calendar year 2003, which 
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currently provides additional annual revenues of approximately $6.7 million. New monthly customer charges 
were implemented in October 2005. 

Other Regulatory Matters 

In September 2006, the Mid~ Tex Division filed its annual gas cost reconciliation with the RRC. The fil.ing 
reflects approximately $24 million in refunds of amounts that were overcollected from customers between July 
2005 and June 2006. The Mid~Tex Division has requested and received approval to refund these amounts over 
a six-month period beginning in November 2006. 

In September 2004, the Mid-Tex Division filed its 36-Month Gas Contract Review with the RRC. This 
proceeding involves a review for reasonableness of gas purchases totaling $2.2 billion made by the Mid-Tex 
Division from November 2000 through October 2003. A hearing on this matter was held before the RRC in 
June 2005. The parties negotiated a unanimous settlement agreement providing for a refund of $8 million to 
customers over a three-year period and for reimbursement of parties' expenses without recovery from 
customers. The RRC approved the settlement on September 12, 2006. Refunds to customers began in the first 
quarter of fiscal year 2007. 

The Mid-Tex Division is also pursuing an appeal to the Travis County District Court of the Final Order 
in its last system-wide rate case completed in May 2004 to obtain a return of and on its investment associated 
with the Poly I replacement pipe that was originally disallowed in its rate case completed in May 2004. The 
case was argued before the Travis County District Court in July 2006. The Court ruled to uphold the 
Commission's final order. Steps are being taken to perfect an appeal to the Court of Appeals in Travis County. 

Atmos Energy Mississippi Division. Through the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the MPSC required that we 
file for rate adjustments every six months. Rate filings were made in May and November of each year and the 
rate adjustments typically became effective in the following July and January. 

During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, we agreed with the MPSC to suspend our May 2005 semi­
annual filing to allow sufficient time for us and the MPSC to undertake a comprehensive review in an effort to 
improve our rate design and the ratemaking process. Effective October 2005, our rate design was modified to 
substitute the original agreed-upon benchmark with a sharing mechanism to allow the sharing of cost savings 
above an allowed return on equity level. Further, we moved from a semi-annual filing process to an annual 
filing process. Additionally, our WNA period begins on November 1 instead of November 15, and ends on 
April 30 instead of May 15. Also, we now have a fixed monthly customer base charge which makes a portion 
of our earnings less susceptible to usage. As part of the rate design restructuring, we agreed to reduce our 
rates by approximately $0.6 million. We made our first annual filing under this new structure in September 
2006 requesting no change in rates. 

In September 2004, the MPSC originally disallowed certain deferred costs totaling $2.8 million. In 
connection with the modification of our rate design described above, the MPSC decided to allow these costs, 
and we included these costs in our rates in October 2005. 

In June 2006, the MPSC approved a pilot program whereby Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline (TLGP) will 
provide asset management services to the Mississippi Division. The asset management program allows TLGP 
to market certain off-peak gas supply assets, such as company-owned or leased storage and pipeline capacity, 
on a recallable basis. In return, TLGP will share net positive benefits of the asset management program with 
Mississippi ratepayers. The pilot program runs from June 1, 2006 to April 30, 2007 and may be extended by 
the MPSC upon application by Atmos. 

In October 2003, the MPSC issued a final order that denied our May 2003 request for a rate increase of 
$5.8 million. In January 2004, the MPSC authorized additional annual revenue of $5.9 million on our 
November 2003 filing, which became effective in December 2003. In September 2004, the MPSC authorized 
additional annualized revenue of $4.7 million on our May 2004 filing, which became effective in June 2004. 

We filed our second semiannual filing for 2004 in November 2004, requesting rate adjustments of 
$6.0 million in annualized revenue. The MPSC allowed us to include $3.0 million in annualized revenue in 
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our rates effective January 2005. In February 2005, we entered into an agreement with the Mississippi Public 
Utilities Staff that provides for an additional $1.3 million in annualized revenue that was retroactive to January 
2005, which was approved by the MPSC during the second quarter of fiscal 2005. 

Atmos Energy West Texas Division. In September 2005, the West Texas Division made a GRIP filing to 
include in rate base approximately $22.6 million of distribution capital costs incurred during calendar year 
2004, which should result in additional annual revenues of approximately $3.8 million. Of this amount, 
approximately $1.3 million related to our Lubbock jurisdiction and the remaining $2.5 million related to our 
West Texas jurisdiction. New charges for the filings were included in the monthly customer charge beginning 
May 2006. Atmos made its 2005 GRIP filings for the West Texas Division and the Lubbock Division in 
September 2006 requesting no change in rates. 

In January 2006, the Lubbock, Texas City Council passed a resolution requiring Atmos to submit copies 
of all documentation necessary for the city to review the rates of Atmos' West Texas Division to ensure they 
are just and reasonable. The requested information was provided to the city on February 28, 2006. We believe 
that we will be able to ultimately demonstrate to the City of Lubbock that our rates are just and reasonable. 

In May 2006, Atmos began receiving "show cause" ordinances from several of the cities in the West 
Texas Division. We made a filing in response to the ordinances on October 2, 2006. We believe that we will 
be able to ultimately demonstrate to the West Texas cities that our rates are just and reasonable. 

In October 2003, our West Texas Division filed a rate case in Lubbock requesting a $3.0 million increase 
in annual revenues and WNA for our residential, commercial and public-authority customers. The City of 
Lubbock approved a $1.5 million increase effective March 2004, as well as the proposed WNA. 

In September 2003, our West Texas Division filed a rate case in its West Texas System to request a 
$7.7 million increase in annual revenues and WNA for its residential, commercial and public-authority 
customers. In May 2004, the 66 cities in its West Texas System approved an increase of $3.2 million in our 
annual utility revenues. The cities also approved a WNA rider for residential, commercial, public-authority and 
state-institution customers. This rider became effective in October 2004. 

Other Regulation 

Each of our utility divisions is regulated by various state or local public utility authorities. We are also 
subject to regulation by the United States Department of Transportation with respect to safety requirements in 
the operation and maintenance of our gas distribution facilities. Our distribution operations are also subject to 
various state and federal laws regulating environmental matters. From time to time we receive inquiries 
regarding various environmental matters. We believe that our properties and operations substantially comply 
with and are operated in substantial conformity with applicable safety and environmental statutes and 
regulations. There are no administrative or judicial proceedings arising under environmental quality statutes 
pending or known to be contemplated by governmental agencies which would have a material adverse effect 
on us or our operations. Our environmental claims have arisen primarily from former manufactured gas plant 
sites in Tennessee, Iowa and Missouri. These claims are fully described in Note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

PERC allows, pursuant to Section 311 of the Natural Gas Policy Act, gas transportation services through 
our Atmos Pipeline ~ Texas assets "on behalf of' interstate pipelines or local distribution companies served 
by interstate pipelines, without subjecting these assets to the jurisdiction of the FERC. 

Competition 

Although our utility operations are not currently in significant direct competition with any other distributors 
of natural gas to residential and commercial customers within our service areas, we do compete with other 
natural gas suppliers and suppliers of alternative fuels for sales to industrial and agricultural customers. We 
compete in all aspects of our business with alternative energy sources, including, in particular, electricity. Electric 
utilities offer electricity as a rival energy source and compete for the space heating, water heating and cooking 
markets. Promotional incentives, improved equipment efficiencies and promotional rates all contribute to the 
acceptability of electrical equipment. The principal means to compete against alternative fuels is lower prices, 
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and natural gas historically has maintained its price advantage in the residential, commercial and industrial 
markets. However, higher gas prices, coupled with the electric utilities' marketing efforts, have increased 
competition for residential and commercial customers. In addition, our Natural Gas Marketing segment competes 
with other natural gas brokers in obtaining natural gas supplies for our customers. 

Employees 

At September 30, 2006, we had 4,632 employees, consisting of 4,402 employees in our utility segment 
and 230 employees in our other segments. See "Operating Statistics - Utility Sales and Statistical Data by 
Division" for the number of employees by division. 

Available Information 

Our Annual Reports on Form lO-K, Quarterly Reports on Form lO-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and 
other reports, and amendments to those reports, that we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) are available free of charge at our website, www.atmosenergy.com. as soon as reasonably 
practicable, after we electronically file these reports with, or furnish these reports to, the SEC. We will also 
provide copies of these reports free of charge upon request to Shareholder Relations at the address appearing 
below: 

Shareholder Relations 
Atmos Energy Corporation 
P.O. Box 650205 
Dallas, Texas 75265-0205 
972-855-3729 

Corporate Governance 

In accordance with and pursuant to relevant provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, related rules 
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission as well as corporate governance-related listing 
standards of the New York Stock Exchange, the Board of Directors of the Company has adopted the 
Company's Corporate Governance Guidelines and revised the Company's Code of Conduct, which is 
applicable to all directors, officers and employees of the Company. In addition, the Board of Directors has 
updated the charters for each of its Audit, Human Resources and Nominating and Corporate Governance 
Committees. All of the foregoing documents are posted on the Corporate Governance page of the Company's 
website. We will also provide copies of such information free of charge upon request to Shareholder Relations 
at the address listed above. 

ITEM IA. Risk Factors 

Our financial and operating results are subject to a number of factors, many of which are not within our 
control. Although we have tried to discuss key risk factors below, please be aware that other risks may prove 
to be important in the future. These factors include the following: 

We are subject to regulation by each state in which we operate that affect our operations and financial 
results. 

Our natural gas utility business is subject to various regulated returns on its rate base in each of the 
12 states in which we operate. We monitor the allowed rates of return and our effectiveness in earning such 
rates and initiate rate proceedings or operating changes as we believe are needed. In addition, in the normal 
course of the regulatory environment, assets may be placed in service and historical test periods established 
before rate cases that could adjust our returns can be filed. Once rate cases are filed, regulatory bodies have 
the authority to suspend implementation of the new rates while studying the cases. Because of this process, we 
must suffer the negative financial effects of having placed assets in service without the benefit of rate relief, 
which is commonly referred to as "regulatory lag". In addition, rate cases involve a risk of rate reduction, and 
once rates have been approved, they are still subject to challenge for their reasonableness by appropriate 
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regulatory authorities. Our debt and equity financings are also subject to approval by regulatory bodies in 
several states which could limit our ability to take advantage of favorable market conditions. 

Our business could also be affected by deregulation initiatives, including the development of unbundling 
initiatives in the natural gas industry. Unbundling is the separation of the provision and pricing of local 
distribution gas services into discrete components. It typically focuses on the separation of the distribution and 
gas supply components and the resulting opening of the regulated components of sales services to alternative 
unregulated suppliers of those services. Although we believe that our enhanced technology and distribution 
system infrastructures have positively positioned us, we cannot provide assurance that there would be no 
significant adverse effect on our business should unbundling or further deregulation of the natural gas 
distribution service business occur. 

Our operations are weather sensitive. 

Our natural gas utility sales volumes and related revenues are correlated with heating requirements that 
result from cold winter weather. Although beginning in the 2006-2007 winter heating season, we will have 
weather-normalized rates for over 90 percent of our residential and commercial meters that should substan­
tially eliminate the adverse effects of warmer-than-normal weather for meters in those service areas, our utility 
operating results wi11 continue to vary with the temperatures during the winter heating season. In addition, 
sustained cold weather could adversely affect our natural gas marketing operations as we may be required to 
purchase gas at spot rates in a rising market to obtain sufficient volumes to fulfill some customer contracts. 

The concentration of our distribution, pipeline and storage operations in the State of Texas have 
increased the exposure of our operations and financial results to adverse weather, economic conditions or 
reguwtory decisions in Texas. 

As a result of our acquisition of the distribution, pipeline and storage operations of TXU Gas in October 
2004, over 50 percent of our natural gas distribution customers and most of our pipeline and storage assets 
and operations are now located in the State of Texas. This concentration of our business in Texas means that 
our operations and financial results are subject to greater impact than before from changes in the Texas 
economy in general as well as the weather in our service areas of the state during the winter heating season. 
Our financial results in fiscal 2006 were adversely affected by warm weather in Texas. In addition, the impact 
of any adverse rate or other regulatory decisions by state or local regulatory authorities in Texas will also be 
greater. The hearing in the Mid-Tex Division's first rate case since the TXU Gas acquisition has just 
concluded. In the proceeding, we are seeking additional revenue and several rate design changes. A rate 
reduction or other significant, adverse decision by the Texas Railroad Commission in the proceeding could 
materially affect our financial results. 

We are subject to environmental regulation which could adversely affect our operations or financial 
results. 

We are subject to laws, regulations and other legal requirements enacted or adopted by federal, state and 
local governmental authorities relating to protection of the environment and health and safety matters, 
including those legal requirements that govern discharges of substances into the air and water, the management 
and disposal of hazardous substances and waste, the clean-up of contaminated sites, groundwater quality and 
availability, plant and wildlife protection, as well as work practices related to employee health and safety. 
Environmental legislation also requires that our facilities, sites and other properties associated with our 
operations be operated, maintained, abandoned and reclaimed to the satisfaction of applicable regulatory 
authorities. Failure to comply with these laws, regulations, permits and licenses may expose us to fines, 
penalties or interruptions in our operations that could be significant to our financial results. In addition, 
existing environmental regulations may be revised or our operations may become subject to new regulations. 
Such revised or new regulations could result in increased compliance costs or additional operating restrictions 
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Our operations are exposed to market risks that are beyond our control which could adversely affect our 
financial results. 

Our risk management operations are subject to market risks beyond our control including market liquidity, 
commodity price volatility and counterparty creditworthiness. 

Although we maintain a risk management policy, we may not be able to completely offset the price risk 
associated with volatile gas prices or the risk in our natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments 
which could lead to volatility in our earnings. Physical trading also introduces price risk on any net open 
positions at the end of each trading day, as well as volatility resulting from intra-day fluctuations of gas prices 
and the potential for daily price movements between the time natural gas is purchased or sold for future 
delivery and the time the related purchase or sale is hedged. Although we manage our business to maintain no 
open positions, there are times when limited net open positions related to our physical storage may occur on a 
short-term basis. The determination of our net open position as of any day requires us to make assumptions as 
to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in relation to our anticipated storage and 
market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open position at the end of each day may 
increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions as part of our daily monitoring 
activities. Net open positions may increase volatility in our financial condition or results of operations if 
market prices move in a significantly favorable or unfavorable manner because the timing of the recognition 
of profits or losses on the hedges for financial accounting purposes does not always match up with the timing 
of the economic profits or losses on the item being hedged. This volatility may occur with a resulting increase 
or decrease in earnings or losses, even though the expected profit margin is essentially unchanged from the 
date the transactions were consummated. Further, if the local physical markets in which we trade do not move 
consistently with the NYMEX futures market, we could experience increased volatility in the financial results 
of our natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments. 

Our natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments manage margins and limit risk exposure on 
the sale of natural gas inventory or the offsetting fixed-price purchase or sale commitments for physical 
quantities of natural gas through the use of a variety of financial derivatives. However, contractual limitations 
could adversely affect our ability to withdraw gas from storage which could cause us to purchase gas at spot 
prices in a rising market to obtain sufficient volumes to fulfill customer contracts. We could also realize 
financial losses on our efforts to limit risk as a result of volatility in the market prices of the underlying 
commodities or if a counterparty fails to perform under a contract. In addition, adverse changes in the 
creditworthiness of our counterparties could limit the level of trading activities with these parties and increase 
the risk that these parties may not perform under a contract. 

We are also subject to interest rate risk on our commercial paper borrowings and floating rate debt. In the 
past few years, we have been operating in a relatively low interest-rate environment with both short and long­
term interest rates being relatively low compared to past interest rates. However, in the past two years, the 
Federal Reserve has taken actions that have resulted in increases in short-term interest rates. Future increases 
in interest rates could adversely affect our future financial results. 

The execution of our business plan could be affected by an inability to access financial markets. 

We rely upon access to both short-term and long-term capital markets to satisfy our liquidity require­
ments. Adverse changes in the economy or these markets, the overall health of the industries in which we 
operate and changes to our credit ratings could limit access to these markets, increase our cost of capital or 
restrict the execution of our business plan. 

OUf long-term debt is currently rated as "investment grade" by Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), 
Moody's Investors Services, Inc. (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Ltd. (Fitch), the three credit rating agencies 
that rate our long-term debt securities. There can be no assurance that these rating agencies will maintain 
investment grade ratings for our long-term debt. If we were to lose our investment-grade rating, the 
commercial paper markets and the commodity derivatives markets could become unavailable to us. This would 
increase our borrowing costs for working capital and reduce the borrowing capacity of our gas marketing 
affiliate. In addition, if our commercial paper ratings were lowered, it would increase the cost of commercial 
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paper financing and could reduce or eliminate our ability to access the commercial paper markets. If we are 
unable to issue commercial paper, we intend to borrow under our bank credit facilities to meet our working 
capital needs. This would increase the cost of our working capital financing. 

Inflation and increased gas costs could adversely impact our customer base and customer collections and 
increase our level of indebtedness. 

Inflation has caused increases in some of our operating expenses and has required assets to be replaced at 
higher costs. We have a process in place to continually review the adequacy of our utility gas rates in relation 
to the increasing cost of providing service and the inherent regulatory lag in adjusting those gas rates. 
Historically, we have been able to budget and control operating expenses and investments within the amounts 
authorized to be collected in rates and intend to continue to do so. However, the ability to control expenses is 
an important factor that could influence future results. 

Rapid increases in the price of purchased gas, which occurred recently and in some prior years, cause us 
to experience a significant increase in short-term debt because we must pay suppliers for gas when it is 
purchased, which can be significantly in advance of when these costs may be recovered through the collection 
of monthly customer bills for gas delivered. Increases in purchased gas costs also slow our utility collection 
efforts as customers are more likely to delay the payment of their gas bills, leading to higher than normal 
accounts receivable. This could result in higher short-term debt levels, greater collection efforts and increased 
bad debt expense. 

Our operations are subject to increased competition. 

In the residential and commercial customer markets, our regulated utility operations compete with other 
energy products, such as electricity and propane. Our primary product competition is with electricity for 
heating, water heating and cooking. Increases in the price of natural gas could negatively impact our 
competitive position by decreasing the price benefits of natural gas to the consumer. This could adversely 
impact our business if as a result, our customer growth slows, resulting in reduced ability to make capital 
expenditures, or if our customers further conserve their use of gas, resulting in reduced gas purchases and 
customer billings. 

In the case of industrial customers, such as manufacturing plants, and agricultural customers, adverse 
economic conditions, including higher gas costs, could cause these customers to use alternative sources of 
energy, such as electricity, or bypass our systems in favor of special competitive contracts with lower per-unit 
costs. Our pipeline and storage operations currently face limited competition from other existing intrastate 
pipelines and gas marketers seeking to provide or arrange transportation, storage and other services for 
customers. However, competition may increase if new intrastate pipelines are constructed near our existing 
facilities. 

The cost ofproviding pension and postretirement health care benefits is subject to changes in pension 
fund values and changing demographics and may have a material adverse effect on our financial results. 

We provide a cash-balance pension plan for the benefit of eligible full-time employees as well as 
postretirement health care benefits to eligible full-time employees. Our costs of providing such benefits is 
subject to changes in the market value of our pension fund assets, changing demographics, including longer 
life expectancy of beneficiaries and an expected increase in the number of eligible former employees over the 
next five to ten years, and various actuarial calculations and assumptions. The actuarial assumptions used may 
differ materially from actual results due to changing market and economic conditions, higher or lower 
withdrawal rates and other factors. These differences may result in a significant impact on the amount of 
pension expense or other postretirement benefit costs recorded in future periods. 
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Our growth in the future may be limited by the nature of our business, which requires extensive capital 
spending. 

We must continually build additional capacity in our natural gas distribution system to maintain the 
growth in the number of our customers. The cost of adding this capacity may be affected by a number of 
factors, including the general state of the economy and weather. Our cash flows from operations are generally 
not sufficient to supply funding for all our capital expenditures including the financing of the costs of this new 
construction along with capital expenditures necessary to maintain our existing natural gas system. As a result, 
we must fund at least a portion of these costs through borrowing funds from third party lenders, the cost of 
which is dependent on the interest rates at the time. This in tum may limit our ability to connect new 
customers to our system due to constraints on the amount of funds we can invest in our infrastructure. 

Distributing and storing natural gas involve risks that may result in accidents and additional operating costs. 

Our natural gas distribution business involves a number of hazards and operating risks that cannot be 
completely avoided, such as leaks, accidents and operational problems, which could cause loss of human life, as 
well as substantial financial losses resulting from property damage, damage to the environment and to our 
operations. We do have liability and property insurance coverage in place for many of these hazards and risks. 
However, because our pipeline, storage and distribution facilities are near or are in populated areas, any loss of 
human life or adverse financial results resulting from such events could be large. If these events were not fully 
covered by insurance, our financial position and results of operations could be adversely affected. 

Natural disasters and terrorist activities and other actions could adversely affect our operations or 
financial results. 

Natural disasters are always a threat to our assets and operations. In addition, the threat of terrorist 
activities could lead to increased economic instability and volatility in the price of natural gas that could affect 
our operations. Also, companies in our industry may face a heightened risk of exposure to actual acts of 
terrorism, which could subject our operations to increased risks. As a result, the availability of insurance 
covering such risks may be more limited, which could increase the risk that an event could adversely affect 
future financial results. 

ITEM lB. Unresolved Staff Comments 

Not applicable. 

ITEM 2. Properties 

Distribution, transmission and related assets 

At September 30, 2006, our utility segment owned an aggregate of 75,869 miles of underground 
distribution and transmission mains throughout our gas distribution systems. These mains are located on 
easements or rights-of-way which generally provide for perpetual use. We maintain our mains through a 
program of continuous inspection and repair and believe that our system of mains is in good condition. At 
September 30, 2006, our pipeline and storage segment owned 6,127 miles of gas transmission and gathering 
lines. 

Our utility segment also holds franchises granted by the incorporated cities and towns that we serve. At 
September 30, 2006, we held 1,103 franchises having terms generally ranging from five to 35 years. A 
significant number of our franchises expire each year, which require renewal prior to the end of their terms. 
We believe that we will be able to renew our franchises as they expire. 
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Storage Assets 

Our utility and pipeline and storage segments own underground gas storage facilities in several states to 
supplement the supply of natural gas in periods of peak demand. The following table summarizes certain 
information regarding our underground gas storage facilities: 

Maximum 
Daily 

Cushion Total Delivery 

State 
Usable Capacity 

(Met) 
Gas 

(Met)(I) 
Capacity 

(Mel) 
Capability 

(Met) 

Utility Segment 

Kentucky ......................... 4,442,696 6,322,283 10,764,979 109,100 

Kansas .................................................... 3,639,000 2,640,000 6,279,000 55,000 

Mississippi ....................................... 1' ....... 1,544,633 2,181,737 3,726,370 48,000 

Georgia .......................... 450,000 50,000 500,000 30,000 

Total Utility Segment .............. 10,076,329 11,194,020 21,270,349 242,100 

Pipeline and Storage Segment 

Texas ................. I .. I ...................... I ...... 39,128,475 13,128,025 52,256,500 1,235,000 

Kentucky ......................... 3,492,900 3,295,000 6,787,900 71,000 

Louisiana......................... 438,583 300,973 739,556 56,000 

Total Pipeline and Storage Segment ... 43,059,958 16,723,998 59,783,956 1,362,000 

Total ............................ 53,136,287 27,918,018 81,054,305 1,604,100 

(l) Cushion gas represents the volume of gas that must be retained in a facility to maintain reservoir pressure. 
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Additionally, we contract for storage service in underground storage facilities on many of the interstate 
pipelines serving us to supplement our proprietary storage capacity. The following table summarizes our 
contracted storage capacity: 

Maximum 
Maximum Daily 

Division/Company Contractor 

Storage 
Quantity 
(MMBtu) 

Withdrawal 
Quantit); 

(MMBtu/1) 

Utility Segment 

Colorado-Kansas Division. . . . . . . . . . .. 

Kentucky Division. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ..
 

Louisiana Division. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ..
 

Mid-States Division. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ..
 

Mississippi Division " 

West Texas Division. . . . . . . . . . . . . . ..
 

Total Utility Segment. 

Southern Star Central Pipeline 

Tenaska Marketing Ventures 

Colorado Interstate Gas Company 

Kinder Morgan, Inc. 

Centerpoint Energy Gas Transmission 

Texas Gas Transmission 

Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company 

Gulf South 

Jefferson Island Storage & Hub 

Acadian Natural Gas Company 

Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company 

Southern Natural Gas Company 

Trunkline Gas Company 

Atmos Energy Marketing 

Southern Natural Gas Company 

Panhandle Eastern Pipeline 

Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company 

Texas Eastern Transmission Company 

Gallagher Drilling Company<2) 

ANR Pipeline Company 

Dominion 

Transco 

Virginia Gas Pipeline Company 

East Tennessee 

Natural Gas Pipeline Company 

Texas Gas Transmission 

CMS Trunkline Gas Company 

MRT Energy Marketing 

Gulf South 

Southern Natural Gas Company 

Texas Gas Transmission 

Texas Eastern 

Atmos Energy Marketing 

Trunkline Gas Company 

Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company 

ONEOK Texas Gas Storage LLP 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

See footnotes on the following page. 
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2,719,101 

1,000,000 

422,142 

67,500 

28,500 

3,841,150 

1,313,538 

1,978,020 

600,000 

33,276 

18,776 

12,945 

3,105 

1,993,543 

1,453,265 

1,035,462 

835,674 

753,969 

640,000 

629,480 

609,008 

568,674 

380,000 

339,900 

312,750 

239,576 

220,455 

137,493 

1,237,500 

1,049,436 

826,390 

518,220 

400,000 

24,840 

3,394 

1,125,000 

27,372,082 

82,397 

10,400 

12,985 

1,500 

950 

41,060 

22,698 

98,901 

60,000 

2,234 

329 

261 

41 

16,634 

29,345 

15,721 

20,000 

11,303 

5,000 

11,200 

8,136 

12,710 

23,000 

52,633 

5,580 

7,495 

2,940 

2,395 

61,875 

21,191 

36,420 

8,637 

40,000 

331 
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50,000 

776,415 



Maximum 
Maximum Daily 

Division/Company Contractor 

Storage 
Quantity 
(MMBtu) 

Withdrawal 
Quantity 

(MMBtu)(I) 

Natural Gas Marketing Segment 

Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC 

Gulf South 5,992,015 85,686 

Egan 1,500,000 90,000 

Atmos Pipeline - Texas 1,000,000 24,000 

Texas Eastern Transmission Company 544,841 5,532 

East Tennessee 250,000 12,500 

National Fuel 223,080 2,028 

Virginia Gas Pipeline Company 170,000 17,000 

Dominion 56,910 929 

Total Natural Gas Marketing Segment . ....	 9,736,846 237,675 

Pipeline and Storage Segment 

Trans Louisiana Gas Pipeline, Inc. . . . . .. Gulf South Pipeline Company 750,000 30,000 

Bridgeline Gas Distribution LLC 300,000 30,000 

Total Pipeline and Storage Segment . 1,050,000 60,000 

Total Contracted Storage Capacity. . . . . . . 38,158,928 1,074,090 

(I)	 Maximum daily withdrawal quantity (MDWQ) amounts will fluctuate depending upon the season and the 
month. Unless otherwise noted, MDWQ amounts represent the MDWQ amounts as of November 1, which 
is the beginning of the winter heating season. 

(2)	 We contract for storage service in two underground storage facilities, Wiseman and Ellis, from this 
company. 

Other facilities 

Our utility segment owns and operates one propane peak shaving plant with a total capacity of 
approximately 180,000 gallons that can produce an equivalent of approximately 3,300 Mcf daily. 

Offices 

Our administrative offices are consolidated in a leased facility in Dallas, Texas. We also maintain field 
offices throughout our distribution system, the majority of which are located in leased facilities. Our nonutility 
operations are headquartered in Houston, Texas, with offices in Houston and other locations, primarily in 
leased facilities. 

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings 

See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. 

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. 
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 

The following table sets forth certain information as of September 30, 2006, regarding the executive 
officers of the Company. It is followed by a brief description of the business experience of each executive 
officer. 

Years of 
~~ ~ s~~ Office Currently Held 

Robert W. Best . . . . . . . . .. 59 9 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 
Kim R. Cocklin. . . . . . . . .. 55 Senior Vice President, Utility Operations 
R. Earl Fischer. . . . . . . . . .. 67 44 Senior Vice President, Utility Operations 

Louis P. Gregory . . . . . . . .. 51 6 Senior Vice President and General Counsel 

Mark H. Johnson. . . . . . . .. 47 5 Senior Vice President, Nonutility Operations and 
President, Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC 

Wynn D. McGregor. . . . . .. 53 18 Senior Vice President, Human Resources 
John ~ Reddy 53 8 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

Robert W. Best was named Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer in March 1997. 

Kim R. Cocklin joined the Company in June 2006 as Senior Vice President, Utility Operations to succeed 
R. Earl Fischer, who retired from the Company on September 30, 2006. Prior to joining the Company, 
Mr. Cocklin served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer of Piedmont 
Natural Gas Company from February 2003 to May 2006. Prior to joining Piedmont, Mr. Cocklin was with 
Williams Gas Pipeline from 1995 to January 2003, where he served in various capacities, including serving as 
Vice President for rates, regulatory and business development for all of the Williams Gas pipelines from 2001 
to January 2003. 

R. Earl Fischer was named Senior Vice President, Utility Operations in May 2000. Mr. Fischer previously 
served the Company as President of the Mid-Tex Division from October 2004 to October 2005. Mr. Fischer 
retired from the Company on September 30, 2006. 

Louis P. Gregory was named Senior Vice President and General Counsel in September 2000. 

Mark H. Johnson was named Senior Vice President, Nonutility Operations in April 2006 and President of 
Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc., and Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC, in April 2005. Mr. Johnson previously 
served the Company as Vice President, Nonutility Operations from October 2005 to March 2006 and as 
Executive Vice President of Atmos Energy Marketing from October 2003 to March 2005. Mr. Johnson joined 
Atmos Energy Marketing's predecessor, Woodward Marketing, L.L.c., in 1992 as Vice President of Marketing 
and Operations and was later promoted to Senior Vice President of Marketing for the Midwest and Gulf Coast. 
Mr. Johnson succeeded JD Woodward III who retired from the Company effective April 1, 2006. 

Wynn D. McGregor was named Senior Vice President, Human Resources in October 2005. He previously 
served the Company as Vice President, Human Resources from January 1994 to September 2005. 

John P. Reddy was named Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in September 2000. 
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PART II 

ITEM 5.	 Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 
Equity Securities 

Our stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol "ATO." The high and low 
sale prices and dividends paid per share of our common stock for fiscal 2006 and 2005 are listed below. The 
high and low prices listed are the closing NYSE quotes for shares of our common stock: 

2006 2005 
Dividends Dividends 

High Low Paid High Low Paid 

Quarter ended: 

December 31 .......... '" I ............. $28.36 $25.79 $.315 $27.43 $24.85 $.310 

March 31 ......................................... 27.00 26.10 .315 29.09 26.19 .310 

June 30 ................................................ 27.91 26.00 .315 28.87 25.94 .310 

September 30 ....................... 29.11 27.96 .315 - ­ 29.76 28.23 .310- ­
$1.26 $1.24 

Dividends are payable at the discretion of our Board of Directors out of legally available funds and are 
also subject to restriction under the terms of our First Mortgage Bond agreement. See Note 6 to the 
consolidated financial statements. The Board of Directors typically declares dividends in the same fiscal 
quarter in which they are paid. The number of record holders of our common stock on October 31, 2006 was 
24,425. Future payments of dividends, and the amounts of these dividends, will depend on our financial 
condition, results of operations, capital requirements and other factors. We sold no securities during fiscal 
2006 that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

The fol1owing table sets forth the number of securities authorized for issuance under our equity 
compensation plans at September 30, 2006. 

Number of Number of Securities Remaining 
Securities to be Issued Weighted-Average Available for Future Issuance 

Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Under Equity Compensation 
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Plans (Excluding Secnrities 
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a» 

(a) (b)	 (c) 

EqUity compensation plans 
approved by security holders: 

Long-Term Incentive Plan . 1,017,152 $22.57 731,745 

Long-Term Stock Plan for the 

Mid-States Division . 168,550 

Total equity compensation plans 
approved by security holders ... 1,017,152 22.57 900,295 

Equity compensation plans not 
approved by security holders . 

Total	 . 1,017,152 $22.57 900,295 
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data 

The following table sets forth selected financial data of the Company and should be read in conjunction 
with the consolidated financial statements included herein. 

Year Ended September 30 
2006(1) 200S(2) 2004(3) 2003(4) 2002 

(In thousands, except per share data and ratios) 

Results of Operations 
Operating revenues ................... $6,152,363 $4,961,873 $2,920,037 $2,799,916 $1,650,964 

Gross profit ........................ 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 534,976 431,140 

Operating expenses( 1) ••••••••••••••••• 833,954 768,982 368,496 347,136 275,809 

Operating income .................... 382,616 348,655 193,695 187,840 155,331 

Miscellaneous income (expense)(3) ....... 881 2,021 9,507 2,191 (1,321) 

Interest charges ..................... 146,607 132,658 65,437 63,660 59,174 

Income before income taxes and 
cumulative effect of accounting change .. 236,890 218,018 137,765 126,371 94,836 

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net 
income tax benefit ................. (7,773) 

Income tax expense .................. 89,153 82,233 51,538 46,910 35,180 

Net income ........................ $ 147,737 $ 135,785 $ 86,227 $ 71,688 $ 59,656 

Weighted average diluted shares 
outstanding ....................... 81,390 79,012 54,416 46,496 41,250 

Diluted net income per share ........... $ 1.82 $ 1.72 $ 1.58 $ 1.54 $ 1.45 

Cash flows from operations ............ 311,449 386,944 270,734 49,541 297,395 

Cash dividends paid per share........... $ 1.26 $ 1.24 $ 1.22 $ 1.20 $ 1.18 

Total utility throughput (MMcf) ......... 393,995 411,134 246,033 247,965 208,541 

Total natural gas marketing sales 
volumes (MMet) .................. 283,962 238,097 222,572 225,961 204,027 

Total pipeline transportation 
volumes (MMct) .................. 420,217 383,377 

Financial Condition 
Net property, plant and equipment(5) ...... $3,629,156 $3,374,367 $1,722,521 $1,624,394 $1,380,070 

Working capital(S) ................... (1,616) 151,675 283,310 16,248 (139,150) 

Total assets(5)(6) ..................... 5,719,547 5,653,527 2,912,627 2,625,495 2,059,631 

Short-term debt, inclusive of current 
maturities of long-term debt .......... 385,602 148,073 5,908 127,940 167,771 

Capitalization: 

Shareholders' equity ................ 1,648,098 1,602,422 1,133,459 857,517 573,235 

Long-term debt (excluding current 
maturities) ..................... 2,180,362 2,183,104 861,311 862,500 668,959 

Total capitalization ................... 3,828,460 3,785,526 1,994,770 1,720,017 1,242,194 

Capital expenditures .................. 425,324 333,183 190,285 159,439 132,252 

Financial Ratios 
Capitalization ratio(6) ................. 39.1% 40.7% 56.7% 46.4% 40.7% 

Return on average shareholders' equity(7) .. 8.9% 9.0% 9.1% 9.9% 9.9% 

See footnotes on the following page. 
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(I)	 Financial results for 2006 include a $22.9 million pre-tax loss for the impairment of the West Texas Divi­
sion's irrigation assets. 

(2)	 Financial results for 2005 include the results of the Mid-Tex Division and Atmos Pipeline - Texas Divi­
sion from October I, 2004, the date of acquisition. 

(3)	 Financial results for 2004 include a $5.9 million pre-tax gain on the sale of our interest in U.S. Propane, 
L.P. and Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. 

(4)	 Financial results for fiscal 2003 include the results of MVG from December 3, 2002, the date of 
acquisition. 

(5)	 Beginning in 2004, we reclassified our regulatory cost of removal obligation from accumulated deprecia­
tion to a liability. The amounts presented above for property, plant and equipment, working capital and 
total assets reflect this reclassification for all periods presented. These reclassifications did not impact our 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows as of and for the years ended September 30, 2003 
and 2002. 

(6)	 The capitalization ratio is calculated by dividing shareholders' equity by the sum of total capitalization 
and short-term debt, inclusive of current maturities of long-term debt. Beginning in 2004 we reclassified 
our original issue discount costs from deferred charges and other assets to long-term debt. This reclassifi­
cation did not materially impact our capitalization or our capitalization ratio as of September 30, 2003 and 
2002. 

(7)	 The return on average shareholders' equity is calculated by dividing current year net income by the aver­
age of shareholders' equity for the previous five quarters. 

The following table presents a condensed income statement by segment for the year ended September 30, 
2006. 

Year Ended September 30, 2006 
Natural Gas Pipeline Other 

Utility Marketing and Storage Nonutility Eliminations Consolidated 
(In thousands) 

Operating revenues from 
external parties ........ $3,649,851 $2,418,856 $ 81,857 $1,799 $ $6,152,363 

Intersegment revenues ..... 740 737,668 78,710 4,099 (821,217) 

3,650,591 3,156,524 160,567 5,898 (821,217) 6,152,363 
Purchased gas cost ....... 2,725,534 3,025,897 838 (816,476) 4,935,793 

Gross profit .......... 925,057 130,627 159,729 5,898 (4,741) 1,216,570 
Operating expenses ....... 723,163 28,392 81,871 5,506 (4,978) 833,954 

Operating income ........ 201,894 102,235 77,858 392 237 382,616 
Miscellaneous income ..... 9,506 2,598 2,554 4,151 (17,928) 881 
Interest charges ......... 126,489 8,510 25,331 3,968 (17,691) 146,607 

Income before income 
taxes ................ 84,911 96,323 55,081 575 236,890 

Income tax expense ...... 31,909 37,757 19,457 30 89,153 

Net income ......... $ 53,002 $ 58,566 $ 35,624 $ 545 $ $ 147,737 

Capital expenditures ...... $ 307,742 $ 909 $116,673 $ $ $ 425,324 
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ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

INTRODUCTION 

This section provides management's discussion of the financial condition, changes in financial condition 
and results of operations of Atmos Energy Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries with specific 
information on results of operations and liquidity and capital resources. It includes management's interpretation 
of our financial results, the factors affecting these results, the major factors expected to affect future operating 
results and future investment and financing plans. This discussion should be read in conjunction with our 
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. 

Our petformance in the future will primarily depend on the results of our utility and nonutility operations. 
Several factors exist that could influence our future financial performance, some of which are described in 
Item IA above, "Risk Factors". They should be considered in connection with evaluating forward-looking 
statements contained in this report or otherwise made by or on behalf of us since these factors could cause 
actual results and conditions to differ materially from those set out in such forward-looking statements. 

Cautionary Statement for the Purposes of the Safe Harbor under the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995 

The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form IO-K may contain "forward-looking statements" 
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 2IE of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Report are forward-looking 
statements made in good faith by us and are intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established 
by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this Report, or any other of our 
documents or oral presentations, the words "anticipate", "believe", "estimate", "expect", "forecast", "goal", 
"intend", "objective", "plan", "projection", "seek", "strategy" or similar words are intended to identify 
forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could 
cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the statements relating to our 
strategy, operations, markets, services, rates, recovery of costs, availability of gas supply and other factors. 
These risks and uncertainties include the following: regulatory trends and decisions, including deregulation 
initiatives and the impact of rate proceedings before various state regulatory commissions; adverse weather 
conditions, such as warmer than normal weather in our utility service territories or colder than normal weather 
that could adversely affect our natural gas marketing activities; the concentration of our distribution, pipeline 
and storage operations in one state; impact of environmental regulations on our business; market risks beyond 
our control affecting our risk management activities including market liquidity, commodity price volatility, 
increasing interest rates and counterparty creditworthiness; our ability to continue to access the capital 
markets; the effects of inflation and changes in the availability and prices of natural gas, including the 
volatility of natural gas prices; increased competition from energy suppliers and alternative forms of energy; 
increased costs of providing pension and postretirement health care benefits; the capital-intensive nature of our 
distribution business, the inherent hazards and risks involved in operating our distribution business, and other 
risks and uncertainties discussed herein, especially in Item lA above, all of which are difficult to predict and 
many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, while we believe these forward-looking statements to be 
reasonable, there can be no assurance that they will approximate actual experience or that the expectations 
derived from them will be realized. Further, we undertake no obligation to update or revise any of our 
forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 

OVERVIEW 

In fiscal 2006, we earned $147.7 million in net income or $1.82 per diluted share, compared with net 
income of $135.8 million, or $1.72 per diluted share in fiscal 2005. The nine percent year-over-year increase 
in net income was primarily attributable strong financial results in our natural gas marketing segment as it was 
able to capture higher margins in a volatile natural gas market and favorable unrealized mark-to-market gains. 
Additionally, pipeline and storage net income increased 16 percent compared with the prior year. These 
positive results helped overcome the adverse effects on our utility segment of weather (adjusted for WNA) that 
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was 13 percent wanner than normal, the adverse effect of Hurricane Katrina on our Louisiana Division and a 
non-recurring, noncash charge to impair certain assets. Our utility operations contributed $53.0 million 
($0.65 per diluted share) or 36 percent to fiscal 2006 results. Our nonutility operations, comprised of our 
natural gas marketing, pipeline and storage and other nonutility segments, contributed $94.7 million ($1.17 per 
diluted share) or 64 percent to fiscal 2006 results. Key financial and other events for fiscal 2006 include the 
following: 

• Our utility segment net income decreased $28.1 million during the year ended September 30, 2006 
compared with the year ended September 30, 2005. The decrease primarily resulted from the impact of 
weather, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized rates, that was two percent wanner than 
the prior-year period and 13 percent wanner than normal, coupled with higher operating expenses. 
Utility segment results also reflect a $14.6 million net of tax charge associated with the impainnent of 
the West Texas Division's irrigation assets. 

• During fiscal 2006, our Louisiana and Mid-Tex divisions received WNA in their rate designs that will 
go into effect in fiscal 2007. After receiving WNA in these two jurisdictions, we will have weather 
protection for over 90 percent of our residential and commercial meters for the 2006-2007 winter 
heating season. 

• Our natural gas marketing segment net income increased $35.2 million during the year ended 
September 30, 2006 compared with the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase in natural gas 
marketing net income primarily reflects an increase in our unrealized margin of $43.2 million and 
increased realized margins due to our ability to capture higher margins in a volatile natural gas market. 
These increases were partially offset by a $7.4 million increase in operating expenses and increased 
interest charges resulting from increased short-term borrowings to fund working capital needs. 

• Our pipeline and storage segment net income increased $5.0 million during the year ended Septem­
ber 30, 2006 compared with the year ended September 30, 2005. Increased gross profit margin resulting 
from higher transportation and related services margins coupled with increased throughput on our 
Atmos Pipeline-Texas system and Atmos Pipeline & Storage, LLC's ability to capture more favorable 
arbitrage spreads in its asset management contracts were partially offset by higher operating expenses. 

• Our capitalization ratio at September 30, 2006 was 60.9 percent compared with 59.3 percent at 
September 30, 2005 reflecting the impact of increased short-tenn debt borrowings to fund working 
capital needs partially offset by current-year net income. 

• For the year ended September 30, 2006,	 we generated $31 1.4 million in operating cash flow compared 
with $386.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2005, reflecting the adverse impact of high 
natural gas costs on our working capital. 

• Capital expenditures increased to $425.3 million from $333.2 million primarily reflecting increased 
capital spending for various pipeline expansion projects in our Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division. 

Our financial perfonnance is discussed in greater detail below in Results of Operations. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States. Preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and 
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the related 
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We based our estimates on historical experience and various 
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate 
our estimates, including those related to risk management and trading activities, allowance for doubtful 
accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and postretirement obligations, 
deferred income taxes and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived 
assets. Our critical accounting policies are reviewed by the Audit Committee quarterly. Actual results may 
differ from estimates. 
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Regulation - Our utility operations are subject to regulation with respect to rates, service, maintenance 
of accounting records and various other matters by the respective regulatory authorities in the states in which 
we operate. Our regulated utility operations are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards (SFAS) 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation. This statement 
requires cost-based, rate-regulated entities that meet certain criteria to reflect the financial effects of the 
ratemaking and accounting practices and policies of the various regulatory commissions in their financial 
statements. We record regulatory assets for costs that have been deferred for which future recovery through 
customer rates is considered probable. Regulatory liabilities are recorded when it is probable that revenues will 
be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. As a result, certain 
costs that would normally be expensed under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States are 
permitted to be capitalized because they can be recovered through rates. Further, regulation may impact the 
period in which revenues or expenses are recognized. The amounts to be recovered or recognized are based 
upon historical experience and our understanding of the regulations. The impact of regulation on our utility 
operations may be affected by decisions of the regulatory authorities or the issuance of new regulations. 

Revenue recognition - Sales of natural gas to our utility customers are billed on a monthly cycle basis; 
however, the billing cycle periods for certain classes of customers do not necessarily coincide with accounting 
periods used for financial reporting purposes. We follow the revenue accrual method of accounting for utility 
segment revenues whereby revenues applicable to gas delivered to customers, but not yet billed under the 
cycle billing method, are estimated and accrued and the related costs are charged to expense. 

On occasion, we are permitted to implement new rates that have not been formally approved by our 
regulators and are subject to refund. As permitted by SFAS No. 71, we recognize this revenue and establish a 
reserve for amounts that could be refunded based on our experience for the jurisdiction in which the rates 
were implemented. 

Rates established by regulatory authorities are adjusted for increases and decreases in our purchased gas 
cost through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. Purchased gas adjustment mechanisms provide gas utility 
companies a method of recovering purchased gas costs on an ongoing basis without filing a rate case to 
address all of the utility'S non-gas costs. These mechanisms are commonly utilized when regulatory authorities 
recognize a particular type of expense, such as purchased gas costs, that (i) is subject to significant price 
fluctuations compared to the utility'S other costs, (ii) represents a large component of the utility'S cost of 
service and (iii) is generally outside the control of the gas utility. There is no gross profit generated through 
purchased gas adjustments, but they do provide a dollar-far-dollar offset to increases or decreases in utility gas 
costs. Although substantially all of our utility sales to our customers fluctuate with the cost of gas that we 
purchase, utility gross profit is generally not affected by fluctuations in the cost of gas due to the purchased 
gas adjustment mechanism. The effects of these purchased gas adjustment mechanisms are recorded as 
deferred gas costs on our balance sheet. 

Energy trading contracts resulting in the delivery of a commodity where we are the principal in the 
transaction are recorded as natural gas marketing sales or purchases at the time of physical delivery. Realized 
gains and losses from the settlement of financial instruments that do not result in physical delivery related to 
our natural gas marketing energy trading contracts and unrealized gains and losses from changes in the market 
value of open contracts are included as a component of natural gas marketing revenues. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts - For the majority of our receivables, we establish an allowance for 
doubtful accounts based on our collections experience. On certain other receivables where we are aware of a 
specific customer's inability or reluctance to pay, we record an allowance for doubtful accounts against 
amounts due to reduce the net receivable balance to the amount we reasonably expect to collect. However, if 
circumstances change, our estimate of the recoverability of accounts receivable could be different. Circum­
stances which could affect our estimates include, but are not limited to, customer credit issues, the level of 
natural gas prices and general economic conditions. Accounts are written off once they are deemed to be 
uncollectible. 

Derivatives and hedging activities - In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage and 
financial derivatives to partially insulate us and our natural gas utility customers against gas price volatility 
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during the winter heating season. The financial derivatives we use in our utility segment are accounted for 
under the mark-to-market method pursuant to SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities. Changes in the valuation of these derivatives primarily result from changes in the valuation of the 
portfolio of contracts, the maturity and settlement of contracts and newly originated transactions. However, 
because the costs of financial derivatives used in our utility segment will ultimately be recovered through our 
rates, current period changes in the assets and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as 
a component of deferred gas costs in accordance with SFAS 71. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to 
our utility segment as a result of the use of financial derivatives. The changes in the assets and liabilities from 
risk management activities are recognized in purchased gas cost in the income statement when the related 
costs are recovered through our rates. 

Our natural gas marketing risk management activities are conducted through our natural gas marketing 
segment. This segment is exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas, which 
we manage through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, over-the-counter and 
exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Option contracts provide the right, but not the 
requirement, to buy or sell the commodity at a fixed price. Swap contracts require receipt of payment for the 
commodity based on the difference between a fixed price and the market price on the settlement date. The use 
of these contracts is subject to our risk management policies, which are monitored for compliance daily. 

We participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to 
minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions 
in which we seek to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase or sell physical 
natural gas and then sell or purchase financial contracts at a price sufficient to cover our carrying costs and 
provide a gross profit margin. Through the use of transportation and storage services and derivatives, we seek 
to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by 
recognizing pricing differences that occur over time. 

Under SFAS 133, natural gas inventory is designated as the hedged item in a fair-value hedge by AEM 
and Atmos Pipeline and Storage LLC. This inventory is marked to market at the end of each month with 
changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains or losses in revenue in the period of change. Effective 
October 2005, we changed the index used to value our physical natural gas from Inside PERC to Gas Daily to 
better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. This change had no material impact on our financial 
position on the date of adoption. Costs to store the gas are recognized in the period the costs are incurred. We 
recognize revenue and the carrying value of the inventory as an associated purchased gas cost in our 
consolidated statement of income when we sell the gas and deliver it out of the storage facility. 

Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory are marked to market each month based upon the 
NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains or losses in the period of change. The 
difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value 
hedges (NYMEX) are reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net 
income. Over time, we expect gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory to be offset by gains and 
losses on the fair-value hedges, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated 
at the time we structured the original transaction. We continually manage our positions and seek to optimize 
value as market conditions and other circumstances change. We elect to exclude the differential between the 
spot price used to value our physical inventory and the forward price used to value the financial hedges 
designated against our physical inventory for purposes of assessing the effectiveness of these fair-value hedges. 

Similar to our inventory position, we attempt to mitigate substantially all of the commodity price risk 
associated with our fixed-price contracts with minimum volume requirements through the use of various 
offsetting derivatives. Prior to April 2004, these derivatives were not designated as hedges under SFAS 133 
because they naturally locked in the economic gross profit margin at the time we entered into the contract. 
The fixed-price forward and offsetting derivative contracts were marked to market each month with changes in 
fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses recorded in revenue in our consolidated statement of 
income. The unrealized gains and losses were realized as a component of revenue in the period in which we 
fulfilled the requirements of the fixed-price contract and the derivatives settled. To the extent that the 
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unrealized gains and losses of the fixed-price forward contracts and the offsetting derivatives did not offset 
exactly, our earnings experienced some volatility. At delivery, the gains and losses on the fixed-price contracts 
were offset by gains and losses on the derivatives, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit 
margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction. 

Effective April 2004, we elected to treat our fixed-price forward contracts as normal purchases and sales. 
As a result, we ceased marking the fixed-price forward contracts to market. We designated the offsetting 
derivative contracts as cash flow hedges of anticipated transactions. As a result of this change, unrealized gains 
and losses on these open derivative contracts have been recorded as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income and are recognized in earnings as a component of revenue when the hedged volumes 
are sold. Hedge ineffectiveness, to the extent incurred, is reported as a component of revenue. 

Additionally, we utilize storage swaps and futures to capture additional storage arbitrage opportunities 
that arise subsequent to the execution of the original fair value hedge associated with our physical natural gas 
inventory, basis swaps to insulate and protect the economic value of our fixed price and storage books and 
various over-the-counter and exchange-traded options. Although the purpose of these instruments is to either 
reduce basis or other risks or lock in arbitrage opportunities, these derivative instruments have not been 
designated as hedges. Accordingly, these derivative instruments are recorded at fair value with all changes in 
fair value included in revenue in our natural gas marketing segment. 

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of 
the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of $875 million of long-term debt. We 
designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. Accordingly, 
unrealized gains and losses associated with the Treasury lock agreements were recorded as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with 
a net $43.8 million payment to the counterparties. This realized loss is being recognized as a component of 
interest expense over the life of the related financing arrangements. 

The fair value of our financial derivatives is determined through a combination of prices actively quoted 
on national exchanges, prices provided by other external sources and prices based on models and other 
valuation methods. Changes in the valuation of our financial derivatives primarily result from changes in 
market prices, the valuation of the portfolio of our contracts, maturity and settlement of these contracts and 
newly originated transactions, each of which directly affect the estimated fair value of our derivatives. We 
believe the market prices and models used to value these derivatives represent the best information available 
with respect to closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying 
the contracts. Values are adjusted to reflect the potential impact of an orderly liquidation of our positions over 
a reasonable period of time under then current market conditions. 

Impairment assessments - We perform impairment assessments of our goodwill, intangible assets subject 
to amortization and long-lived assets. We currently have no indefinite-lived intangible assets. We annually 
evaluate our goodwill balances for impairment during our second fiscal quarter or as impairment indicators 
arise. We use a present value technique based on discounted cash flows to estimate the fair value of our 
reporting units. We have determined our reporting units to be each of our utility divisions and wholly-owned 
subsidiaries. Goodwill is allocated to the reporting units responsible for the acquisition that gave rise to the 
goodwill. 

The discounted cash flow calculations used to assess goodwill impairment are dependent on several 
subjective factors including the timing of future cash flows, future growth rates and the discount rate. An 
impairment charge is recognized if the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its fair value. 

We periodically evaluate whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate that our intangible 
assets subject to amortization and other long-lived assets may not be recoverable or that the remaining useful 
life may warrant revision. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of 
these assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through expected future cash flows. 
These cash flow projections consider various factors such as the timing of the future cash flows and the 
discount rate and are based upon the best information available at the time the estimate is made. Changes in 
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these factors could materially affect the cash flow projections and result in the recognition of an impairment 
charge. An impairment charge is recognized as the difference between the carrying amount and the fair value 
if the sum of the undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the related asset. 

Pension and other postretirement plans - Pension and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities are 
determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and estimates including the market 
value of plan assets, estimates of the expected return on plan assets, assumed discount rates and current 
demographic and actuarial mortality data. We review the estimates and assumptions underlying our pension 
and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities annually based upon a June 30 measurement date. The 
assumed discount rate and the expected return are the assumptions that generally have the most significant 
impact on our pension costs and liabilities. The assumed discount rate, the assumed health care cost trend rate 
and assumed rates of retirement generally have the most significant impact on our postretirement plan costs 
and liabilities. 

The discount rate is utilized principally in calculating the actuarial present value of our pension and 
postretirement obligation and net pension and postretirement cost. When establishing our discount rate, we 
consider high quality corporate bond rates based on Moody's Aa bond index, changes in those rates from the 
prior year and the implied discount rate that is derived from matching our projected benefit disbursements 
with a high quality corporate bond spot rate curve. 

The expected long-term rate of return on assets is utilized in calculating the expected return on plan 
assets component of our annual pension and postretirement plan cost. We estimate the expected return on plan 
assets by evaluating expected bond returns, equity risk premiums, asset allocations, the effects of active plan 
management, the impact of periodic plan asset rebalancing and historical performance. We also consider the 
guidance from our investment advisors in making a final determination of our expected rate of return on 
assets. To the extent the actual rate of return on assets realized over the course of a year is greater than or less 
than the assumed rate, that year's annual pension or postretirement plan cost is not affected. Rather, this gain 
or loss reduces or increases future pension or postretirement plan cost over a period of approximately ten to 
twelve years. 

We estimate the assumed health care cost trend rate used in determining our postretirement net expense 
based upon our actual health care cost experience, the effects of recently enacted legislation and general 
economic conditions. Our assumed rate of retirement is estimated based upon our annual review of our 
participant census information as of the measurement date. 

Actual changes in the fair market value of plan assets and differences between the actual return on plan 
assets and the expected return on plan assets could have a material effect on the amount of pension cost 
ultimately recognized. A 0.25 percent change in our discount rate would impact our pension and postretire­
ment cost by approximately $1.1 million. A 0.25 percent change in our expected rate of return would impact 
our pension and postretirement cost by approximately $0.8 million. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The following table presents our financial highlights for the three fiscal years ended September 30, 2006: 

For the Year Ended September 30 
2006 2005 2004 
(In thousands, unless otherwise noted) 

Operating revenues . $6,152,363 $4,961,873 $2,920,037 
Gross profit . 1,216,570 1,117,637 562,191 

Operating expenses . 833,954 768,982 368,496 

Operating income . 382,616 348,655 193,695 
Miscellaneous income . 881 2,021 9,507 

Interest charges ' . 146,607 132,658 65,437 

Income before income taxes . 236,890 218,018 137,765 

Income tax expense . 89,153 82,233 51,538 

Net income . $ 147,737 $ 135,785 $ 86,227 

Utility sales volumes - MMcf ..................... 272,033 296,283 173,219
 
Utility transportation volumes - MMef .............. 121,962 114,851 72,814
 

Total utility throughput - MMcf ................. 393,995 411,134 246,033
 

Natural gas marketing sales volumes - MMef ......... 283,962 238,097 222,572
 

Pipeline transportation volumes - MMcf ............. 420,217 383,377
 

Heating Degree Days (I) 

Actual (weighted average) ........................................... 2,527 2,587 3,271
 
Percent of normal ............................. 87% 89% 96% 

Consolidated utility average transportation revenue per 
Mef ....................................... $ 0.50 $ 0.51 $ 0.42 

Consolidated utility average cost of gas per Mcf sold .... $ 10.02 $ 7.41 $ 6.55 

(I)	 Adjusted for service areas that have weather normalized operations. For service areas that have weather 
normalized operations, normal degree days are used instead of actual degree days in computing the total 
number of heating degree days. 
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The following table shows our operating income by utility division and by segment for the three fiscal 
years ended September 30, 2006. The presentation of our utility operating income is included for financial 
reporting purposes and may not be appropriate for ratemaking purposes. 

2006 2005	 2004 
Heating Heating	 Heating 

Degree Days Degree Days Degree Days 
Operating Percent of Operating Percent of Operating Percent of 

Income Nonnal(1) Income NormaI(l) Income NormaI(l) 

(In thousands, except degree day information)
 

Colorado-Kansas ............. $ 22,524 99% $ 25,157 99% $ 20,876 99%
 

Kentucky ................... 14,338 100% 18,657 98% 22,738 98%
 

Louisiana .................. 27,772 78% 24,819 78% 40,762 93%
 

Mid-States .................. 35,555 95% 35,687 93% 38,778 95%
 

Mid-Tex ................... 71,703 72% 84,965 80%
 
Mississippi ................. 23,276 102% 19,045 96% 18,709 101%
 

West Texas ................. 2,215 100% 27,520 99% 22,090 90%
 

Other ..................... 4,511 515 (4,063)
 

Utility segment .............. 201,894 87% 236,365 89% 159,890 96% 

Natural gas marketing segment .. 102,235 40,985 27,726 

Pipeline and storage segment .... 77,858 70,286 5,293 

Other nonutility segment ....... 629 1,019 786 

Consolidated operating income .. $382,616 87% $348,655 89% $193,695 96% 

(l)	 Adjusted for service areas that have weather-normalized operations. For service areas that have weather 
normalized operations, normal degree days are used instead of actual degree days in computing the total 
number of heating degree days. 

Year ended September 30, 2006 compared with year ended September 30,2005 

Utility segment 

Our utiJity segment has historically contributed 65 to 85 percent of our consolidated net income. 
However, during fiscal 2006, our utility segment contributed approximately 36 percent of our consolidated net 
income primarily due to the adverse effect of significantly warmer than normal weather, the adverse effect of 
Hurricane Katrina and a non-recurring, noncash charge to recognize the impairment of our irrigation assets. 
The primary factors that impact the results of our utility operations are seasonal weather patterns, competitive 
factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas sales to residential, 
commercial and public-authority customers are affected by winter heating season requirements. This generally 
results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March of each 
year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from April 
through September of each year. Accordingly, our second fiscal quarter has historically been our most critical 
earnings quarter with an average of approximately 64 percent of our cOQsolidated net income having been 
earned in the second quarter during the three most recently completed fiscal years. Additionally, we typically 
experience higher levels of accounts receivable, accounts payable, gas stored underground and short-term debt 
balances during the winter heating season due to the seasonal nature of our revenues and the need to purchase 
and store gas to support these operations. Utility sales to industrial customers are much less weather sensitive. 

Changes in the cost of gas impact revenue but do not directly affect our gross profit from utility 
operations because the fluctuations in gas prices are passed through to our customers. Accordingly, we believe 
gross profit margin is a better indicator of our financial performance than revenues. However, higher gas costs 
may cause customers to conserve or, in the case of industrial customers, to use alternative energy sources. 
Higher gas costs may also adversely impact our accounts receivable collections, resulting in higher bad debt 
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expense, and may require us to increase borrowings under our credit facilities resulting in higher interest 
expense. 

The effects of weather that is above or below normal are substantially offset through weather normaliza­
tion adjustments in most of our service areas. WNA allows us to increase the base rate portion of customers' 
bills when weather is warmer than normal and decrease the base rate when weather is colder than normal. 
Accordingly, in our WNA service areas, our gross profit margin should be based substantially on the amount 
of gross profit that would result from normal weather, despite actual weather conditions that may be either 
warmer or colder than normal. 

During fiscal 2006, we received WNA in our two most weather sensitive jurisdictions: the Louisiana and 
Mid-Tex divisions. With the addition of WNA in these two jurisdictions, we will have weather protection for 
over 90 percent of our residential and commercial meters for the 2006-2007 winter heating season. Prior to 
these decisions, there was limited weather protection in these jurisdictions. The Louisiana Division had 
previously benefited from a higher base customer charge. However, this rate structure was not as beneficial 
during periods where weather was significantly warmer than normal. In May 2006, the LPSC approved a 
settlement that provided for a modified WNA which provides a partial decoupling mechanism to stabilize this 
jurisdiction's margins. The approved WNA will cover a period from December to March. 

Prior to October 1, 2006, the Mid-Tex Division, which is our largest utility division and contains almost 
50 percent of our approximately 3.2 million distribution customers, had benefited from a rate structure that 
combined a monthly customer charge with a declining block rate schedule to partially mitigate the impact of 
warmer-than-normal weather on revenue. The combination of the monthly customer charge and the customer 
billing under the first block of the declining block rate schedule provided for the recovery of a significant 
portion of our fixed costs for such operations under average weather conditions. However, this rate structure 
was not as beneficial during periods where weather was significantly warmer than normal. 

In July 2006, in connection with the Mid-Tex Division rate proceeding the RRC approved an interim and 
a permanent WNA effective October I, 2006 for the Mid-Tex Division. The WNA covers the period from 
October through May. The interim WNA is based on 30 years of weather history, and the permanent WNA 
will be modified or adjusted to conform to the rate design that the RRC ultimately approves in the rate 
proceeding, which proceeding is described in greater detail under Recent Ratemaking Activity. 

In the pending rate proceeding before the RRC, we are seeking for our Mid-Tex Division additional 
annual revenues of approximately $60 million and several rate design changes including revenue stabilization 
and recovery of the gas cost component of bad debt expense. While the outcome of the Mid-Tex Division's 
pending rate proceeding before the RRC cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe that we have 
adequately demonstrated to the RRC that the Mid-Tex Division is entitled to receive an increase in annual 
revenues and that the remaining rate design changes should be implemented. However, if the RRC were to 
deny an increase in the Mid-Tex Division's rates or not allow new rate design changes the Mid-Tex Division 
has requested, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected in the 
future. 

Operating income 

Utility gross profit increased to $925.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 from $907.4 million 
for the year ended September 30, 2005. Total throughput for our utility business was 394.0 Bcf during the 
current year compared to 411.1 Bcf in the prior year. 

The increase in utility gross profit, despite lower throughput, primarily reflects higher franchise fees and 
state gross receipts taxes, which are paid by utility customers and have no permanent effect on net income. 
Additionally, margins increased approximately $14.0 million due to rate increases received from our fiscal 
2005 and fiscal 2004 GRIP filings and the recognition of $6.2 million that had been previously deferred in 
Louisiana following the LPSC's ratification of our agreement in May 2006. These increases were partially 
offset by approximately $22.9 million due to the impact of significantly warmer than normal weather, 
particularly in our Mid-Tex and Louisiana divisions. For the year ended September 30, 2006, weather was 
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13 percent warmer than normal, as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized operations and two 
percent warmer than the prior year. In the Mid-Tex and Louisiana Divisions, which did not have weather­
normalized rates during the 2005-2006 winter heating season, weather was 28 percent and 22 percent warmer 
than normal. 

Additionally, utility gross profit decreased approximately $2.9 million compared with the prior year in the 
Louisiana Division due to the impact of Hurricane Katrina. Service has been restored in some areas affected 
by the storm; however, it is not likely that service will be restored to all of the affected service areas. As more 
fully described under Recent Ratemaking Activity, we implemented new rates in September 2006 that reflect 
the impact of Hurricane Katrina. 

Operating expenses increased to $723.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 from $671.0 mil­
lion for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase reflects a $13.3 million increase in taxes, primarily 
related to franchise fees and state gross receipts taxes, both of which are calculated as a percentage of revenue, 
and are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts are included as 
a component of revenue in accordance with our tariffs, timing differences between when these amounts are 
billed to our customers and when we recognize the associated expense may affect net income favorably or 
unfavorably on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net income. 

Operation and maintenance expense, excluding the provision for doubtful accounts, increased $7.8 million 
primarily due to higher employee costs associated with increased headcount to fill positions that were 
previously outsourced to a third party, higher medical and dental claims and increased pension and 
postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to determine our fiscal 2006 costs. 
Increased line locate, telecommunication and facilities costs also contributed to the overall increase. These 
increases were partially offset by a reduction in third-party costs for outsourced administrative and meter 
reading functions that were in-sourced during fiscal 2006. Operation and maintenance expense for the year 
ended September 30, 2006 was also favorably impacted by the absence of $2.1 million of merger and 
integration cost amortization associated with the merger of United Cities Gas Company in July 1997, as these 
costs were fully amortized by December 2004. 

The provision for doubtful accounts increased $3.1 million to $20.6 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2006, compared with $17.5 million in the prior year. The increase was primarily attributable to 
increased collection risk associated with higher natural gas prices. In the utility segment, the average cost of 
natural gas for the year ended September 30, 2006 was $10.02 per Mcf, compared with $7 Al per Mcf for the 
year ended September 30,2005. 

Additionally, during the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the MPSC, in connection with the modification of our 
rate design described in Recent Ratemaking Activity, decided to allow the recovery of $2.8 million in deferred 
costs, which it had originally disallowed in its September 2004 decision. This charge was originally recorded 
in fiscal 2004. This ruling decreased our depreciation expense during the year ended September 30, 2006. This 
decrease was offset by increased depreciation expense associated with the placement of various capital projects 
into service during the fiscal year. 

Operating expenses were also impacted by $22.9 million noncash charge to impair our West Texas 
Division's irrigation assets. During the fiscal 2006 fourth quarter, we determined that, as a result of declining 
irrigation sales primarily associated with our agricultural customers' shift from gas-powered pumps to electric 
pumps, the West Texas Division's irrigation assets would not be able to generate sufficient future cash flows 
from operations to recover the net investment in these assets. Therefore, the entire net book value was written 
off. We will continue to operate these assets until we determine a plan for these assets as we are obligated to 
provide natural gas services to certain customers served by these assets. 

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the year ended 
September 30, 2006 decreased to $201.9 million from $23604 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. 
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Miscellaneous income 

Miscellaneous income for the year ended September 30, 2006 was $9.5 million compared to miscella­
neous income of $6.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. This increase was primarily attributable 
to increased interest income on intercompany borrowings to our natural gas marketing segment to fund its 
working capital needs. This increase was partially offset by a $3.3 million charge recorded during the fiscal 
2006 second quarter associated with an adverse ruling in Tennessee related to the calculation of a 
performance-based rate mechanism associated with gas purchases. 

Interest charges 

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the year ended September 30, 2006 increased to 
$126.5 million from $112.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase was attributable to 
higher average outstanding short-term debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher prices 
coupled with an approximate 200 basis point increase in the interest rate on our $300 million unsecured 
floating rate Senior Notes due 2007 due to an increase in the three-month LIBOR rate. These increases were 
partially offset by $4.8 million of interest savings arising from the early payoff of $72.5 million of our First 
Mortgage Bonds in June 2005. 

Natural gas marketing segment 

Our natural gas marketing segment aggregates and purchases gas supply, arranges transportation and/or 
storage logistics and ultimately delivers gas to our customers at competitive prices. To facilitate this process, 
we utilize proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide the various services our 
customers request, including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract 
negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas storage acquisition and management services, transporta­
tion services, peaking sales and balancing services, capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging 
through the use of derivative products. As a result, our revenues arise from the types of commercial 
transactions we have structured with our customers and include the value we extract by optimizing the storage 
and transportation capacity we own or control as well as revenues for services we deliver. 

To optimize the storage and transportation capacity we own or control, we participate in transactions in 
which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to minimize our costs incurred to serve 
our customers by identifying the lowest cost alternative within the natural gas supplies, transportation and 
markets to which we have access. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions in which we 
seek to find and profit from the pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical natural gas and 
then sell financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in gross profit margins. Through the use of 
transportation and storage services and derivative contracts, we seek to capture gross profit margin through the 
arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over 
time. 

Operating income 

Gross profit margin for our natural gas marketing segment consists primarily of marketing activities, 
which represent the utilization of proprietary and customer-owned transportation and storage assets to provide 
the various services our customers request, and storage activities, which are derived from the optimization of 
our managed proprietary and third party storage and transportation assets. 
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Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the year 
ended September 30, 2006 and 2005: 

Year Ended September 30
 
2006 2005
 

(In thousands, except
 
physical position) 

Storage Activities 

Realized margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 26,225 $ 28,008 

Unrealized margin . (1,293) (14,007) 

Total Storage Activities . 24,932 14,001 

Marketing Activities 

Realized margin . 87,236 59,971 

Unrealized margin . 18,459 (I 1,999) 

Total Marketing Activities . 105,695 47,972 

Gross profit . $130,627 $ 61,973 

Net physical position (Bcf) . 14.5 6.9 

OUf natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was $130.6 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2006 compared to gross profit of $62.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Gross 
profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the year ended September 30, 2006 included an 
unrealized gain of $17.2 million compared with an unrealized loss of $26.0 million in the prior year. Natural 
gas marketing sales volumes were 336.5 Bcf during the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with 
273.2 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 
284.0 Bcf during the current year compared with 238.1 Bcf in the prior year. The increase in consolidated 
natural gas marketing sales volumes was primarily due to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin 
opportunities partially offset by warmer-than-normal weather across our market areas. 

Our storage activities generated $24.9 million in gross profit margin for the year ended September 30, 
2006 compared to $14.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Lower realized margins in our storage 
operations were primarily due to the realization of less favorable arbitrage spreads compared with the prior 
year coupled with increased storage fees. These decreases were partially offset by a decrease in the unrealized 
loss associated with these operations due to a favorable movement during the year ended September 30, 2006 
in the forward natural gas prices used to val ue the financial hedges designated against our physical inventory 
and our fixed-price forward contracts. These decreases were also favorably impacted by positive basis 
ineffectiveness resulting from natural gas market price differences between the locations of the hedged 
inventory and the delivery location specified in the derivative instruments designated as a fair value hedge. 
These results were magnified by a 7.6 Bcf increase in our net physical position at September 30, 2006 
compared to the prior year. We continually seek opportunities to increase the amount of our storage capacity. 
To the extent we obtain and utilize new capacity and experience price volatility, the amount of our unrealized 
storage contribution could increase in future periods. 

Our marketing activities generated $105.7 million in gross profit margin for the year ended September 30, 
2006 compared with $48.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. This increase reflects increased 
realized margins coupled with a favorable unrealized margin variance compared with the prior year. The 
increase in our realized marketing operations was primarily attributable to successfully capturing increased 
margins in certain market areas that experienced higher market volatility. The favorable unrealized margin 
variance was primarily due to favorable movement during the year ended September 30, 2006 in the forward 
natural gas prices associated with financial derivatives used in these activities and positive basis ineffectiveness 
on those financial derivatives. 

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, 
depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to $28.4 million for the 
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year ended September 30, 2006 from $21.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase in 
operating expense primarily was attributable to an increase in personnel costs due to increased headcount and 
an increase in regulatory compliance costs. 

The improved gross profit margin partially offset by higher operating expenses resulted in an increase in 
our natural gas marketing segment operating income to $102.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 
compared with operating income of $41.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. 

Interest charges 

Interest charges allocated to the natural gas marketing segment for the year ended September 30, 2006 
increased to $8.5 million from $3.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increase was 
attributable to higher average outstanding debt balances to fund natural gas purchases at significantly higher 
prices. 

Pipeline and storage segment 

Our pipeline and storage segment consists of the regulated pipeline and storage operations of the Atmos 
Pipeline - Texas Division and the nonregu1ated pipeline and storage operations of Atmos Pipeline and 
Storage, LLC (APS), which were previously included in our other nonutility segment. The Atmos Pipeline­
Texas Division transports natural gas to our Mid-Tex Division and for third parties and manages five 
underground storage reservoirs in Texas. We also provide ancillary services customary in the pipeline industry 
including parking arrangements, lending and sales of inventory on hand. These operations represent one of the 
largest intrastate pipeline operations in Texas with a heavy concentration in the established natural gas­
producing areas of central, northern and eastern Texas, extending into or near the major producing areas of the 
Texas Gulf Coast and the Delaware and Val Verde Basins of West Texas. This pipeline system provides access 
to nine basins located in Texas, which are estimated to contain a substantial portion of the nation's remaining 
onshore natural gas reserves. APS owns or has an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and 
Louisiana. We also use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to 
meet customer demand during peak periods. 

Similar to our utility segment, our pipeline and storage segment is impacted by seasonal weather patterns, 
competitive factors in the energy industry and economic conditions in our service areas. Natural gas 
transportation requirements are affected by the winter heating season requirements of our customers. This 
generally results in higher operating revenues and net income during the period from October through March 
of each year and lower operating revenues and either lower net income or net losses during the period from 
April through September of each year. Further, as the Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division operations supply all 
of the natural gas for our Mid-Tex Division, the results of this segment are highly dependent upon the natural 
gas requirements of the Mid-Tex Division. As a regulated pipeline, the operations of the Atmos Pipeline­
Texas Division may be impacted by the timing of when costs and expenses are incurred and when these costs 
and expenses are recovered through its tariffs. 
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Operating income 

Gross profit margin for our pipeline and storage segment primarily consists of transportation margins 
earned from our Mid-Tex Division and from third parties, other ancillary pipeline services and asset 
management fees earned by APS. Our pipeline and storage segment's gross profit margin was comprised of 
the following components for the year ended September 30,2006 and 2005: 

Year Ended September 30
 
2006 2005
 

(In thousands)
 

Mid-Tex transportation . $ 69,925 $ 70,089 

Third party transportation . 58,490 55,376 

Asset management fees . 10,333 8,559 

Storage and park and lend services . 11,297 7,451 

Unrealized gains (losses) . 3,350 (4,730) 

Other . 6,334 9,733 

Gross profit. . $159,729 $146,478 

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to $159.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 from 
$146.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 591.0 Bcf 
during the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with 563.9 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intersegment 
transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 420.2 Bcf during the current year compared 
with 383.4 Bcf in the prior year. 

The increase in gross profit was primarily attributable to increased third-party throughput and ancil1ary 
services, coupled with increased margins on APS' asset management contracts. Increased third-party through­
put on Atmos Pipeline - Texas was primarily attributable to increases in the electric-generation market due to 
the warmer than normal temperatures during the summer of 2006, increased demand for through-system 
transportation services due to a widening of pricing differentials between the pipeline's hubs and the impact of 
Atmos Pipeline - Texas' North Side Loop and other compression projects that were placed into service in 
June 2006. Storage and parking and lending services on Atmos Pipeline - Texas also increased during fiscal 
2006 as a result of the widening of pricing differentials between the pipeline's hubs, which increased the 
attractiveness of storing gas on the pipeline and our ability to obtain improved margins for these services. The 
increases on Atmos Pipeline - Texas' system were partially offset by a decrease in margins earned from 
intercompany transportation services to our Mid-Tex Division due to the significantly warmer than normal 
weather experienced during fiscal 2006. Additional1y, these increases were partially offset by the absence of 
inventory sales of $3.0 million realized in the prior year. 

Increases in APS' margins due to its ability to capture more favorable arbitrage spreads on its asset 
management contracts also contributed to this segment's improved gross profit margin. These improved 
margins reflect an unrealized component as APS hedges its risk associated with these contracts. During fiscal 
2006, favorable movements in the forward natural gas prices used to value the financial hedges designated 
against the physical inventory underlying these contracts resulted in an unrealized gain compared with an 
unrealized loss in the prior year. 

Operating expenses increased to $81.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 from $76.2 million 
for the year ended September 30, 2005 due to higher employee benefit costs associated with the increase in 
headcount, increased pension and postretirement costs resulting from changes in the assumptions used to 
determine our fiscal 2006 costs, higher facilities costs and higher pipeline integrity costs. 

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the year 
ended September 30, 2006 increased to $77.9 million from $70.3 million for the year ended September 30, 
2005. 
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Other nonutility segment 

Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services, LLC, and 
Atmos Power Systems, Inc. Through AES, we provide natural gas management services to our utility 
operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services, which began April 2004, include aggregating and 
purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our 
utility service areas at competitive prices. The revenues of AES represent charges to our utility divisions equal 
to the costs incurred to provide those services. Through Atmos Power Systems, Inc., we have constructed 
electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and have entered into agreements to lease 
these plants. 

Operating income for this segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with two sales-type 
lease transactions completed in 2001 and 2002 and was essentially unchanged for the year ended September 30, 
2006 compared with the prior year. 

Year ended September 30, 2005 compared with year ended September 30,2004 

Utility segment 

Operating income 

Utility gross profit increased to $907.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from $503.1 million 
for the year ended September 30, 2004. Total throughput for our utility business was 411.1 Bcf during the 
current year compared to 246.0 Bet in the prior year. 

The increase in utility gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of the Mid-Tex 
Division resulting in an increase in utility gross profit margin and total throughput of $398.2 million and 
174.3 Bcf. The $6.1 million increase in the gross profit generated from our other utility operations primarily 
reflects rate increases in our Mississippi and West Texas divisions that were absent in the prior year coupled 
with the recognition of a $1.9 million refund to our customers in our Colorado service area in the prior year. 
Offsetting these increases was a $3.9 million reduction in gross profit in our Louisiana Division due to the 
impact of Hurricane Katrina. Gross profit margins, particularly in Louisiana, were also adversely impacted by 
weather (as adjusted for jurisdictions with weather-normalized operations) that was five percent warmer than 
normal and one percent warmer than the prior year period. Additionally, gross profit margin was adversely 
impacted by the lack of cold weather in patterns sufficient to encourage customers to increase their heat load 
consumption and lower irrigation throughput in our West Texas and Colorado-Kansas Divisions. 

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, 
depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to $671.0 million for the 
year ended September 30, 2005 from $343.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2004 primarily as a 
result of the addition of the Mid-Tex Division. Excluding the impact of the Mid-Tex Division, operating 
expenses for our other utility operations increased $14.5 million primarily due to $2.3 million associated with 
the effects of Hurricane Katrina, a $7.7 million increase in taxes, other than income, a $2.4 million increase in 
operation and maintenance expense, including the provision for doubtful accounts, and a $2.1 million increase 
in depreciation and amortization. Included in taxes other than income taxes are franchise and state gross 
receipts taxes which are paid by our customers as a component of their monthly bills. Although these amounts 
are offset in revenues through customer billings, timing differences between when the expense is incurred and 
is recovered may impact our net income on a temporary basis. However, there is no permanent effect on net 
income. 

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our utility segment operating income for the year ended 
September 30, 2005 increased to $236.4 million from $159.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. 

Miscellaneous income 

Miscellaneous income increased to $6.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from $5.8 million 
for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to an increase in interest income earned 
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on higher cash balances during the current year compared with the prior year partially offset by the recognition 
of a $0.8 million gain on the sale of a building during the year ended September 30, 2004. 

Interest charges 

Interest charges allocated to the utility segment for the year ended September 30, 2005 increased to 
$112.4 million from $65.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to the 
interest expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Mid-Tex 
Division in October 2004. On June 30, 2005, we repaid $72.5 million in principal on five series of our First 
Mortgage Bonds prior to their scheduled maturities. The early repayment of these bonds resulted in savings of 
$1.3 million in interest expense in fiscal 2005. 

Natural gas marketing segment 

Operating income 

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was comprised of the following for the years 
ended September 30, 2005 and 2004: 

Year Ended 
September 30 

2005 2004 
(In thousands, except 

physical position) 

Storage Activities 

Realized margin . $ 28,008 $ (1,900) 

Unrealized margin . (14,007) 357 

Total Storage Activities . 14,001 (1,543) 

Marketing Activities 

Realized margin. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59,971 51,347 

Unrealized margin . (11,999) (3,173) 

Total Marketing Activities . 47,972 48,174 

Gross profit . $ 61,973 $46,631 

Net physical position (Bcf) . 6.9 5.4 

Our natural gas marketing segment's gross profit margin was $62.0 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2005 compared to gross profit of $46.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. Gross 
profit margin from our natural gas marketing segment for the year ended September 30, 2005 included an 
unrealized loss of $26.0 million compared with an unrealized loss of $2.8 million in the prior year. Natural 
gas marketing sales volumes were 273.2 Bcf during the year ended September 30, 2005 compared with 
265.1 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intersegment sales volumes, natural gas marketing sales volumes were 
238.1 Bcf during the current year compared with 222.6 Bcf in the prior year. The increase in consolidated 
natural gas marketing sales volumes primarily was attributable to successfully executed marketing strategies 
into new market areas. 

The contribution to gross profit from our storage activities was a gain of $14.0 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2005 compared to a loss of $1.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The 
$15.5 million improvement primarily was attributable to a $29.9 million increase in the realized storage 
contribution for the year ended September 30, 2005 compared to the prior year due to more favorable arbitrage 
spread opportunities during the current year, partially offset by increased storage fees associated with 9.0 Bcf 
of newly contracted storage capacity during the third quarter of fiscal 2005. Annual demand charges for this 
new storage approximate $7.6 million. We may further increase the amount of our storage capacity in the 
future; therefore, the impact of price volatility on our unrealized storage contribution could become more 
significant in future periods. 
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A $14.4 million decrease in the unrealized storage contribution resulted from an unfavorable movement 
during the year ended September 30, 2005 in the forward indices used to value the storage financial 
instruments combined with greater physical natural gas storage quantities at September 30, 2005 compared to 
the prior year also. 

Our marketing activities contributed $48.0 million to our gross profit for the year ended September 30, 
2005 compared to $48.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The decrease in the marketing 
contribution primarily was attributable to $12.0 million of unrealized marked-to-market losses associated with 
basis swaps that were put in place to capture margins in certain volatile market areas. The increase in 
unrealized marked-to-market losses was partially offset by an increase in our realized marketing margins due 
to focusing our marketing efforts on higher margin customers and successfully entering into new market areas. 

Operating expenses, which include operation and maintenance expense, provision for doubtful accounts, 
depreciation and amortization expense and taxes other than income taxes, increased to $21.0 million for the 
year ended September 30, 2005 from $18.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase in 
operating expense was attributable primarily to an increase in labor costs due to increased headcount and an 
increase in regulatory compliance costs. 

The increase in gross profit margin, combined with higher operating expenses, resulted in an increase in 
our natural gas marketing segment operating income to $41.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 
compared with operating income of $27.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. 

Pipeline and storage segment 

Operating income 

Pipeline and storage gross profit increased to $146.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from 
$10.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. Total pipeline transportation volumes were 563.9 Bcf 
during the year ended September 30, 2005 compared with 9.4 Bcf for the prior year. Excluding intersegment 
transportation volumes, total pipeline transportation volumes were 383.4 Bcf during the current year. 

The increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin primarily reflects the impact of the acquisition of 
the Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division resulting in an increase in pipeline and storage gross profit margin and 
total transportation volumes of $138.1 million and 375.6 Bcf. Also contributing to Atmos Pipeline - Texas 
Division's results were higher transportation and related services margin due to significant basis differentials at 
its three major Texas hubs. The $2.0 million decrease in the gross profit generated by APS primarily reflects a 
decrease in asset management fees received during fiscal 2005. 

Operating expenses increased to $76.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 from $5.1 million 
for the year ended September 30, 2004 due to the addition of $72.2 million in operating expenses associated 
with the Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division. As the Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division is a regulated entity, 
franchise and state gross receipts taxes are paid by our customers; thus, these amounts are offset in revenues 
through customer billings and have no permanent effect on net income. Included in operating expense was 
$8.9 million associated with taxes other than income taxes, of which $8.3 million was associated with our 
Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division. 

As a result of the aforementioned factors, our pipeline and storage segment operating income for the year 
ended September 30, 2005 increased to $70.3 million from $5.3 million for the year ended September 30, 
2004. 

Interest charges 

Interest charges allocated to this segment for the year ended September 30, 2005 increased to $24.6 mil­
lion from $1.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The increase was attributable to the interest 
expense associated with the issuance of long-term debt to finance the acquisition of the Atmas Pipeline ­
Texas Division in October 2004. 
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Other nonutility segment 

Operating income for our other nonutility segment primarily reflects the leasing income associated with 
two sales-type lease transactions completed in fiscal 2001 and 2002. The increase in operating income during 
the year ended September 30, 2005 reflects the absence of a one-time charge of $0.4 million associated with 
the wind-down of a noncore business during fiscal 2004. 

Miscellaneous income for the year ended September 30, 2005 was $2.6 million compared with 
$8.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. The $5.7 million decrease was attributable primarily to 
the recognition of a $5.9 million pretax gain on the sale of all remaining limited partnership interests in 
Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. during fiscal 2004. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Our working capital and liquidity for capital expenditure and other cash needs are provided from 
internally generated funds, borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program and funds 
raised from the public debt and equity capital markets. We believe that these sources of funds will provide the 
necessary working capital and liquidity for capital expenditures and other cash needs for fiscal 2007. These 
facilities are described in greater detail below and in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Capitalization 

The following presents our capitalization as of September 30, 2006 and 2005:
 

September 30
 
2006 2005
 

(In thousands, except percentages)
 

Short-term debt ; . $ 382,416 9.1% $ 144,809 3.7% 

Long-term debt . 2,183,548 51.8% 2,186,368 55.6% 

Shareholders' equity . 1,648,098 39.1% 1,602,422 40.7% 

Total capitalization, including short-term debt . $4,214,062 100.0% $3,933,599 100.0% 

Total debt as a percentage of total capitalization, including short-term debt, was 60.9 percent and 
59.3 percent at September 30, 2006 and 2005. The increase in the debt to capitalization ratio was primarily 
attributable to an increase in our short-term debt borrowings to fund our working capital needs partially offset 
by current-year net income. Our ratio of total debt to capitalization is typically greater during the winter 
heating season as we make additional short-term borrowings to fund natural gas purchases and meet our 
working capital requirements. Within three to five years, we intend to reduce our capitalization ratio to a target 
range of 50 to 55 percent through cash flow generated from operations, continued issuance of new common 
stock under our Direct Stock Purchase Plan and Retirement Savings Plan and access to the equity capital 
markets. 

Cash Flows 

Our internally generated funds may change in the future due to a number of factors, some of which we 
cannot control. These include regulatory changes, the price for our services, the demand for services, margin 
requirements resulting from significant changes in commodity prices, operational risks and other factors. 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Year-aver-year changes in our operating cash flows are primarily attributable to working capital changes 
within our utility segment resulting from the impact of weather, the price of natural gas and the timing of 
customer collections, payments for natural gas purchases and deferred gas cost recoveries. 

For the year ended September 30, 2006, we generated operating cash flow of $311.4 million compared 
with $386.9 million in fiscal 2005 and $270.7 million in fiscal 2004. The significant factors impacting our 
operating cash flow for the last three fiscal years are summarized below. 

52 



Year ended September 30, 2006 

Fiscal 2006 operating cash flows reflect the adverse impact of significantly higher natural gas prices. 
Year-over-year, unfavorable timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities reduced 
operating cash flow by $523.0 million. Partially offsetting these outflows were higher customer collections 
($245.1 million) and reduced payments for natural gas inventories ($102.1 million). Additionally, favorable 
movements in the market indices used to value our natural gas marketing segment risk management assets and 
liabilities reduced the amount that we were required to deposit in a margin account and therefore favorably 
affected operating cash flow by $126.3 million. 

Year ended September 30, 2005 

Fiscal 2005 operating cash flows reflect the effects of a $49.6 million increase in net income and effective 
working capital management partially offset by higher natural gas prices. Working capital management efforts, 
which affected the timing of payments for accounts payable and other accrued liabilities, favorably affected 
operating cash flow by $354.1 million. However, these efforts were partially offset by reduced cash flow 
generated from accounts receivable changes by $168.9 million, primarily attributable to higher natural gas 
prices, and an increase in our natural gas inventories attributable to a 13 percent year-over-year increase in 
natural gas prices coupled with increased natural gas inventory levels, which reduced operating cash flow by 
$81.8 million. Operating cash flow was also adversely impacted by unfavorable movements in the indices used 
to value our natural gas marketing segment risk management assets and liabilities, which resulted in a net 
liability for the segment. Accordingly, under the terms of the associated derivative contracts, we were required 
to deposit $81.0 million into a margin account. 

Year ended September 30, 2004 

Fiscal 2004 operating cash flows were favorably impacted by several items. Improved customer 
collections during fiscal 2004, compared with the prior year, resulted in a $62.2 million increase in operating 
cash flow. Further, cash used for natural gas inventories decreased by $33.8 million compared with the prior 
year. The decrease was attributable to lower injections of natural gas into storage, partially offset by higher 
prices. The reduction in the lag between the time period when we purchase our natural gas and the period in 
which we can include this cost in our gas rates improved operating cash flow by $65.7 million. Changes in 
cash held on deposit in margin accounts resulted in an increase in operating cash flow of $25.6 million. This 
account represents deposits recorded to collateralize certain of our financial derivatives purchased in support of 
our natural gas marketing activities. The favorable change was attributable to the fact "that the fair value of 
financial instruments held by AEM represented a net asset position at September 30, 2004, which eliminated 
the need to place cash in margin accounts. Finally, other working capital and other changes improved 
operating cash flow by $33.9 million. These changes primarily related to various increases in deferred credits 
and other liabilities, other current liabilities and income taxes payable partially offset by lower deferred 
income tax expense as compared with the prior year. 

Cash flows from investing activities 

During the last three years, a substantial portion of our cash resources was used to fund acquisitions and 
growth projects, our ongoing construction program and improvements to information systems. Our ongoing 
construction program enables us to provide natural gas distribution services to our existing customer base, to 
expand our natural gas distribution services into new markets, to enhance the integrity of our pipelines and, 
more recently, to expand our intrastate pipeline network. In executing our current rate strategy, we are 
directing discretionary capital spending to jurisdictions that permit us to earn a return on our investment 
timely. Currently, our Mid-Tex, Louisiana, Mississippi and West Texas utility divisions and our Atmos 
Pipeline - Texas Division have rate designs that provide the opportunity to include in their rate base approved 
capital costs on a periodic basis without being required to file a rate case. 

For the year ended September 30, 2006, we incurred $425.3 million for capital expenditures compared 
with $333.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005 and $190.3 million for the year ended 
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September 30, 2004. The increase in capital expenditures in fiscal 2006 primarily reflects increased spending 
associated with our DallaslFort Worth Metroplex North Side Loop project and other pipeline expansion 
projects in our Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division, which were completed during the fiscal 2006 third quarter. 
Increased capital spending in our Mid-Tex Division for various projects also contributed to the increase in our 
capital expenditures. 

Our cash used for investing activities for the year ended September 30, 2005 reflects the $1.9 billion cash 
paid for the TXU Gas acquisition including related transaction costs and expenses. Cash flow from investing 
activities for the year ended September 30, 2004 reflects the receipt of $27.9 million from the sale of our 
limited and general partnership interests in USP and Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. and from the sale of a 
building. 

Cash flows from financing activities 

For the year ended September 30, 2006, our financing activities provided $155.3 million in cash 
compared with $1.7 billion and $80.4 million provided for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Our 
significant financing activities for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 are summarized as 
follows: 

• In October 2004, we sold	 16.1 million shares of common stock, including the underwriters' exercise of 
their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares, under a shelf registration statement declared effective 
in September 2004, generating net proceeds of $382 million. Additionally, we issued $1.39 billion of 
senior unsecured debt under our shelf registration statement with an initial weighted average effective 
interest rate on these notes of 4.76 percent. The net proceeds from these issuances, combined with the 
net proceeds from our July 2004 common stock offering were used to finance the acquisition of our 
Mid-Tex and Atmos Pipeline - Texas divisions and settle Treasury lock agreements, into which we 
entered to fix the Treasury yield component of the interest cost of financing associated with 
$875 million of the $1.39 billion long-term debt we issued in October 2004 to fund the acquisition. 

• During the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, we increased our borrowings under our short­
term facilities by $237.6 million and $144.8 million whereas during the year ended September 30, 
2004, we repaid a net $118.6 million under our short-term facilities. Net borrowings under our short­
term facilities during fiscal 2006 and 2005 reflect the impact of seasonal natural gas purchases and the 
effect of higher natural gas prices than in prior years. 

•	 We repaid $3.3 million of long-term debt during the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with 
$103.4 million during the year ended September 30, 2005 and $9.7 million during the year ended 
September 30, 2004. Fiscal 2005 payments reflected the repayment of $72.5 million of our First 
Mortgage Bonds. In connection with this repayment we paid a $25.0 million make-whole premium in 
accordance with the terms of the agreements and accrued interest of approximately $1.0 million. In 
accordance with regulatory requirements, the premium has been deferred and will be recognized over 
the remaining original lives of the First Mortgage Bonds that were repaid. The early repayment of these 
bonds resulted in interest savings of $4.8 million and $1.3 million in fiscal 2006 and 2005. 

• During the year ended September 30, 2006, we paid $102.3 million in cash dividends compared with 
dividend payments of $99.0 million and $66.7 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 
2004. The increase in dividends paid over the prior year reflects an increase in the dividend rate from 
$1.24 per share during the year ended September 30, 2005 to $1.26 per share during the year ended 
September 30, 2006 combined with new share issuances under our various plans. 

During the year ended September 30, 2006 we issued 0.9 million shares of common stock which 
generated net proceeds of $23.3 million. In addition, we granted 0.3 million shares of common stock under 
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our 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan to directors, officers and other participants in the plan. The following 
table shows the number of shares issued for the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004: 

For the Year Ended September 30 
2006 2005 2004 

Shares issued: 

Direct stock purchase plan . 

Retirement savings plan . 

1998 Long-term incentive plan . 

Long-term stock plan for Mid-States Division . 

Outside directors stock-far-fee plan . 

October 2004 Offering . 

July 2004 Offering . 

Total shares issued . 

Shelf Registration 

In December 2001, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
to issue, from time to time, up to $600.0 million in new common stock and/or debt. The registration statement 
was declared effective by the SEC in January 2002. In July 2004, we sold 9.9 million shares of our common 
stock, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option, which exhausted the remaining 
availability under this registration statement. 

In August 2004, we filed a registration statement with the SEC to issue, from time to time, up to 
$2.2 billion in new common stock and/or debt, which became effective in September 2004. In October 2004, 
we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 
2.1 million shares, under this registration statement, generating net proceeds of $382.5 million before other 
offering costs. Additionally, we issued $1.39 billion of senior unsecured debt under the registration statement. 
After issuing the debt and equity in October 2004, we had approximately $401.5 million of availability 
remaining under this registration statement. However, we are no longer allowed to issue securities under that 
registration statement by applicable state regulatory commissions since we are in the process of securing their 
approval to issue a total of $900 million in securities under a new shelf registration statement, including the 
remaining $401.5 million of capacity carried over from the currently effective registration statement. We 
intend to file this new registration statement with the SEC in the near future. 

Credit Facilities 

As of September 30, 2006, we maintained three short-term committed credit facilities totaling $918 mil­
lion. We also maintain one uncommitted credit facility totaling $25 million and, through AEM, a second 
uncommitted credit facility that can provide up to $580 million. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit 
facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the banks. Our credit capacity and the 
amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our 
short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working 
capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the 
increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. Our cash needs for 
working capital have increased substantially as a result of the significant increase in the price of natural gas. 

In October 2005, our $600 million 364-day committed credit facility expired and was replaced with a 
$600 million three-year revolving credit facility. In addition, in November 2005, we entered into a new 
$300 million 364-day revolving credit facility with substantially the same terms as our $600 million credit 
facility. 
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In November 2006, we renewed our $300 million 364-day revolving credit facility and were in the 
process of replacing our three-year $600 million facility with a five-year $600 million revolving credit facility. 
Both facilities are being renewed with substantially the same terms as their predecessor facilities. 

In April 2006, our $18 million committed unsecured credit facility was renewed for one year with no 
material changes to its terms and pricing. At September 30, 2006, $3.1 million was outstanding under this 
facility. 

As of September 30, 2006, the amount available to us under these credit facilities, net of outstanding 
letters of credit, was $609.0 million. We believe these credit facilities, combined with our operating cash flows 
will be sufficient to fund our increased working capital needs. These facilities are described in further detail in 
Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. 

In November 2005, AEM amended its uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to increase the 
amount of credit available from $250 million to a maximum of $580 million. In March 2006, AEM amended 
and extended this uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 2007. At September 30, 2006, 
there were no borrowings outstanding under this facility. 

Credit Ratings 

Our credit ratings directly affect our ability to obtain short-term and long-term financing, in addition to 
the cost of such financing. In determining our credit ratings, the rating agencies consider a number of 
quantitative factors, including debt to total capitalization, operating cash flow relative to outstanding debt, 
operating cash flow coverage of interest and pension liabilities and funding status. In addition, the rating 
agencies consider qualitative factors such as consistency of our earnings over time, the quality of our 
management and business strategy, the risks associated with our utility and nonutility businesses and the 
regulatory structures that govern our rates in the states where we operate. 

Our debt is rated by three rating agencies: Standard & Poor's Corporation (S&P), Moody's Investors 
Services, Inc. (Moody's) and Fitch Ratings, Ltd. (Fitch). Our current debt ratings are all considered investment 
grade and are as follows: 

S&P Fitch 

Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. BBB Baa3 BBB+ 

Commercial paper. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. A-2 P-3 F-2 

Currently, with respect to our unsecured senior long-term debt, S&P, Moody's and Fitch maintain their 
stable outlook. None of our ratings is currently under review. 

A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. The highest investment grade 
credit rating for S&P is AAA, Moody's is Aaa and Fitch is AAA. The lowest investment grade credit rating 
for S&P is BBB-, Moody's is Baa3 and Fitch is BBB-. Our credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at 
any time by the rating agencies, and each rating should be evaluated independent of any other rating. There 
can be no assurance that a rating will remain in effect for any given period of time or that a rating will not be 
lowered, or withdrawn entirely, by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. 

Debt Covenants 

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of September 30, 2006. If we do not comply 
with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional 
collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and 
debentures, as well as both our revolving credit agreements, each contain a default provision that is triggered 
if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of 
$15 million to in excess of $100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, 
AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on 
other indebtedness, as defined, by at least $250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement 
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contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos were downgraded below an S&P 
rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2. 

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes 
in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to 
issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events. 

Additional information concerning our debt covenants and how we complied with those covenants is 
included in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. 

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments 

The following tables provide information about contractual obligations and commercial commitments at 
September 30, 2006. 

Payments Due by Period 
Less Than More Than 

Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years 
(In thousands) 

Contractual Obligations 
Long-term debt( I) .......•..•.•..•.•..•. $2,186,878 $ 3,186 $305,865 $ 762,762 $1, 115,065 

Short-term debt( I) .................•..•. 382,416 382,416 

Interest charges(2) ...................... 1,028,096 121,511 207,939 164,964 533,682 

Gas purchase commitments(3) ............. 708,217 560,461 110,793 17,035 19,928 

Capital lease obligations(4) ............... 2,777 433 673 477 1,194 

Operating leases(4) ..................... 176,806 15,959 30,157 26,912 103,778 

Demand fees for contracted storage(5) ....... 17,989 8,832 7,257 1,900 

Demand fees for contracted transportation(6) .. 27,818 4,269 5,944 5,788 11,817 

Derivative obligations(7) ................. 30,945 30,669 276 
Postretirement benefit plan contributions(8) ... 145,198 11,408 21,584 26,141 86,065 

Total contractual obligations ............ $4,707,140 $1,139,144 $690,488 $1,005,979 $1,871,529 

(I)	 See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. 

(2)	 Interest charges were calculated using the stated rate for each debt issuance, or in the case of floating rate 
debt, the rate that was in effect as of September 30, 2006. 

(3)	 Gas purchase commitments were determined based upon contractually determined volumes at prices esti­
mated based upon the index specified in the contract, adjusted for estimated basis differentials and contrac­
tual discounts as of September 30, 2006. 

(4)	 See Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. 

(5)	 Represents third party contractual demand fees for contracted storage in our natural gas marketing and 
other utility segments. Contractual demand fees for contracted storage for our utility segment are excluded 
as these costs are fully recoverable through our purchase gas adjustment mechanisms. 

(6)	 Represents third party contractual demand fees for transportation in our natural gas marketing segment. 

(7)	 Represents liabilities for natural gas commodity derivative contracts that were valued as of September 30, 
2006. The ultimate settlement amounts of these remaining liabilities are unknown because they are subject 
to continuing market risk until the derivative contracts are settled. 

(8)	 Represents expected contributions to our postretirement benefit plans. 

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the 
forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At September 30, 2006, AEM was committed to purchase 
61.7 Bet within one year, 51.2 Bcf between one to three years and 0.8 Bet after three years under indexed 
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contracts. AEM was committed to purchase 2.4 Bcf within one year and 0.1 Bcf within one to three years 
under fixed price contracts with prices ranging from $3.40 to $12.00 per Mcf. 

With the exception of our Mid-Tex Division, our utility segment maintains supply contracts with several 
vendors that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are 
established under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for 
incremental daily purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the 
individual contract. Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of 
gas for our customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The 
estimated commitments under these contract terms as of September 30, 2006 are reflected in the table above. 

In May 2006, we announced plans to form a joint venture with a local natural gas producer to construct a 
natural gas gathering system in Eastern Kentucky that will originate in Floyd County, Kentucky, and extend 
north approximately 60 miles to interconnect with the Tennessee Gas Pipeline in Carter County, Kentucky. 
Tennessee Gas Pipeline's interstate system delivers natural gas to the northeastern United States, including 
New York City and Boston. Referred to as the Straight Creek Project, the new system is expected to relieve 
severe gas gathering and transportation constraints that historically have burdened natural gas producers in the 
area and should improve delivery reliability to natural gas customers. More than a dozen other producers have 
signed memoranda of understanding to commit gas volumes to the new system and to enter into agreements 
on commercially reasonable terms. 

As currently designed, the project is expected to cost between $75 million to $SO million. In October 
2006, PERC issued a declaratory order finding that the Straight Creek Project will be exempt from PERC 
jurisdiction. Upon receiving all required regulatory approvals, construction is expected to begin in the first half 
of fiscal 2007, with operations expected to begin in fiscal 200S. Final terms of the joint venture are still being 
negotiated; however, we anticipate that we will have the ability to consolidate the joint venture. 

Risk Management Activities 

We conduct risk management activities through our utility, natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage 
segments. In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial 
contracts to reduce our exposure to unusually large winter-period gas price increases. In our natural gas 
marketing and pipeline and storage segments, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes 
and lock in our gross profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including 
futures, over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. To the extent 
our inventory cost and actual sales and actual purchases do not correlate with the changes in the market 
indices we use in our hedges, we could experience ineffectiveness or the hedges may no longer meet the 
accounting requirements for hedge accounting, resulting in the derivatives being treated as mark to market 
instruments through earnings. 

In our natural gas marketing segment, hedge ineffectiveness resulting from natural gas market price 
differences between the locations of the hedged inventory and the delivery location specified in the hedge 
instruments (referred to as basis ineffectiveness) for both fair value and cash flow hedges was an unrealized 
gain of approximately $35.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 and an unrealized loss of 
approximately $5.4 million and $1.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Actual hedge 
ineffectiveness resulting from the timing of settlement of physical contracts and the settlement of the derivative 
instruments (referred to as timing ineffectiveness) resulted in an unrealized gain of approximately $4.4 million 
and $0.5 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2004 and an unrealized loss of approximately 
$2.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. 

In our pipeline and storage segment, timing ineffectiveness resulted in an unrealized loss of approximately 
$4.7 million and less than $0.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2004 and an unrealized 
gain of approximately $5.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. 

Finally, during fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield 
component of the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of $875 million of long­
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term debt. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in October 2004 with a net $43.8 million payment to 
the counterparties. Approximately $11.6 million of the $43.8 million obligation is being recognized as a 
component of interest expense over a five year period from the date of settlement, and the remaining amount, 
approximately $32.2 million, is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a ten year period 
from the date of settlement. Our risk management activities and related accounting treatment are described in 
further detail in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. 

We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified 
as current or noncurrent based upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Substantially 
all of our derivative financial instruments are valued using external market quotes and indices. The following 
table shows the components of the change in fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative 
contract activities for the year ended September 30, 2006 (in thousands): 

Natural Gas 
Utility Marketing 

Fair value of contracts at September 30, 2005 . $ 93,310 $(61,898) 

Contracts realized/settled . 25,461 11,106 

Fair value of new contracts . (18,651) 

Other changes in value . (127,329) 65,795 

Fair value of contracts at September 30, 2006 . $ (27,209) $ 15,003 

The fair value of our utility and natural gas marketing derivative contracts at September 30, 2006, is 
segregated below by time period and fair value source. 

Fair Value of Contracts at September 30, 2006 
Maturity in Years 

Less Greater Total Fair 
Source of Fair Value Than 1 1-3 4-5 Than 5 Value 

(In thousands) 

Prices actively quoted . $(17,421 ) $7,122 $­ $­ $(10,299) 

Prices provided by other external sources . (440) (936) (1,376) 

Prices based on models and other valuation 
methods . (255) (531) 

Total Fair Value . $(18,116) $­ $­ $(12,206) 

Storage and Hedging Outlook 

AEM participates in transactions in which it seeks to find and profit from pricing differences that occur 
over time. AEM purchases physical natural gas and then sells financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in 
a gross profit margin. AEM is able to capture gross profit margin through the arbitrage of pricing differences 
in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over time. 

Natural gas inventory is marked to market at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized 
as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. Effective October I, 2005, we changed the index used 
to value our physical natural gas from Inside PERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical 
commodity. This change had no material impact to the Company on the date of adoption. Derivatives 
associated with our natural gas inventory, which are designated as fair value hedges, are marked to market 
each month based upon the NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and 
losses in the period of change. The changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our 
physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) are reported as a component of 
revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of 
storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value hedges; therefore, the economic gross 
profit AEM captured in the original transaction remains essentially unchanged. 
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AEM continually manages its positions to enhance the future economic profit it captured in the original 
transaction. Therefore, AEM may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to 
another based on market conditions or adjust the amount of storage capacity it holds on a discretionary basis 
in an effort to achieve this objective. AEM monitors the impacts of these profit optimization efforts by 
estimating the gross profit that it captured and expects to collect through the purchase and sale of physical 
natural gas and the associated financial derivatives, which we refer to as the economic gross profit. The 
economic gross profit, combined with the effect of unrealized gains or losses recognized in the financial 
statements in prior periods, provides a measure of the gross profit that could occur in future periods if AEM's 
optimization efforts are fully successful. The following table presents AEM's economic gross profit and its 
potential gross profit for the last three fiscal years. 

Associated Net 
Economic Unrealized Potential 

Period Ending 
Net Physical 
Position (Bet') 

Gross Profit 
(In millions) 

(Loss) 
(In millions) 

Gross Profit 
(In millions) 

September 30, 2006 ........................ 14.5 $60.0 $(16.0) $76.0 

September 30, 2005 ............................... 6.9 $13.1 $(14.8) $27.9 

September 30, 2004 ................................. 5.4 $12.3 $ (0.8) $13.1 

As of September 30, 2006, based upon AEM's derivatives position and inventory withdrawal schedule, 
the economic gross profit was $60.0 million. In addition, $16.0 million of net unrealized losses were recorded 
in the financial statements as of September 30, 2006. Therefore, the potential gross profit was $76.0 million. 
This potential gross profit amount will not result in an equal increase in future net income as AEM will incur 
additional storage and other operational expenses to realize this amount. 

The economic gross profit is based upon planned injection and withdrawal schedules, and the realization 
of the economic gross profit is contingent upon the execution of this plan, weather and other execution factors. 
Since AEM actively manages and optimizes its portfolio to enhance the future profitability of its storage 
position, it may change its scheduled injection and withdrawal plans from one time period to another based on 
market conditions. Therefore, we cannot assure that the economic gross profit or the potential gross profit 
calculated as of September 30, 2006 will be fully realized in the future or in what time period. Further, if we 
experience operational or other issues which limit our ability to optimally manage our stored gas positions, 
our earnings could be adversely impacted. 

Pension and Postretirement Benefits Obligations 

Net Periodic Pension and Postretirement Benefit Costs 

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, our total net periodic pension and other benefits costs was 
$50.0 million, compared with $36.4 million and $26.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 
2004. All of these costs are recoverable through our gas utility rates; however, a portion of these costs is 
capitalized into our utility rate base. The remaining costs are recorded as a component of operation and 
maintenance expense. 

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during fiscal 2006 compared with the 
prior year primarily reflects changes in assumptions we made during our annual pension plan valuation 
completed June 30, 2005. The discount rate used to compute the present value of a plan's liabilities generally 
is based on rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturities similar to the average period over which the 
benefits will be paid. In the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date, these interest rates 
were declining, which resulted in a 125 basis point reduction in our discount rate to 5.0 percent. This 
reduction increased the present value of our plan liabilities and associated expenses. Additionally, we reduced 
the expected return on our pension plan assets by 25 basis points to 8.5 percent, which also increased our 
pension and postretirement benefit cost. 

The increase in total net periodic pension and other benefits cost during fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal 
2004 primarily reflects an increase in our service cost associated with the increase in the number of employees 
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covered by our plans due to the TXU Gas acquisition. Although we did not assume the existing employee 
benefit liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, for purposes of determining our annual pension cost we agreed to give 
the transitioned employees credit for years of TXU Gas service under our pension plan. With respect to our 
postretirement medical plan, we received a credit of $18.9 million against the purchase price to permit us to 
provide partial past service credits for retiree medical benefits under our retiree medical plan. The $18.9 million 
credit approximated the actuariaUy determined present value of the accumulated benefits related to the past 
service of the transferred employees on the acquisition date. 

In addition to the increased number of employees covered by the plans, we changed the assumptions used 
to determine our fiscal 2005 benefit costs, which resulted in an increase in our net periodic pension and 
postretirement costs. We increased the discount rate by 25 basis points and we reduced our expected return on 
our pension plan assets by 25 basis points. These assumption changes decreased the service cost and interest 
cost and reduced the expected return components of our pension and postretirement benefits costs. 

Pension and Postretirement Plan Funding 

Generally, our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements of 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. However, additional voluntary contributions are made 
from time to time as considered necessary. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits 
attributed to service to date but also for those expected to be earned in the future. 

During fiscal 2006, we voluntarily contributed $2.9 million to the Atmos Energy Corporation Retirement 
Plan for Mississippi Valley Gas Union Employees. The current year contribution achieved a desired level of 
funding by satisfying the minimum funding requirements while maximizing the tax deductible contribution for 
this plan for plan year 2005. During fiscal 2005, we voluntarily contributed $3.0 million to the Master Trust to 
maintain the level of funding we desire relative to our accumulated benefit obligation. We made the 
contribution because declining high yield corporate bond yields in the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 
measurement date resulted in an increase in the present value of our plan liabilities. 

We contributed $10.9 million, $10.0 million and $13.8 million to our postretirement benefits plans for the 
years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004. The contributions represent the portion of the postretirement 
costs we are responsible for under the terms of our plan and minimum funding required by our regulators. 

Outlook for Fiscal 2007 

High grade corporate bond yields increased in the period leading up to our June 30, 2006 measurement 
date. Therefore, we increased the discount rate for determining our fiscal 2007 pension and benefit costs by 
130 basis points to 6.3 percent. However, we reduced the expected return on our pension plan assets by 
25 basis points to 8.25 percent. The effect of these assumption changes, coupled with the effects of updating 
our annual valuation should not significantly affect our fiscal 2007 net pension and postretirement costs 
compared to fiscal 2006. 

We are not required to make a minimum funding contribution to our pension plans during fiscal 2007; 
nor, at this time, do we intend to make voluntary contributions during 2007. However, we anticipate 
contributing approximately $11 million to our postretirement medical plans during fiscal 2007. 

The projected pension liability, future funding requirements and the amount of pension expense or income 
recognized for the Plan are subject to change, depending upon the actuarial value of plan assets and the 
determination of future benefit obligations as of each subsequent actuarial calculation date. These amounts are 
impacted by actual investment returns, changes in interest rates and changes in the demographic composition 
of the participants in the plan. 
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RECENT ACCOUNTING DEVELOPMENTS 

Recent accounting developments and their impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash 
flows are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. 

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

We are exposed to risks associated with commodity prices and interest rates. Commodity price risk is the 
potential loss that we may incur as a result of changes in the fair value of a particular instrument or 
commodity. Interest-rate risk results from our portfolio of debt and equity instruments that we issue to provide 
financing and liquidity for our business activities. 

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. In 
our utility segment, we use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to 
protect us and our customers against unusually large winter period gas price increases. In our natural gas 
marketing segment, we manage our exposure to the risk of natural gas price changes and lock in our gross 
profit margin through a combination of storage and financial derivatives including futures, over-the-counter 
and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Our risk management activities and 
related accounting treatment are described in further detail in Note 5 to the condensed consolidated financial 
statements. Additionally, our earnings are affected by changes in short-term interest rates as a result of our 
issuance of short-term commercial paper, the issuance of floating rate debt in October 2004 and our other 
short-term borrowings. 

Commodity Price Risk 

Utility segment 

We purchase natural gas for our utility operations. Substantially all of the cost of gas purchased for utility 
operations is recovered from our customers through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. However, our 
utility operations have commodity price risk exposure to fluctuations in spot natural gas prices related to 
purchases for sales to our non-regulated energy services customers at fixed prices. 

For our utility segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price risk. For purposes of 
this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a hypothetical 10 percent increase in the portion 
of our gas cost related to fixed-price non-regulated sales. Based on these projected non-regulated gas sales, a 
hypothetical 10 percent increase in fixed prices based upon the September 30, 2006 three month market strip, 
would increase our purchased gas cost by approximately $2.3 million in fiscal 2007. 

Natural gas marketing and pipeline and storage segments 

Our natural gas marketing segment is also exposed to risks associated with changes in the market price of 
natural gas. For our natural gas marketing segment, we use a sensitivity analysis to estimate commodity price 
risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate commodity price risk by applying a $0.50 change in the 
forward NYMEX price to our net open position (including existing storage and related financial contracts) at 
the end of each period. Based on AEH's net open position (including existing storage and related financial 
contracts) at September 30,2006 of 0.2 Bcf, a $0.50 change in the forward NYMEX price would have had 
less than a $0.1 million impact on our consolidated net income. 

Changes in the difference between the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) 
and the related fair-value hedge (NYMEX) can result in volatility in our reported net income; but, over time, 
gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on the fair-value 
hedges. Based upon our net physical position at September 30, 2006 and assuming our hedges would still 
qualify as highly effective, a $0.50 change in the difference between the Gas Daily and NYMEX indices 
would impact our reported net income by approximately $5.0 million. 
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Additionally, these changes could cause us to recognize a risk management liability, which would require 
us to place cash into an escrow account to collateralize this liability position. This, in turn, would reduce the 
amount of cash we would have on hand to fund our working capital needs. Because we recognized risk 
management liabilities as of September 30, 2006, we placed $35.6 million in escrow to collateralize these 
liabilities. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Our earnings are exposed to changes in short-term interest rates associated with our short-term commer­
cial paper program and other short-term borrowings. We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our short-term 
interest rate risk. For purposes of this analysis, we estimate our short-term interest rate risk as the difference 
between our actual interest expense for the period and estimated interest expense for the period assuming a 
hypothetical average one percent increase in the interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings. Had 
interest rates associated with our short-term borrowings increased by an average of one percent, our interest 
expense would have increased by approximately $3.6 million during 2006. 

We also assess market risk for our fixed and floating rate long-term obligations. We estimate market risk 
for our long-term obligations as the potential increase in fair value resulting from a hypothetical one percent 
decrease in interest rates associated with these debt instruments. Fair value is estimated using a discounted 
cash flow analysis. Assuming this one percent hypothetical decrease, the fair value of our long-term 
obligations would have increased by approximately $143.3 million. 

As of September 30, 2006, we were not engaged in other activities that would cause exposure to the risk 
of material earnings or cash flow loss due to changes in interest rates or market commodity prices. 
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All other financial statement schedules are omitted because the required information is not present, or not 
present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is 
included in the financial statements and accompanying notes thereto. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON
 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

The Board of Directors 
Atmos Energy Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Atmos Energy Corporation as of 
September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and 
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2006. Our audits also included the 
financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 8. These financial statements and schedule are the 
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements and schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Atmos Energy Corporation at September 30, 2006 and 2005, and the 
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
September 30, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, 
the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the financial statements taken as a 
whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial information set forth therein. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Atmos Energy Corporation's internal control over financial 
reporting as of September 30, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated 
November 20, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

ERNST & YOUNG LLP 

Dallas, Texas 
November 20,2006 
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

September 30 
2006 2005 

(In thousands, 
except share data) 

ASSETS 
Property, plant and equipment . $5,026,478 $4,631,684 
Construction in progress . 74,830 133,926 

5,101,308 4,765,610 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . 1,472,152 1,391,243 

Net property, plant and equipment . 3,629,156 3,374,367 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents . 75,815 40,116 
Cash held on deposit in margin account . 35,647 80,956 
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of 

$13,686 in 2006 and $15,613 in 2005 . 374,629 454,313 
Gas stored underground . 461,502 450,807 
Other current assets . 169,952 238,238 

Total current assets . 1,117,545 1,264,430 
Goodwill and intangible assets . 738,521 737,787 
Deferred charges and other assets . 234,325 276,943 

$5,719,547 $5,653,527 

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES 
Shareholders' equity 

Common stock, no par value (stated at $.005 per share); 
200,000,000 shares authorized; issued and outstanding: 
2006 - 81,739,516 shares, 2005 - 80,539,401 shares . $ 409 $ 403 

Additional paid-in capital . 1,467,240 1,426,523 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . (43,850) (3,341) 
Retained earnings . 224,299 178,837 

Shareholders' equity . 1,648,098 1,602,422 
Long-term debt . 2,180,362 2,183,104 

Total capitalization . 3,828,460 3,785,526 
Commitments and contingencies 
Current liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . 345,108 461,314 
Other current liabilities . 388,451 503,368 
Short-term debt. . 382,416 144,809 
Current maturities of long-term debt . 3,186 3,264 

Total current liabilities . 1,119,161 1,112,755 
Deferred income taxes . 306,172 292,207 
Regulatory cost of removal obligation . 261,376 263,424 
Deferred credits and other liabilities . 204,378 199,615 

$5,719,547 $5,653,527 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
 

Operating revenues 

Utility segment 

Natural gas marketing segment 

Pipeline and storage segment 

Other nonutility segment 

Intersegment eliminations 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

Year Ended September 30 
2006 2005 2004 
(In thousands, except per share data) 

$3,650,591 $3,103,140 $1,637,728 

3,156,524 2,106,278 1,618,602 

160,567 153,289 19,758 

5,898 5,302 3,393 

(821,217) (406,136) (359,444) 

Purchased gas cost 

Utility segment 

Natural gas marketing segment 

Pipeline and storage segment. 

Other nonutility segment 

Intersegment eliminations 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

6,152,363 

2,725,534 

3,025,897 

838 

(816,476) 

4,961,873 

2,195,774 

2,044,305 

6,811 

(402,654) 

2,920,037 

1,134,594 

1,571 ,971 

9,383 

(358,102) 

4,935,793 3,844,236 2,357,846 

Gross profit 

Operating expenses 

Operation and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortization 

Taxes, other than income 

Impainnent of long-lived assets 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

1,216,570 

433,418 

185,596 

191,993 

22,947 

1,117,637 

416,281 

178,005 

174,696 

562,191 

214,470 

96,647 

57,379 

Total operating expenses . 833,954 768,982 368,496 

Operating income 

Miscellaneous income 

Interest charges 

. 

. 

. 

382,616 

881 

146,607 

348,655 

2,021 

132,658 

193,695 

9,507 

65,437 

Income before income taxes 

Income tax expense 

. 

. 

236,890 

89,153 

218,018 

82,233 

137,765 

51,538 

Net income . $ 147,737 $ 135,785 $ 86,227 

Per share data 

Basic net income per share . $ 1.83 $ 1.73 $ 1.60 

Diluted net income per share . $ 1.82 $ 1.72 $ 1.58 

Weighted average shares outstanding: 

Basic . 80,731 78,508 54,021 

Diluted " .. 81,390 79,012 54,416 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
 

AccumulatedCommon Stock Additional Other 

Balance, September 30, 2003. . . . . . . . . . . 
Comprehensive income: 

Net income ...................... 
Unrealized holding gains on investments, 

net ...........................
 
Treasury lock agreements, net .........
 
Cash flow hedges, net ...............
 

Total comprehensive income. . . . . . . . 
Cash dividends ($1.22 per share) ........ 
Common stock issued: 

Public offering ....................
 
Direct stock purchase plan ............
 
Retirement savings plan ..............
 
1998 Long-term incentive plan .........
 
Long-term stock plan for Mid-States
 

Division .......................
 
Outside directors stock-far-fee plan ...... 

Balance, September 30, 2004. . . . . . . . . . . 
Comprehensive income: 

Net income ...................... 
Unrealized holding gains on investments, 

net ...........................
 
Treasury lock agreements, net .........
 
Cash flow hedges, net ...............
 

Total comprehensive income. . . . . . . . 
Cash dividends ($1.24 per share) ........ 
Common stock issued: 

Public offering ....................
 
Direct stock purchase plan ............
 
Retirement savings plan ..............
 
1998 Long-term incentive plan .........
 
Stock-based compensation ............
 
Outside directors stock-far-fee plan ......
 

Balance, September 30, 2005. . . . . . . . . . . 
Comprehensive income: 

Net income ...................... 
Unrealized holding gains on investments, 

net ...........................
 
Treasury lock agreements, net .........
 
Cash flow hedges, net ...............
 

Total comprehensive income. . . . . . . . 
Cash dividends ($1.26 per share) ........ 
Common stock issued: 

Direct stock purchase plan. . . . . . . . . . . . 
Retirement savings plan .............. 
1998 Long~term incentive plan ......... 
Long-term stock plan for Mid-States 

Division ....................... 
Stock-based compensation ............ 
Outside directors stock-for-fee plan ...... 

Balance, September 30, 2006. . . . . . . . . . . 

Number of
 
Shares
 

51,475,785 

9,939,393 
556,856 
320,313 
498,230 

6,000 
3,133 

62,799,710 

16,100,000 
450,212 
441,350 
745,788 

2,341 

80,539,401 

387,833 
442,635 
366,905 

300 

2,442 

81,739,516 

Stated
 
Value
 

$257
 

50 
3 
2 
2 

314 

80 
3 
2 
4 

403 

2 
2 
2 

$409 

Paid-in Comprehensive Retained 
Capital Loss Earnings Total 

(In thousands, except share data) 

$ 736,180 $ (1,459) $ 122,539 $ 857,517 

86,227 86,227 

615 615 
(21,268) (21,268) 

7,583 7,583 

73,157 
(66,736) (66,736) 

235,419 235,469 
13,726 13,729 
8,300 8,302 

11,848 11,850 

94 94 
77 77 

1,005,644 (14,529) 142,030 1,133,459 

135,785 135,785 

1,528 1,528 
(2,714) (2,714) 
12,374 12,374 

146,973 
(98,978) (98,978) 

381,271 381,351 
12,486 12,489 
11,767 11,769 
14,116 14,120 

1,175 1,175 
64 64 

1,426,523 (3,341) 178,837 1,602,422 

147,737 147,737 

882 882 
3,442 3,442 

(44,833) (44,833) 

107,228 
(102,275) 002,275) 

10,391 10,393 
11,918 11,920 
8,976 8,978 

5 5 
9,361 9,361 

66 66 

$1,467,240 $(43,850) $ 224,299 $1,648,098 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 

Year Ended September 30 
2006 2005 2004 

(In thousands) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Net income . 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 

operating activities: 
Gain on sales of assets . 
Impairment of long-lived assets . 
Depreciation and amortization: 

Charged to depreciation and amortization . 
Charged to other accounts . 

Deferred income taxes . 
Other . 

Changes in assets and liabilities: 
(Increase) decrease in cash held on deposit in margin account .. 
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable . 
Increase in gas stored underground ., . 
Increase in other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Decrease in deferred charges and other assets . 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities .. 
Increase (decrease) in other current liabilities . 
Increase (decrease) in deferred credits and other liabilities . 

Net cash provided by operating activities . 
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Capital expenditures . 
Acquisitions, net of cash received . 
Proceeds from sales of assets . 
Other, net . 

Net cash used in investing activities . 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Net increase (decrease) in short-term debt . 
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt . 
Settlement of Treasury lock agreements . 
Repayment of long-term debt . 
Cash dividends paid . 
Issuance of common stock . 
Net proceeds from equity offering . 

Net cash provided by financing activities . 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year . 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

1. Nature of Business 

Atmos Energy Corporation ("Atmos" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the 
natural gas utility business as well as certain nonutility "businesses. Through our natural gas utility business, 
we distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements to approximately 3.2 million residen­
tial, commercial, public-authority and industrial customers through our seven regulated natural gas utility 
divisions, in the service areas described below: 

Division Service Area 

Atmos Energy Colorado-Kansas Division 

Atmos Energy Kentucky DivisionO) 

Atmos Energy Louisiana Division 

Atmos Energy Mid-States DivisionO) 

. 

. 

. 

Colorado, Kansas, Missouri(2) 

Kentucky 

Louisiana 
Georgia(2), Illinois(2), Iowa(2), Missouri(2), 
Tennessee, Virginia(2) 

Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division 

Atmos Energy Mississippi Division 

Atmos Energy West Texas Division 

. 

. 

. 

Texas, including the DallaslFort Worth 
metropolitan area 

Mississippi 

West Texas 

(I) Effective October I, 2006, the Kentucky and Mid-States Divisions were combined. 

(2) Denotes locations where we have more limited service areas. 

In addition, we transport natural gas for others through our distribution system. Our utility business is 
subject to federal and state regulation and/or regulation by local authorities in each of the states in which the 
utility divisions operate. Our shared-services "division is located in Dallas, Texas, and our customer support 
centers are located in Amarillo and Waco, Texas. 

Our nonutility businesses operate in 22 states and include our natural gas marketing operations, our 
pipeline and storage operations and our other non utility operations. These operations are either organized 
under or managed by Atmos Energy Holdings, Inc. (AEH), which is wholly-owned by the Company. 

Our natural gas marketing operations are managed by Atmos Energy Marketing, LLC (AEM), which is 
wholly-owned by AEH. AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to municipalities, natural 
gas utility systems and industrial natural gas customers, primarily in the southeastern and midwestern states 
and to our Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States divisions. These services consist primarily of furnishing natural 
gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices, contract negotiation and administration, load forecasting, gas 
storage acquisition and management services, transportation services, peaking sales and balancing services, 
capacity utilization strategies and gas price hedging through the use of derivative instruments. 

Our pipeline and storage operations consist of the operations of our Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division, a 
division of Atmos Energy Corporation, and of Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC (APS), which is wholly­
owned by AEH. The Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division transports natural gas to the Atmos Energy Mid-Tex 
Division, transports natural gas to third parties and manages five underground storage reservoirs in Texas. 
Through APS, we own or have an interest in underground storage fields in Kentucky and Louisiana. We also 
use these storage facilities to reduce the need to contract for additional pipeline capacity to meet customer 
demand during peak periods. 
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Our other nonutility businesses consist primarily of the operations of Atmos Energy Services (AES), LLC 
and Atmos Power Systems, Inc., which are wholly-owned by AEH. Through AES, we provide natural gas 
management services to our utility operations, other than the Mid-Tex Division. These services, which began 
in April 2004, include aggregating and purchasing gas supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics 
and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service areas at competitive prices. Through Atmos Power 
Systems, Inc., we have constructed electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities and have 
entered into agreements to lease these plants. 

Prior to January 2004, United Cities Propane Gas, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of AEH, owned an 
approximate 19 percent membership interest in U.S. Propane L.P. (USP), a joint venture formed in February 
2000 with three other utility companies. Through our ownership in USP, we owned an approximate five 
percent indirect interest in Heritage Propane Partners, L.P. (Heritage). During 2004, we sold our interest in 
USP and Heritage. We received cash proceeds of $26.6 million and recorded a pretax book gain of $5.9 million 
with these transactions. We no longer have an interest in the propane industry. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Principles of consolidation - The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts 
of Atmos Energy Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany transactions have 
been eliminated. 

Use of estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The most significant estimates include the 
allowance for doubtful accounts, legal and environmental accruals, insurance accruals, pension and postretire­
ment obligations, deferred income taxes, asset retirement obligation, impairment of long-lived assets, risk 
management and trading activities and the valuation of goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets and other 
long-lived assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Regulation - Our utility operations are subject to regulation with respect to rates, service, maintenance 
of accounting records and various other matters by the respective regulatory authorities in the states in which 
we operate. Our accounting policies recognize the financial effects of the ratemaking and accounting practices 
and policies of the various regulatory commissions. Regulated utility operations are accounted for in 
accordance with SPAS 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of ReguLation. This statement requires 
cost-based, rate-regulated entities that meet certain criteria to reflect the authorized recovery of costs due to 
regulatory decisions in their financial statements. As a result, certain costs are permitted to be capitalized 
rather than expensed because they can be recovered through rates. 
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We record regulatory assets as a component of other current assets and deferred charges and other assets 
for costs that have been deferred for which future recovery through customer rates is considered probable. 
Regulatory liabilities are recorded either on the face of the balance sheet or as a component of current 
liabilities, deferred income taxes or deferred credits and other liabilities when it is probable that revenues will 
be reduced for amounts that will be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Significant 
regulatory assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 included the following: 

September 30
 
2006 2005
 

(In thousands)
 

Regulatory assets: 

Merger and integration costs, net . $ 8,644 $ 9,150 

Deferred gas costs . 44,992 38,173 

Environmental costs . 1,234 1,357 

Rate case costs . 10,579 11,314 

Deferred franchise fees . 1,311 6,710 

Other . 9,055 9,313 

$ 75,815 $ 76,017 

Regulatory liabilities: 

Deferred gas costs . $ 68,959 $134,048 

Regulatory cost of removal obligation . 276,490 274,989 

Deferred income taxes, net . 235 3,185 

Other . 10,825 8,084 

$356,509 $420,306 

Currently authorized rates do not include a return on certain of our merger and integration costs; however, 
we recover the amortization of these costs. Merger and integration costs, net, are generally amortized on a 
straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging up to 20 years. During the fiscal years ended 
September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we recognized $0.5 million, $2.3 million and $8.2 million in amortization 
expense related to these costs. Environmental costs have been deferred to be included in future rate filings in 
accordance with rulings received from various regulatory commissions. 

As of September 30, 2006, our Mid-States Division had open rate cases in its Missouri and Tennessee 
service areas seeking rate increases of $3.4 million in each jurisdiction. The Tennessee rate was settled in 
October 2006 and resulted in a $6.1 million reduction in future annual revenues. We anticipate that the 
Missouri rate case will be finalized in February 2007. In addition, during 2006 our Mid-Tex Division filed a 
system-wide case seeking incremental annual revenues of approximately $60 million and several rate design 
changes. A ruling on this filing is anticipated by April 2007. 

Revenue recognition - Sales of natural gas to our utility customers are billed on a monthly cycle basis; 
however, the billing cycle periods for certain classes of customers do not necessarily coincide with accounting 
periods used for financial reporting purposes. We follow the revenue accrual method of accounting for utility 
segment revenues whereby revenues applicable to gas delivered to customers, but not yet billed under the 
cycle billing method, are estimated and accrued and the related costs are charged to expense. Revenue is 
recognized in our pipeline and storage segment as the services are provided. 

On occasion, we are permitted to implement new rates that have not been formally approved by our 
regulators and are subject to refund. As permitted by SFAS No. 71, we recognize this revenue and establish a 
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reserve for amounts that could be refunded based on our experience for the jurisdiction in which the rates 
were implemented. 

Rates established by regulatory authorities are adjusted for increases and decreases in our purchased gas 
cost through purchased gas adjustment mechanisms. Purchased gas adjustment mechanisms provide gas utility 
companies a method of recovering purchased gas costs on an ongoing basis without filing a rate case to 
address all of the utility's non-gas costs. These mechanisms are commonly utilized when regulatory authorities 
recognize a particular type of expense, such as purchased gas costs, that (i) is subject to significant price 
fluctuations compared to the utility'S other costs, (ii) represents a large component of the utility'S cost of 
service and (iii) is generally outside the control of the gas utility. There is no gross profit generated through 
purchased gas adjustments, but they do provide a dollar-for-dollar offset to increases or decreases in utility gas 
costs. Although substantially all of our utility sales to our customers fluctuate with the cost of gas that we 
purchase, utility gross profit is generally not affected by fluctuations in the cost of gas due to the purchased 
gas adjustment mechanism. The effects of these purchased gas adjustment mechanisms are recorded as 
deferred gas costs on our balance sheet. 

Energy trading contracts resulting in the delivery of a commodity where we are the principal in the 
transaction are recorded as natural gas marketing sales or purchases at the time of physical delivery. Realized 
gains and losses from the settlement of financial instruments that do not result in physical delivery related to 
our natural gas marketing energy trading contracts and unrealized gains and losses from changes in the market 
value of open contracts are included as a component of natural gas marketing revenues. For the years ended 
September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we included unrealized gains (losses) on open contracts of $17.2 million, 
($26.0) million and ($2.8) million as a component of natural gas marketing revenues. 

Cash and cash equivalents - We consider all highly liquid investments with an initial or remaining 
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

Cash held on deposit in margin account - Cash held on deposit in margin account consists of deposits 
made to collateralize certain financial derivatives purchased in support of our risk management activities. 
Under the terms of these derivative contracts, when the fair value of financial instruments held represents a net 
liability position, we are required to deposit cash into a margin account. 

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts - Accounts receivable consist of natural gas 
sales to residential, commercial, industrial, municipal, agricultural and other customers. For the majority of our 
receivables, we establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on our collections experience. On certain 
other receivables where we are aware of a specific customer's inability or reluctance to pay, we record an 
allowance for doubtful accounts against amounts due to reduce the net receivable balance to the amount we 
reasonably expect to collect. However, if circumstances change, our estimate of the recoverability of accounts 
receivable could be different. Circumstances which could affect our estimates include, but are not limited to, 
customer credit issues, the level of natural gas prices, customer deposits and general economic conditions. 
Accounts are written off once they are deemed to be uncollectible. 

Gas stored underground - Our gas stored underground is comprised of natural gas injected into storage 
to support the winter season withdrawals for our utility operations and natural gas held by our natural gas 
marketing and other nonutility subsidiaries to conduct their operations. The average cost method is used for all 
our utility divisions, except for certain jurisdictions in the Mid-States Division, where it is valued on the 
first-in first-out method basis, in accordance with regulatory requirements. The average gas cost method is also 
used for our natural gas marketing segment and our Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division. Our Natural Gas 
Marketing segment utilizes the average cost method; however, most of this inventory is hedged and is therefore 
marked to market at the end of each month. Gas in storage that is retained as cushion gas to maintain reservoir 
pressure is classified as property, plant and equipment and is valued at cost. 
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Utility property, plant and equipment - Utility property, plant and equipment is stated at original cost, 
net of contributions in aid of construction. The cost of additions includes direct construction costs, payroll 
related costs (taxes, pensions and other fringe benefits), administrative and general costs and an allowance for 
funds used during construction. The allowance for funds used during construction represents the estimated cost 
of funds used to finance the construction of major projects and are capitalized in the rate base for ratemaking 
purposes when the completed projects are placed in service. Interest expense of $3.6 million, $2.5 million and 
$1.2 million was capitalized in 2006, 2005 and 2004. 

Major renewals, including replacement pipe, and betterments that are recoverable under our regulatory . 
rate base are capitalized while the costs of maintenance and repairs that are not recoverable through rates are 
charged to expense as incurred. The costs of large projects are accumulated in construction in progress until 
the project is completed. When the project is completed, tested and placed in service, the balance is transferred 
to the utility plant in service account included in the rate base and depreciation begins. 

Utility property, plant and equipment is depreciated at various rates on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. These rates are approved by our regulatory commissions and are comprised 
of two components, one based on average service life and one based on cost of removal. Accordingly, we 
recognize our cost of removal expense as a component of depreciation expense. The related cost of removal 
accrual is reflected as a regulatory liability on the consolidated balance sheet. At the time property, plant and 
equipment is retired, removal expenses less salvage, are charged to the regulatory cost of removal accrual. The 
composite depreciation rate was 3.9 percent, 4.0 percent and 3.8 percent for the years ended September 30, 
2006, 2005 and 2004. 

Nonutility property, plant and equipment - Nonutility property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. 
Depreciation is generally computed on the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes based upon 
estimated useful lives ranging from 8 to 38 years. 

Asset retirement obligations - SPAS 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations and FlN 47, 
Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, which became effective for us September 30, 2006, 
require that we record a liability at fair value for an asset retirement obligation when the legal obligation to 
retire the asset has been incurred with an offsetting increase to the carrying value of the related asset. 
Accretion of the asset retirement obligation due to the passage of time is recorded as an operating expense. 

As of September 30, 2006, we adopted the provisions of FlN 47. As a result of adopting FlN 47, we 
recorded an asset retirement obligation of $15.1 million associated with our distribution system. As retirement 
costs incurred by the distribution system are recovered from utility customers, this liability had previously 
been captured in our regulatory cost of removal liability. As a result of adopting FlN 47, we reclassified the 
$15.1 million from regulatory cost of removal liability to asset retirement obligation. In addition, we recorded 
$4.8 million of asset retirement costs that will be depreciated over the remaining life of the underlying 
associated asset lives. We believe we have a legal obligation to retire our storage wells. However, we have not 
recognized an asset retirement obligation associated with our storage wells because there is not sufficient 
industry history to reasonably estimate the fair value of this obligation. The adoption of FlN 47 did not have 
an impact to our results operations as the cost of removal expense has previously been recorded as described 
above. In accordance with the transition guidance of FlN 47, prior periods have not been restated; however, 
the asset retirement obligation as of September 30, 2005 would have been $14.6 million. 

Impairment of long-lived assets - We periodically evaluate whether events or circumstances have 
occurred that indicate that other long-lived assets may not be recoverable or that the remaining useful life may 
warrant revision. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess the recoverability of long-lived 
assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the expected future cash flows. In 
the event the sum of the expected future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than the carrying 
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value of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset's carrying value over its fair value is 
recorded. 

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, we determined that, as a result of declining irrigation sales 
primarily associated with our agricultural customers' shift from gas-powered pumps to electric pumps, the 
West Texas Division's irrigation assets would not be able to generate sufficient future cash flows from 
operations to recover the net investment in these assets. Therefore, we recorded a $22.9 million charge to 
impairment to write off the entire net book value. We will continue to operate these assets until we determine 
a plan for these assets as we are obligated to provide natural gas services to certain customers served by these 
assets. 

Goodwill and intangible assets - We annually evaluate our goodwill balances for impairment during our 
second fiscal quarter or more frequently as impairment indicators arise. We use a present value technique 
based on discounted cash flows to estimate the fair value of our reporting units. These calculations are 
dependent on several subjective factors including the timing of future cash flows, future growth rates and the 
discount rate. An impairment charge is recognized if the carrying value of a reporting unit's goodwill exceeds 
its fair value. 

Intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives of 10 years. These assets are reviewed for 
impairment as impairment indicators arise. When such events or circumstances are present, we assess the 
recoverability of long-lived assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the 
expected future cash flows. In the event the sum of the expected future cash flows resulting from the use of 
the asset is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset's 
carrying value over its fair value is recorded. To date, no impairment has been recognized. 

Marketable securities - As of September 30, 2006 and 2005, all of our marketable securities were 
classified as available-for-sale securities based upon the criteria of SFAS 115, Accounting for Certain 
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. In accordance with that standard, these securities are reported at 
market value with unrealized gains and losses shown as a component of accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss). We regularly evaluate the performance of these investments on a fund by fund basis for 
impairment, taking into consideration the fund's purpose, volatility and current returns. If a determination is 
made that a decline in fair value is other than temporary, the related fund is written down to its estimated fair 
value. 

Derivatives and hedging activities - Our derivative and hedging activities are tailored to the segment to 
which they relate. We record our derivatives as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which 
are classified as current or noncurrent other assets or liabilities based upon the anticipated settlement date of 
the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these derivative financial instruments reflects 
the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or close the contracts at the reporting date, 
taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open contracts. In our determination of fair 
value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and 
volatility factors underlying the contracts. Effective October 1, 2005, we changed the index used to value our 
physical natural gas from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. 
This change did not have a material impact on our financial position on the date of adoption. 

Utility Segment 

In our utility segment, we use a combination of storage and financial derivatives to partially insulate us 
and our natural gas utility customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. The financial 
derivatives we use in our utility segment are accounted for under the mark-to-market method pursuant to 
SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. Changes in the valuation of these 
derivatives primarily result from changes in the valuation of the portfolio of contracts, maturity and settlement 
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of contracts and newly originated transactions. However, because the gains or losses of financial derivatives 
used in our utility segment will ultimately be recovered through our rates, current period changes in the assets 
and liabilities from these risk management activities are recorded as a component of deferred gas costs in 
accordance with SFAS 71. Accordingly, there is no earnings impact to our utility segment as a result of the 
use of financial derivatives. The changes in the assets and liabilities from risk management activities are 
recognized in purchased gas cost in the income statement when the related gain or loss is recovered through 
our rates. 

Natural Gas Marketing Segment 

Our natural gas marketing risk management activities are conducted through AEM. AEM is exposed to 
risks associated with changes in the market price of natural gas, and we manage our exposure to the risk of 
natural gas price changes through a combination of storage and financial derivatives, including futures, 
over-the-counter and exchange-traded options and swap contracts with counterparties. Option contracts provide 
the right, but not the requirement, to buy or sell the commodity at a fixed price. Swap contracts require receipt 
of payment for the commodity based on the difference between a fixed price and the market price on the 
settlement date. The use of these contracts is subject to our risk management policies, which are monitored for 
compliance daily. 

We participate in transactions in which we combine the natural gas commodity and transportation costs to 
minimize our costs incurred to serve our customers. Additionally, we engage in natural gas storage transactions 
in which we seek to find and profit from pricing differences that occur over time. We purchase physical 
natural gas and then sell financial contracts at favorable prices to lock in gross profit margins. Through the use 
of transportation and storage services and derivatives, we are able to capture gross profit margin through the 
arbitrage of pricing differences in various locations and by recognizing pricing differences that occur over 
time. 

Under SFAS 133, natural gas inventory is designated as the hedged item in a fair-value hedge and is 
marked to market at the end of each month with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and 
losses in revenue in the period of change. Effective October 1, 2005, we changed the index used to value our 
physical natural gas from Inside FERC to Gas Daily to better reflect the prices of our physical commodity. 
This change had no material impact on our financial position on the date of adoption. Costs to store the gas 
are recognized in the period the costs are incurred. We recognize revenue and the carrying value of the 
inventory as an associated purchased gas cost in our consolidated statement of income when we sell the gas 
and deliver it out of the storage facility. 

Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory are marked to market each month based upon the 
NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. 
The difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair­
value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net 
income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of storage gas inventory will be offset by gains and losses on 
the fair-value hedges, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the 
time we structured the original transaction. In addition, we continually manage our positions to optimize value 
as market conditions and other circumstances change. When evaluating effectiveness, we exclude the 
differential between the spot price used to value our physical inventory and the forward price used to value the 
financial hedges designated against our physical inventory. 

Similar to our inventory position, we attempt to mitigate substantially all of the commodity price risk 
associated with our fixed-price contracts with minimum volume requirements through the use of various 
offsetting derivatives. Prior to April I, 2004, these derivatives were not designated as hedges under SFAS 133 
because they naturally locked in the economic gross profit margin at the time we entered into the contract. 
The fixed-price forward and offsetting derivative contracts were marked to market each month with changes in 
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fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses recorded in revenue in our consolidated statement of 
income. The unrealized gains and losses were realized as a component of revenue in the period in which we 
fulfilled the requirements of the fixed-price contract and the derivatives were settled. To the extent that the 
unrealized gains and losses of the fixed-price forward contracts and the offsetting derivatives did not offset 
exactly, our earnings experienced some volatility. At delivery, the gains and losses on the fixed-price contracts 
were offset by gains and losses on the derivatives, resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit 
margin we anticipated at the time we structured the original transaction. 

Effective April 2004, we elected to treat our fixed-price forward contracts as normal purchases and sales. 
As a result, we ceased marking the fixed-price forward contracts to market. We have designated the offsetting 
derivative contracts as cash flow hedges of anticipated transactions. As a result of this change, unrealized gains 
and losses on these open derivative contracts are now recorded as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income and are recognized in earnings as a component of revenue when the hedged volumes 
are sold. In addition, we continually manage our positions to optimize value as market conditions and other 
circumstances change. 

Additionally, we utilize storage swaps and futures to capture additional storage arbitrage opportunities 
that arise subsequent to the execution of the original fair value hedge associated with our physical natural gas 
inventory, basis swaps to insulate and protect the economic value of our fixed price and storage books and 
various over-the-counter and exchange-traded options. Although the purpose of these instruments is to either 
reduce basis or other risks or lock in arbitrage opportunities, these derivative instruments have not been 
designated as hedges. Accordingly, these derivative instruments are recorded at fair value with all changes in 
fair value included in revenue of our natural gas marketing segment. 

In our natural gas marketing segment, hedge ineffectiveness arising from natural gas market price 
differences between the locations of the hedged inventory and the delivery location specified in the hedge 
instruments (referred to as basis ineffectiveness) for our fair value hedges resulted in an unrealized gain of 
$15.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 compared with an unrealized loss of $1.7 million and 
$0.6 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Basis ineffectiveness for our cash flow hedges 
resulted in an unrealized gain of approximately $20.0 million for the year ended September 30, 2006 
compared with an unrealized loss of approximately $3.7 million and $0.5 million for the years ended 
September 30, 2005 and 2004. Hedge ineffectiveness arising from the timing of the settlement of physical 
contracts and the settlement of the related fair value hedge resulted in an unrealized gain of approximately 
$4.4 million and $0.5 million for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2004 and an unrealized loss of 
approximately $2.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2005. The increased ineffectiveness is due to the 
high level of market volatility experienced in 2006. 

Additionally, we have a policy which allows for the use of master netting agreements with significant 
counterparties that allow us to offset gains and losses arising from derivative instruments that may be settled 
in cash andlor gains and losses arising from derivative instruments that may be settled with the physical 
commodity. Assets and liabilities from risk management activities, as well as accounts receivable and payable, 
reflect the master netting agreements in place. 

Pipeline and Storage Segment 

Similar to AEM, Atmos Pipeline and Storage, LLC has designated its natural gas inventory as the hedged 
item in a fair-value hedge. The inventory is marked to market at the end of each month based upon Gas Daily 
index. Costs to store the gas are recognized in the period the costs are incurred. We recognize revenue and the 
carrying value of the inventory as an associated purchased gas cost in our consolidated statement of income 
when we sell the gas. 
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Derivatives associated with our natural gas inventory are marked to market each month based upon the 
NYMEX price with changes in fair value recognized as unrealized gains and losses in the period of change. 
The difference in the indices used to mark to market our physical inventory (Gas Daily) and the related fair­
value hedge (NYMEX) is reported as a component of revenue and can result in volatility in our reported net 
income. Over time, gains and losses on the sale of natural gas inventory should be offset by gains and losses 
on the fair-value hedges; resulting in the realization of the economic gross profit margin we anticipated at the 
time we structured the original transaction. 

In our pipeline and storage segment, actual hedge ineffectiveness arising from the timing of settlement of 
physical contracts and the settlement of the derivative instruments resulted in a loss of approximately 
$4.7 million for the year ended September 30, 2006, a gain of approximately $5.2 million for the year ended 
September 30, 2005 and a loss of less than $0.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2004. 

Treasury Activities 

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of 
the interest cost of financing associated with the anticipated issuance of $875 million of long-term debt. We 
designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. Accordingly, to 
the extent effective, unrealized gains and losses associated with the Treasury lock agreements are recorded as 
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income. These Treasury lock agreements were settled in 
October 2004 with a net $43.8 million payment to the counterparties. Approximately $11.6 million of the 
$43.8 million obligation is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a five year period from 
the date of settlement, and the remaining amount, approximately $32.2 million, is being recognized as a 
component of interest expense over a ten year period from the date of settlement. 

The fair value of our financial derivatives is determined through a combination of prices actively quoted 
on national exchanges, prices provided by other external sources and prices based on models and other 
valuation methods. Changes in the valuation of our financial derivatives primarily result from changes in 
market prices, the valuation of the portfolio of our contracts, maturity and settlement of these contracts and 
newly originated transactions, each of which directly affect the estimated fair value of our derivatives. We 
believe the market prices and models used to value these derivatives represent the best information available 
with respect to closing exchange and over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying 
the contracts. Values are adjusted to reflect the potential impact of an orderly liquidation of our positions over 
a reasonable period of time under present market conditions. 

Pension and other postretirement plans - Pension and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities are 
determined on an actuarial basis and are affected by numerous assumptions and estimates including the market 
value of plan assets, estimates of the expected return on plan assets, assumed discount rates and current 
demographic and actuarial mortality data. We review the estimates and assumptions underlying our pension 
and other postretirement plan costs and liabilities annually based upon a June 30 measurement date. The 
assumed discount rate and the expected return are the assumptions that generally have the most significant 
impact on our pension costs and liabilities. The assumed discount rate, the assumed health care cost trend rate 
and assumed rates of retirement generally have the most significant impact on our postretirement plan costs 
and liabilities. 

The discount rate is utilized principally in calculating the actuarial present value of our pension and 
postretirement obligation and net pension and postretirement cost. When establishing our discount rate, we 
consider high quality corporate bond rates based on Moody's Aa bond index, changes in those rates from the 
prior year and the implied discount rate that is derived from matching our projected benefit disbursements 
with a high quality corporate bond spot rate curve. 
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The expected long-tenn rate of return on assets is utilized in calculating the expected return on plan 
assets component of the annual pension and postretirement plan cost. We estimate the. expected return on plan 
assets by evaluating expected bond returns, equity risk premiums, asset allocations, the effects of active plan 
management, the impact of periodic plan asset rebalancing and historical performance. We also consider the 
guidance from our investment advisors in making final determination of our expected rate of return on assets. 
To the extent the actual rate of return on assets realized over the course of a year is greater than or less than 
the assumed rate, that year's annual pension or postretirement plan cost is not affected. Rather, this gain or 
loss reduces or increases future pension or postretirement plan cost over a period of approximately ten to 
twelve years. 

We estimate the assumed health care cost trend rate used in determining our postretirement net cost based 
upon our actual health care cost experience, the effects of recently enacted legislation and general economic 
conditions. Our assumed rate of retirement is estimated based upon our annual review of our participant census 
infonnation as of the measurement date. 

Income taxes - Income taxes are provided based on the liability method, which results in income tax 
assets and liabilities arising from temporary differences. Temporary differences are differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements that will result in taxable 
or deductible amounts in future years. The liability method requires the effect of tax rate changes on current 
and accumulated deferred income taxes to be reflected in the period in which the rate change was enacted. 
The liability method also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance unless it is 
more likely than not that the assets will be realized. 

Stock-based compensation plans - We maintain the 1998 Long-Tenn Incentive Plan that provides for the 
granting of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time­
lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to officers, division presidents 
and other key employees. Non-employee directors are also eligible to receive stock-based compensation under 
the 1998 Long-Tenn Incentive Plan. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best 
personnel, providing for additional perfonnance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees 
with the opportunity to acquire our common stock. 

On October 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS 123 (revised), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123(R»). 
This standard revises SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes Accounting 
Principles Board (APB) Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Under SFAS 123(R), the 
Company is required to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for stock options and 
similar awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award and recognize this cost in the income statement 
over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. 

We adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective method. Under this transition method, stock­
based compensation expense for the year ended September 30, 2006 included: (i) compensation expense for all 
stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of October I, 2005, based on the 
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123; and (Ii) compensation 
expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted subsequent to October I, 2005, based on the grant­
date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). We recognize compensation 
expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. The impact of adoption on total 
stock-based compensation expense included in our statement of income for the year ended September 30, 2006 
was $0.4 million and was recorded as a component of operation and maintenance expense. In accordance with 
the modified prospective method, financial results for prior periods have not been restated. 

Prior to October I, 2005, we accounted for these plans under the intrinsic-value method described in 
APB Opinion 25, as permitted by SFAS 123. Under this method, no compensation cost for stock options was 
recognized for stock-option awards granted at or above fair-market value. Awards of restricted stock were 
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valued at the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The unearned compensation 
was amortized as a component of operation and maintenance expense over the vesting period of the restricted 
stock. 

Total stock-based compensation expense for the year ended September 30, 2006 was $9.4 million as 
compared to $3.9 million and $1.6 million for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004. Had 
compensation expense for our stock-based awards been recognized as prescribed by SFAS 123, our net income 
and earnings per share for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 would have been impacted as shown 
in the following table: 

Year Ended 
September 30 

2005 2004
 
(In thousands, except per
 

share data)
 

Net income ­ as reported 

Restricted stock compensation expense included in income

Total stock-based employee compensation expense determ
fair-value- based method for all awards, net of taxes 

, net of tax 

ined under 
~ 

. 

. 

. 

$135,785 

2,431 

(3,161) 

$86,227 

978 

(2,092) 

Net income ­ pro forma . $135,055 $85,113 

Earnings per share: 

Basic earnings per share ­ as reported $ 1.73 $ 1.60 

Basic earnings per share ­ pro forma . $ 1.72 $ 1.57 

Diluted earnings per share ­ as reported . $ 1.72 $ 1.58 

Diluted earnings per share ­ pro forma . $ 1.71 $ 1.56 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss - Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, as of 
September 30, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following unrealized gains (losses): 

September 30 
2006 2005 

(In thousands) 

Unrealized holding gains on investments . $ 1,566 $ 684 

Treasury lock agreements . (20,540) (23,982) 

Cash flow hedges . (24,876) 19,957 

$(43,850) $ (3,341) 

Recent accounting pronouncements - In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 155, Accounting for 
Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments, which amends SPAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and 
Hedging Activities and SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguish­
ments of Liabilities. SFAS 155 (a) permits fair value remeasurement for any hybrid financial instrument that 
contains an embedded derivative that otherwise would require bifurcation, (b) clarifies which interest-only strips 
and principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of SFAS 133, (c) establishes a requirement to 
evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to identify interests that are freestanding derivatives or that are 
hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation, (d) clarifies that 
concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives and (e) amends SFAS 140 
to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial instrument 
that pertains to a beneficial interest other than another derivative financial instrument. SFAS 155 is effective for 

80 



ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
 

all financial instruments acquired or issued by us after October 1, 2006 and the adoption of this standard is not 
expected to have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 156, Accounting for Servicing Financial Assets, which amends 
SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. 
SFAS 156 (a) revises guidance on when a servicing asset and servicing liability should be recognized, 
(b) requires all separately recognized servicing assets and servicing liabilities to be initially measured at fair 
value, if practicable, (c) permits an entity to choose to measure servicing assets and servicing liabilities under 
the amortization method or fair value measurement method, (d) at initial adoption, permits a one-time 
reclassification of available-for-sale securities to trading securities by entities with recognized servicing rights, 
without calling into question the treatment of other available-for-sale securities under SFAS 115, provided that 
the available-for-sale securities are identified as offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair value of 
servicing assets or liabilities that the servicer elects to subsequently measure at fair value and (e) requires 
separate presentation of servicing assets and servicing liabilities subsequently measured at fair value in the 
statement of financial position and additional footnote disclosure. We will be required to apply the provisions 
of SFAS 156 beginning October 1, 2006 and such application is expected not to have a material impact on our 
financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) ratified EITF Issue No. 06-3, How Taxes Collected 
from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That 
Is, Gross versus Net Presentation). The EITF reached a consensus that the scope of this issue includes any tax 
assessed by a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a 
seller and a customer and may include sales, use, value added and some excise taxes. The EITF also reached a 
consensus that entities may present these taxes on either a gross or net basis. If the taxes are significant, an 
entity should disclose its policy of presenting taxes and the amounts of taxes that are recognized on a gross 
basis in interim and annual financial statements. We will be required to apply the provisions of EITF 06-3 
beginning January I, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact this standard may have on our results of 
operations. 

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an 
interpretation of FASB Statement No. J09 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income 
taxes by establishing standards for measurement and recognition in financial statements of positions taken by 
an entity in its income tax returns. This interpretation also provides guidance on de-recognition of income tax 
assets and liabilities, classification of current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities, accounting for 
interest and penalties, accounting for income taxes in interim periods and income tax disclosures. We will be 
required to apply the provisions of FIN 48 beginning October 1, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact 
this standard may have on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS 157 defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements 
required under other accounting pronouncements but does not change existing guidance as to whether or not 
an instrument is carried at fair value. We will be required to apply the provisions of SFAS 157 beginning 
October I, 2008. We are currently evaluating the impact this standard may have on our financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 158, Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and 
Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R). The new standard 
makes a significant change to the existing rules by requiring recognition in the balance sheet of the overfunded 
or underfunded positions of defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans, along with a corresponding 
noncash, after-tax adjustment to stockholders' equity. Additionally, this standard requires that the measurement 
date must correspond to the fiscal year end balance sheet date. This standard does not change how net periodic 
pension and postretirement cost or the projected benefit obligation is determined. The balance sheet recognition 
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guidance of this standard will be effective for fiscal 2007 and the measurement date provisions of this guidance 
can be adopted as late as fiscal 2008 for our company. 

3. Acquisitions 

TKU Gas Company 

In October 2004, we completed our acquisition of the natural gas distribution and pipeline operations of 
TXU Gas Company. The purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition was approximately $1.9 billion (after 
closing adjustments and before transaction costs and expenses), which we paid in cash. We did not assume 
any indebtedness of TXU Gas in connection with the acquisition. The purchase was accounted for as an asset 
purchase. We funded the purchase price for the TXU Gas acquisition with approximately $235.7 million in net 
proceeds from our offering of approximately 9.9 million shares of common stock, which we completed in July 
2004, and approximately $1.7 billion in net proceeds from our issuance in October 2004 of commercial paper 
backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into in September 2004 to 
provide bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. In October 2004, we paid off the outstanding 
commercial paper used to fund the acquisition through the issuance of senior unsecured notes in October 
2004, which generated net proceeds of approximately $1.39 billion, and the sale of 16.1 million shares of 
common stock in October 2004, which generated net proceeds of $381.6 million. 

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on October 1, 
2004 (in thousands): 

Cash purchase price . $1,908,999 
Transaction costs and expenses . 7,697 

Total purchase price . $1,916,696 

Net property, plant and equipment . $1,471,643 
Accounts receivable . 75,811 
Gas stored underground . 137,877 
Other current assets . 22,094 
Goodwill . 493,603 
Deferred charges and other assets . 42,069 
Deferred income taxes . 7,925 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . (51,644) 
Other current liabilities . (77,756) 
Regulatory cost of removal obligation . (138,991) 
Deferred credits and other liabilities . (65,935) 

Total . $1,916,696 

The sale of the TXU Gas operations was held through a competitive bid process. We believe the resulting 
goodwill is recoverable given the expected synergies we can achieve as a result of the TXU Gas acquisition. To 
that end, the TXU Gas acquisition significantly expands our existing utility operations in Texas. The North Texas 
operations of TXU Gas bridge our geographic operations between our existing utility operations in West Texas and 
Louisiana. TXU Gas's headquarters and service area are centered in Dallas, Texas, which is also the location of our 
corporate headquarters. Further, the addition of the regulated pipelines and storage operations in North Texas may 
create additional gas marketing and other opportunities for our non-regulated subsidiaries, which include gas 
marketing and storage operations. The goodwill generated in the acquisition is deductible for tax purposes. 

At closing of the acquisition, TXU Gas and some of its affiliates entered into transitional services 
agreements with us to provide call center, meter reading, customer billing, collections, information reporting, 
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software, accounting, treasury, administrative and other services to the Mid-Tex Division. Some of these 
services were outsourced by TXU Gas to Capgemini Energy L.P. However, in November 2004, we entered 
into an agreement with Capgemini Energy L.P. whereby we assumed the operations of the Waco, Texas call 
center in April 2005 and purchased from Capgemini Energy L.P. all of the related call center assets in October 
2005. The remaining transitional services agreements expired in September 2005 and were not renewed as we 
in-sourced all of these functions, effective October 2005. 

The table below reflects the unaudited pro forma results of the Company and TXU Gas for the year 
ended September 30, 2004 as if the acquisition and related financing had taken place at the beginning of fiscal 
2004 (in thousands, except per share data): 

Year Ended 
September 30, 

2004 

Operating revenue	 . $4,174,500 

Net income	 . 118,746 

Net income per diluted share	 . $ 1.68 

ComFurT Gas Inc. 

Effective March 2004, we completed the acquisition of the natural gas distribution assets of CornFurT 
Gas Inc., a privately-held natural gas utility and propane distributor based in Buena Vista, Colorado, for 
approximately $2.0 million in cash. This company served approximately 1,800 natural gas utility customers. 
The acquisition enabled us to expand our contiguous service area in our Colorado-Kansas division. Unaudited 
pro forma results of the Company and CornFurT have not been presented as the acquisition was not material 
to our financial position or results of operations. 

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets were comprised of the following as of September 30, 2006 and 2005. 

September 30
 
2006 2005
 

(In thousands)
 

Goodwill. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $735,369 $734,280
 

Intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,152 3,507
 

Total. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $738,521 $737,787
 

The following presents our goodwill balance allocated by segment and changes in the balance for the 
year ended September 30, 2006: 

Utility 
Segment 

Natural Gas 
Marketing 
Segment 

Pipeline and 
Storage 
Segment 

Other 
Nonutility 
Segment Total 

(In thousands) 

Balance as of September 30, 2005 .. $566,800 $24,282 $143,198 $­ $734,280 

Deferr~d. t~x aR~ustments on prior 
acqUISItIOns ............... 421 668 1,089 

Balance as of September 30, 2006 .. $567,221 $24,282 $143,866 $- $735,369 

(I)	 During the preparation of the fiscal 2006 tax provision, we adjusted certain deferred taxes recorded in con­
nection with a fiscal 2001 and a fiscal 2004 acquisitions which resulted in an increase to goodwill and net 
deferred tax liabilities of $1.1 million. 
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Information regarding our intangible assets is included in the following table. As of September 30, 2006 
and 2005, we had no indefinite-lived intangible assets. 

September 30, 2006 September 30, 2005 
Useful Gross Gross 
Life 

(Years) 
Carrying 
Amount 

Accumulated 
Amortization Net--

Carrying 
Amount---

Accumulated 
Amortization Net 

(In thousands) 

Customer contracts . 10 $6,754 $(3,602) $3,152 $6,521 $(3,014) $3,507 

The following table presents actual amortization expense recognized during 2006 and an estimate of 
future amortization expense based upon our intangible assets at September 30, 2006. 

Amortization expense (in thousands): 

Actual for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2006 $588 

Estimated for the fiscal year ending: 

September 30, 2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 608 

September 30, 2008 608 

September 30, 2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 608 

September 30, 20 10 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 608 

September 30, 201 I 608 

5. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 

We conduct risk management activities through both our utility and natural gas marketing segments. 
These activities are described in more detail in Note 2. Also, as discussed in Note 2, we record our derivatives 
as a component of risk management assets and liabilities, which are classified as current or noncurrent based 
upon the anticipated settlement date of the underlying derivative. Our determination of the fair value of these 
derivative financial instruments reflects the estimated amounts that we would receive or pay to terminate or 
close the contracts at the reporting date, taking into account the current unrealized gains and losses on open 
contracts. In our determination of fair value, we consider various factors, including closing exchange and 
over-the-counter quotations, time value and volatility factors underlying the contracts. These risk management 
assets and liabilities are subject to continuing market risk until the underlying derivative contracts are settled. 
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The following table shows the fair values of our risk management assets and liabilities by segment at
 
September 30, 2006 and 2005: 

Natural Gas 
Utility Marketing Total 

(In thousands) 

September 30, 2006: 

Assets from risk management activities, current . $ $ 12,553 $ 12,553 

Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent . 6,186 6,186 

Liabilities from risk management activities, current . (27,209) (3,460) (30,669) 

Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent . (276) (276) 

Net assets (liabilities) . $(27,209) $ 15,003 $ (12,206) 

September 30, 2005: 

Assets from risk management activities, current. . . . . . . . . . .. $ 93,310 $ 14,603 $107,913 

Assets from risk management activities, noncurrent . 735 735 

Liabilities from risk management activities, current . (61,920) (61,920) 

Liabilities from risk management activities, noncurrent . (15,316) (15,316) 

Net assets (liabilities) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 93,310 $(61,898) $ 31,412 

Utility Hedging Activities 

We use a combination of storage, fixed physical contracts and fixed financial contracts to partially 
insulate us and our customers against gas price volatility during the winter heating season. For the 2005-2006 
heating season, we hedged approximately 46 percent of our anticipated winter flowing gas requirements at a 
weighted average cost of approximately $9.06 per Mcf. 

Our utility hedging activities also includes the fair value of our treasury lock agreements which are 
described in further detail below. 

Nonutility Hedging Activities 

For the year ended September 30, 2006, the change in the deferred hedging position in accumulated other 
comprehensive loss was attributable to decreases in future commodity prices relative to the commodity prices 
stipulated in the derivative contracts totaling $51.0 million and the recognition of $6.2 million in net deferred 
hedging losses in net income when the derivatives matured according to their terms. The net deferred hedging 
losses associated with open cash flow hedges remain subject to market price fluctuations until the positions 
are either settled under the terms of the hedge contracts or terminated prior to settlement. Substantially all of 
the deferred hedging loss as of September 30, 2006 is expected to be recognized in net income within the next 
fiscal year. 

Under our risk management policies, we seek to match our financial derivative positions to our physical 
storage positions as well as our expected current and future sales and purchase obligations to maintain no open 
positions at the end of each trading day. The determination of our net open position as of any day, however, 
requires us to make assumptions as to future circumstances, including the use of gas by our customers in 
relation to our anticipated storage and market positions. Because the price risk associated with any net open 
position at the end of each day may increase if the assumptions are not realized, we review these assumptions 
as part of our daily monitoring activities. We can also be affected by intraday fluctuations of gas prices, since 
the price of natural gas purchased or sold for future delivery earlier in the day may not be hedged until later 
in the day. At times, limited net open positions related to our existing and anticipated commitments may occur. 
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At the close of business on September 30, 2006, AEH had a net open position (including existing storage) of 
0.2 Bcf. 

Treasury Activities 

During fiscal 2004, we entered into four Treasury lock agreements to fix the Treasury yield component of 
the interest cost of financing associated with the-then anticipated issuance of $875 million of long-term debt 
subsequent to September 30, 2004. This long-term debt was issued in October 2004 and was used to repay a 
portion of the commercial paper used to fund the TXU Gas acquisition, as described in Note 3. 

We designated these Treasury lock agreements as cash flow hedges of an anticipated transaction. 
Accordingly, to the extent effective, unrealized gains and losses associated with the Treasury locks were 
recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. These Treasury lock agreements were 
settled in October 2004 with a net $43.8 million payment to the counterparties. Approximately $11.6 million 
of the $43.8 million obligation is being recognized as a component of interest expense over a five year period 
from the date of settlement, and the remaining amount, approximately $32.2 million, is being recognized as a 
component of interest expense over a ten year period from the date of settlement. 

The following table presents our hedging transactions that were recorded to other comprehensive income 
(loss), net of taxes during the years ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. 

Year Ended 
September 30 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

Increase (decrease) in fair value: 
Treasury lock agreements . $ $ (5,869) 

Forward commodity contracts . (51,014) 1,988 

Recognition of (gains) losses in earnings due to settlements: 
Treasury lock agreements . 3,442 3,155 

Forward commodity contracts . 6,181 10,386 

Total other comprehensive income (loss) from hedging, net of taxel ) •...••.. $(41,391 ) $ 9,660 

(1)	 Utilizing an income tax rate of approximately 38 percent comprised of the effective rates in each taxing 
jurisdiction. 

The following amounts, net of deferred taxes, represent the expected recognition into earnings for our 
derivative instruments, based upon the fair values of these derivatives as of September 30, 2006: 

Treasury 
Lock Forward 

Agreements Contracts Total 
(In thousands) 

2007 . $ (3,442) $(24,100) $(27,542) 

2008 . (3,442) (732) (4,174) 

2009 . (3,442) (38) (3,480) 

2010 . (2,123) (6) (2,129) 

2011 . (2,003) (2,003) 

Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,088) (6,088) 

Total . $(20,540) $(24,876) $(45,416) 
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6. Debt 

Long-term debt 

Long-term debt at September 30, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following: 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

Unsecured floating rate Senior Notes, due October 2007 . $ 300,000 $ 300,000 

Unsecured 4.00% Senior Notes, due 2009 . 400,000 400,000 

Unsecured 7.375% Senior Notes, due 2011 . 350,000 350,000 

Unsecured 10% Notes, due 2011 '" . 2,303 2,303 

Unsecured 5.125% Senior Notes, due 2013 . 250,000 250,000 

Unsecured 4.95% Senior Notes, due 2014 . 500,000 500,000 

Unsecured 5.95% Senior Notes, due 2034 . 200,000 200,000 
Medium term notes 

Series A, 1995-2,6.27%, due 2010 . 10,000 10,000 

Series A, 1995-1, 6.67%, due 2025 . 10,000 10,000 
Unsecured 6.75% Debentures, due 2028 . 150,000 150,000 

First Mortgage Bonds Series P, 10.43% due 2013 . 8,750 10,000 

Rental property, propane and other term notes due in installments 
through 2013 . 5,825 7,839 

Total long-term debt . 2,186,878 2,190,142 
Less: 

Original issue discount on unsecured senior notes and debentures . (3,330) (3,774) 

Current maturities . (3,186) (3,264) 

$2,180,362 $2,183,104 

In December 2001, we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
to issue, from time to time, up to $600.0 million in new common stock and/or debt. The registration statement 
was declared effective by the SEC in January 2002. In July 2004, we sold 9.9 million shares of our common 
stock. We used the net proceeds from this offering, together with borrowings under a bridge financing facility 
to consummate the acquisition of TXU Gas operations and pay related fees and expenses. As a result of the 
offering, we exhausted the remaining availability under our December 2001 registration statement. 

In August 2004, we filed another registration statement with the SEC, which was declared effective by 
the SEC in September 2004, under which we could issue, from time to time, up to $2.2 billion in new 
common stock and/or debt. In October 2004, we sold 16.1 million common shares, including the underwriters' 
exercise of their overallotment option, under the new registration statement, generating net proceeds of 
$382.5 million before other offering costs. Additionally, we issued senior unsecured debt under the registration 
statement consisting of $400 million of 4.00% Senior Notes due 2009, $500 million of 4.95% Senior Notes 
due 2014, $200 million of 5.95% Senior Notes due 2034 and $300 million of floating rate Senior Notes due 
2007. The floating rate notes bear interest at a rate equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 0.375 percent 
per year. At September 30, 2006, the interest rate on our floating rate debt was 5.882 percent. The net 
proceeds from the sale of these senior notes were $1.39 billion. 

The net proceeds from the October 2004 common stock and senior notes offerings, combined with the net 
proceeds from our July 2004 offering were used to payoff the $1.7 billion in outstanding commercial paper 
backstopped by a senior unsecured revolving credit agreement, which we entered into in September 2004 for 
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bridge financing for the TXU Gas acquisition. Also, as a result of this refinancing in October 2004, we 
canceled the senior unsecured revolving credit facility. After issuing the debt and equity in October 2004 we 
had approximately $401.5 million in availability remaining under the registration statement. However, we are 
no longer allowed to issue securities under that registration statement by applicable state regulatory commis­
sions. See further discussion in the Liquidity section of Management's Discussion and Analysis. 

In June 2005, we elected to utilize excess cash to repay $72.5 million in principal on five series of our 
First Mortgage Bonds prior to their scheduled maturity. In connection with the repayment, we paid a 
$25.0 million make-whole premium in accordance with the terms of the agreements and accrued interest of 
approximately $1.0 million. In accordance with regulatory requirements, the premium has been deferred and 
will be recognized over the remaining original lives of the First Mortgage Bonds that were repaid. 

Short-term debt 

At September 30,2006 and 2005, there was $379.3 million and $129.9 million outstanding under our 
commercial paper program and $3.1 million and $14.9 million outstanding under our bank credit facilities. As 
of September 30, 2006, our commercial paper had maturities of less than three months, with interest rates 
ranging from 5047 percent to 5.51 percent. 

Credit facilities 

We maintain both committed and uncommitted credit facilities. Borrowings under our uncommitted credit 
facilities are made on a when-and-as-needed basis at the discretion of the bank. Our credit capacity and the 
amount of unused borrowing capacity are affected by the seasonal nature of the natural gas business and our 
short-term borrowing requirements, which are typically highest during colder winter months. Our working 
capital needs can vary significantly due to changes in the price of natural gas charged by suppliers and the 
increased gas supplies required to meet customers' needs during periods of cold weather. 

Committed credit facilities 

As of September 30, 2006, we had three short-term committed revolving credit facilities totaling 
$918 million. The first facility is a three-year unsecured facility, expiring October 2008, for $600 million that 
bears interest at a base rate or at the LIBOR rate for the applicable interest period, plus from 0040 percent to 
1.00 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings, and serves as a backup liquidity facility for our 
$600 million commercial paper program. At September 30, 2006, there was $379.3 million outstanding under 
our commercial paper program. 

We have a second unsecured facility in place which is a 364-day facility for $300 million that bears 
interest at a base rate or the LIBOR rate for the applicable interest period, plus from 0.30 percent to 
0.75 percent, based on the Company's credit ratings. This facility expired in November 2006 and was renewed 
for one year with no material changes to its terms and pricing. At September 30, 2006, there were no 
borrowings under this facility. 

We have a third unsecured facility in place for $18 million that bears interest at the Federal Funds rate 
plus 0.5 percent. This facility expired in March 2006 and was renewed for one year with no material changes 
to its terms and pricing. At September 30, 2006, there was $3.1 million outstanding under this facility. 

The availability of funds under our credit facilities is subject to conditions specified in the respective 
credit agreements, all of which we currently satisfy. These conditions include our compliance with financial 
covenants and the continued accuracy of representations and warranties contained in these agreements. We are 
required by the financial covenants in our revolving credit facilities to maintain, at the end of each fiscal 
quarter, a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of no greater than 70 percent. At September 30, 2006, our 

88 



ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
 

total-debt-to-total-capitalization ratio, as defined, was 63 percent. In addition, both the interest margin over the 
Eurodollar rate and the fee that we pay on unused amounts under our revolving credit facilities are subject to 
adjustment depending upon our credit ratings. The revolving credit facilities each contain the same limitation 
with respect to our total-debt to-total capitalization ratio. 

Uncommitted credit facilities 

In November 2005, AEM amended its $250 million uncommitted demand working capital credit facility 
to increase the amount of credit available from $250 million to a maximum of $580 million. In March 2006, 
AEM amended and extended this uncommitted demand working capital credit facility to March 2007. 

Borrowings under the amended credit facility can be made either as revolving loans or offshore rate loans. 
Revolving loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate (defined as the higher of 
0.50 percent per annum above the Federal Funds rate or the lender's prime rate) plus 0.25 percent. Offshore rate 
loan borrowings will bear interest at a floating rate equal to a base rate based upon LffiOR for the applicable 
interest period, plus an applicable margin, ranging from 1.25 percent to 1.625 percent per annum, depending on 
the excess tangible net worth of AEM, as defined in the credit facility. Borrowings drawn down under letters of 
credit issued by the banks will bear interest at a floating rate equal to the base rate, as defined above, plus an 
applicable margin, which will range from 1.00 percent to 1.875 percent per annum, depending on the excess 
tangible net worth of AEM and whether the letters of credit are swap-related standby letters of credit. 

AEM is required by the financial covenants in the credit facility to maintain a maximum ratio of total 
liabilities to tangible net worth of 5 to 1, along with minimum levels of net working capital ranging from 
$20 million to $120 million. Additionally, AEM must maintain a minimum tangible net worth ranging from 
$21 million to $121 million, and must not have a maximum cumulative loss from March 30, 2005 exceeding 
$4 million to $23 million, depending on the total amount of borrowing elected from time to time by AEM. At 
September 30, 2006, AEM's ratio of total liabilities to tangible net worth, as defined, was 1.24 to 1. 

At September 30, 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under this credit facility. However, at 
September 30, 2006, AEM letters of credit totaling $96.1 million had been issued under the facility, which 
reduced the amount available by a corresponding amount. The amount available under this credit facility is 
also limited by various covenants, including covenants based on working capital. Under the most restrictive 
covenant, the amount available to AEM under this credit facility was $53.9 million at September 30, 2006. 
This line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of the assets of AEM and is guaranteed by AEH. 

We also have an unsecured short-term uncommitted credit line for $25 million that is used for working 
capital and letter~of~credit purposes. There were no borrowings under this uncommitted credit facility at 
September 30, 2006, but letters of credit reduced the amount available by $4.5 million. This uncommitted line 
is renewed or renegotiated at least annually with varying terms, and we pay no fee for the availability of the 
line. Borrowings under this line are made on a when-and-as-available basis at the discretion of the bank. 

AEH, the parent company of AEM, has a $100 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility 
with the Company which bears interest at the One Month LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. This facility has been 
approved by our state regulators through December 31, 2006. At September 30, 2006, there were no 
borrowings outstanding under this credit facility. In July 2006, this facility was renewed for one year with no 
material changes to its terms. 

In addition, AEM has a $120 million intercompany uncommitted demand credit facility with AEH for its 
nonutility business which bears interest at the One Month LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. Any outstanding amounts 
under this facility are subordinated to AEM's $580 million unconunitted demand credit facility described 
above. This facility is used to supplement AEM's $580 million credit facility. At September 30, 2006, there 
were no borrowings outstanding under this credit facility. In July 2006, this facility was renewed for one year 
with no material changes to its terms. 
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Debt Covenants 

We have other covenants in addition to those described above. Our Series P First Mortgage Bonds contain 
provisions that allow us to prepay the outstanding balance in whole at any time, after November 2007, subject 
to a prepayment premium. The First Mortgage Bonds provide for certain cash flow requirements and 
restrictions on additional indebtedness, sale of assets and payment of dividends. Under the most restrictive of 
such covenants, cumulative cash dividends paid after December 31, 1985 may not exceed the sum of 
accumulated net income for periods after December 31, 1985 plus $9.0 million. At September 30, 2006 
approximately $203.3 million of retained earnings was unrestricted with respect to the payment of dividends. 

As of September 30, 2006, a portion of the Mid-States Division utility plant assets, totaling $394.2 million, 
was subject to a lien under the Indenture of Mortgage of the Series P First Mortgage Bonds. 

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of September 30, 2006. If we do not comply 
with our debt covenants, we may be required to repay our outstanding balances on demand, provide additional 
collateral or take other corrective actions. Our two public debt indentures relating to our senior notes and 
debentures, as well as both our revolving credit agreements, each contain a default provision that is triggered 
if outstanding indebtedness arising out of any other credit agreements in amounts ranging from in excess of 
$15 million to in excess of $100 million becomes due by acceleration or is not paid at maturity. In addition, 
AEM's credit agreement contains a cross-default provision whereby AEM would be in default if it defaults on 
other indebtedness, as defined, by at least $250 thousand in the aggregate. Additionally, this agreement 
contains a provision that would limit the amount of credit available if Atmos were downgraded below an S&P 
rating of BBB and a Moody's rating of Baa2. 

Except as described above, we have no triggering events in our debt instruments that are tied to changes 
in specified credit ratings or stock price, nor have we entered into any transactions that would require us to 
issue equity based on our credit rating or other triggering events. 

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms and remaining average 
maturities, the fair value of long-term debt at September 30, 2006 and 2005 is estimated, using discounted 
cash flow analysis, to be $2,053.9 million and $2,078.3 million. 

Maturities of long-term debt at September 30, 2006 were as follows (in thousands): 

2007 . $ 3,186 

2008 . 303,831 

2009 " . 2,034 

2010 . 401,381 

2011 . 361,381 

Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,115,065 

$2,186,878 

7. Shareholders' Equity 

Stock Issuances 

During the years ended September 30,2006,2005 and 2004 we issued 1,200,115, 17,739,691 and 
11,323,925 shares of common stock. 

In February 2005, our shareholders approved an amendment to our Articles of Incorporation to increase 
the number of authorized shares from 100 million to 200 million. 
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In October 2004, we completed the public offering of 16.1 million shares of our common stock including 
the underwriters' exercise of their overallotment option of 2.1 million shares. The offering was priced at 
$24.75 and generated net proceeds of approximately $381.6 million. We used the net proceeds from this 
offering, together with net proceeds of $235.7 million from a public offering we conducted in July 2004 and 
$1.39 billion received from the issuance of senior unsecured notes, to repay the $1.7 billion in outstanding 
commercial paper described in Note 3 and fund the remainder of the purchase price for the TXU Gas 
acquisition. 

Shareholder Rights Plan 

In November 1997, our Board of Directors declared a dividend distribution of one right for each 
outstanding share of our common stock to shareholders of record at the close of business on May 10, 1998. 
Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase from us a one-tenth share of our common stock at a 
purchase price of $8.00 per share, subject to adjustment. The description and terms of the rights are set forth 
in a rights agreement between us and the rights agent. 

Subject to exceptions specified in the rights agreement, the rights will separate from our common stock 
and a distribution date will occur upon the earlier of: 

• ten business days following a public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or associated 
persons has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15 percent or more of 
the outstanding shares of our common stock, other than as a result of repurchases of stock by us or 
specified inadvertent actions by institutional or other shareholders; 

• ten business days, or such later date as our Board of Directors shall determine, following the 
commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in a person or group having 
acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15 percent or more of the outstanding 
shares of our common stock; or 

• ten business days after our Board of Directors shall declare any person to be an adverse person within 
the meaning of the rights plan. 

The rights expire on May 10, 2008, unless extended prior thereto by our board of directors or earlier if 
redeemed by us. The rights will not have any voting rights. The exercise price payable and the number of 
shares of our common stock or other securities or property issuable upon exercise of the rights are subject to 
adjustment from time to time to prevent dilution. We issue rights when we issue our common stock until the 
rights have separated from the common stock. After the rights have separated from the common stock, we 
may issue additional rights if the board of directors deems such issuance to be necessary or appropriate. The 
rights have "anti-takeover" effects and may cause substantial dilution to a person or entity that attempts to 
acquire us on terms not approved by our board of directors except pursuant to an offer conditioned upon a 
substantial number of rights being acquired. The rights should not interfere with any merger or other business 
combination approved by our board of directors because, prior to the time that the rights become exercisable 
or transferable, we can redeem the rights at $.01 per right. 

Other Agreements 

In connection with our Mississippi Valley Gas Company acquisition in December 2002, we issued shares 
of common stock under an exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. In the 
transaction, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the former stockholders of Mississippi Valley 
Gas Company that required us, on no more than two occasions, and with some limitations, to file a registration 
statement under the Securities Act within 60 days of their request for an offering designed to achieve a wide 
distribution of shares through underwriters selected by us. We also granted rights to these shareholders, subject 
to some limitations, to participate in future registered offerings of our securities until December 3, 2005. No 
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registration rights issued to the former stockholders of MVG, as discussed above, were exercised prior to the 
expiration of the registration rights agreement on December 3, 2005. The former stockholders of MVG also 
agreed, for up to five years from the closing of the acquisition, or until December 3, 2007, and with some 
exceptions, not to sell or transfer shares representing more than 1 percent of our total outstanding voting 
securities to any person or group or any shares to a person or group who would hold more than 9.9 percent of 
our total outstanding voting securities after the sale or transfer. This restriction, and other agreed restrictions 
on the ability of these shareholders to acquire additional shares, participate in proxy solicitations or act to seek 
control, may be deemed to have an "anti-takeover" effect. 

8. Stock and Other Compensation Plans 

Stock~Based Compensation Plans 

1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan 

In August 1998, the Board of Directors approved and adopted the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which 
became effective in October 1998 after approval by our shareholders. The Long-Term Incentive Plan is a 
comprehensive, long-term incentive compensation plan providing for discretionary awards of incentive stock 
options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, 
performance-based restricted stock units and stock units to certain employees and non-employee directors of 
Atmos and its subsidiaries. The objectives of this plan include attracting and retaining the best personnel, 
providing for additional performance incentives and promoting our success by providing employees with the 
opportunity to acquire common stock. We are authorized to grant awards for up to a maximum of four million 
shares of common stock under this plan subject to certain adjustment provisions. As of September 30, 2006, 
non-qualified stock options, bonus stock, time-lapse restricted stock, performance-based restricted stock units 
and stock units had been issued under this plan, and 731,745 shares were available for future issuance. The 
option price of the stock options issued under this plan is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of 
grant. These stock options expire 10 years from the date of the grant and vest annually over a service period 
ranging from one to three years. 

We used the Black-Scholes pricing model to estimate the fair value of each option granted with the 
following weighted average assumptions for 2006, 2005 and 2004: 

Year Ended 
September 30 

2006 2005 2004 

Valuation Assumptions(1) 

Expected Life (years/ 2
) ................•..........•..•.........• 7 7 7
 

Interest rate(3) . 4.6% 4.2% 4.3%
 

Volatility(4) . 20.3% 21.3% 22.8%
 

Dividend yield . 4.8% 4.8% 4.8%
 

(I)	 Beginning on the date of adoption of SFAS 123(R), forfeitures are estimated based on historical experi­
ence. Prior to the date of adoption, forfeitures were recorded as they occurred. 

(2)	 The expected life of stock options is estimated based on historical experience. 

(3)	 The interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturity interest rate whose term is consistent with 
the expected life of the stock options. 

(4)	 The volatility is estimated based on historical and current stock data for the Company. 
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A summary of activity for grants of stock options under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan follows: 

2006 2005 2004 
Weighted Weighted Weighted 
Average Average Average 

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise 
Options Price Options Price Options Price 

Outstanding at beginning of year . . .. 964,704 $22.20 1,492,177 $22.10 1,827,310 $21.91 

Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 93,196 26.19 23,432 25.95 8,118 24.44 

Exercised. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (40,582) 22.21 (547,907) 22.08 (342,252) 20.91 

Forfeited _---'-°_6_6) 21.23 (2,998) 22.81 __(,--99_9) 22.49 

Outstanding at end of year( l) • . . . . •. 1,017,152 $22.57 964,704 $22.20 1,492,177 $22.10 

Exercisable at end of year(2) . . . . . . .. 991,778 $22.48 798,574 $22.22 1,006,859 $22.23 

(I) The weighted-average remaining contractual life for outstanding options was 5.4 years, 6.0 years, and 
7.0 years for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004. The aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding options was 
$3.7 million, $3.5 million and $5.4 million for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004. 

(2) The weighted-average remaining contractual life for exercisable options was 5.3 years, 5.7 years, and 
6.5 years for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004. The aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable options was 
$3.6 million, $2.9 million and $3.7 million for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004. 

Information about outstanding and exercisable options under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as of 
September 30, 2006, follows: 

Options Outstanding 
Options Exercisable Weighted 

Average Weighted Weighted 
Remaining Average Average 

Number of Contractual Exercise Number of Exercise 
Range of Exercise Prices Options Life (In Years) Price Options Price 

$15.65 to $20.24 ............... 64,833 3.4 $15.66 64,833 $15.66
 
$20.25 to $22.99 ............... 547,414 5.8 $21.87 547,414 $21.87
 

$23.00 to $26.19 ............... 404,905 5.1 $24.62 379,531 $24.53
 

$15.65 to $26.19 ............... 1,017,152 5.4 $22.57 991,778 $22.48
 

The stock options had a weighted average fair value per share on the date of grant of $3.74 in 2006, 
$3.69 in 2005 and $3.82 in 2004. Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options during the years ended 
September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $0.9 million, $12.1 million and $7.2 million. The associated income 
tax benefit from stock options exercised during the years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were less 
than $0.1 million, $1.3 million and $0.6 million. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years 
ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were less than $0.1 million, $2.0 million and $1.2 million. 

As of September 30, 2006, there was less than $0.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost 
related to nonvested stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 
1.3 years. 

Restricted Stock Plans 

As noted above, the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan provides for discretionary awards of restricted stock 
to help attract, retain and reward employees and non-employee directors of Atmos and its subsidiaries. Certain 
of these awards vest based upon the passage of time and other awards vest based upon the passage of time 
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and the achievement of specified performance targets. The associated expense is recognized ratably over the 
vesting period. The following summarizes information regarding the restricted stock plan: 

2006 2005 2004 
Weighted Weighted Weighted 

Number of Average 
Restricted Grant*Date 

Number of Average 
Restricted Grant-Date 

Number of Average 
Restricted Grant-Date 

Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value 

Nonvested at beginning of year ... 592,490 $25.32 345,519 $23.72 107,837 $21.19 

Granted ................... 440,016 26.80 294,834 26.78 240,686 24.78 

Vested .................... (265,546) 24.42 (36,106) 21.97 (2,175) 15.65 

Forfeited .................. (20,184) 26.95 (l1,757) 24.70 -­ (829) 23.83 --
Nonvested at end of year ........ 746,776 $26.49 592,490 $25.32 345,519 $23.72 

As of September 30, 2006, there was $12.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to 
nonvested restricted shares granted under the 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. That cost is expected to be 
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years. The fair value of restricted stock vested during the 
years ended September 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $6.5 million, $0.8 million and less than $0.1 million. 

Other Plans 

Direct Stock Purchase Plan 

We maintain a Direct Stock Purchase Plan which allows participants to have all or part of their cash 
dividends paid quarterly in additional shares of our common stock. Through March 2004, participants were 
permitted to reinvest their cash dividends at a three percent discount from market prices. Effective April 2004, 
the three percent discount on reinvested dividends was eliminated and the minimum initial investment required 
to join the plan was increased to $1,250. Direct Stock Purchase Plan participants may purchase additional 
shares of Atmos common stock as often as weekly with voluntary cash payments of at least $25, up to an 
annual maximum of $100,000. 

Outside Directors Stock-For-Fee Plan 

In November 1994, the Board adopted the Outside Directors Stock-for-Fee Plan which was approved by 
the shareholders of Atmos in February 1995 and was amended and restated in November 1997. The plan 
permits non-employee directors to receive all or part of their annual retainer and meeting fees in stock rather 
than in cash. 

Equity Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors 

In November 1998, the Board of Directors adopted the Equity Incentive and Deferred Compensation Plan 
for Non-Employee Directors which was approved by the shareholders of Atmos in February 1999. This plan 
amended the Atmos Energy Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside Directors adopted by the 
Company in May 1990 and replaced the pension payable under the Company's Retirement Plan for Non­
Employee Directors. The plan provides non-employee directors of Atmos with the opportunity to defer receipt, 
until retirement, of compensation for services rendered to the Company, invest deferred compensation into 
either a cash account or a stock account and to receive an annual grant of share units for each year of service 
on the Board. 

Other Discretionary Compensation Plans 

We created the Variable Pay Plan in fiscal 1999 for our utility segment employees to give each employee 
an opportunity to share in the success of Atmos based on the achievement of key performance measures 
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considered critical to achieving business objectives for a given year. These perfonnance measures may include 
earnings growth objectives, improved cash flow objectives or crucial customer satisfaction and safety results. 
We monitor progress towards the achievement of the perfonnance measures throughout the year and record 
accruals based upon the expected payout using the best estimates available at the time the accrual is recorded. 

We implemented the Annual Incentive Plan in October 2001 to give the employees in our nonutility 
segments an opportunity to share in the success of the nonutility operations. The plan is based upon the net 
earnings of the nonutility operations and has minimum and maximum thresholds. The plan must meet the 
minimum threshold in order for the plan to be funded and distributed to employees. We monitor the progress 
toward the achievement of the thresholds throughout the year and record accruals based upon the expected 
payout using the best estimates available at the time the accrual is recorded. 

9. Retirement and Post-Retirement Employee Benefit Plans 

We have both funded and unfunded noncontributory defined benefit plans that together cover substantially 
all of our employees. We also maintain post-retirement plans that provide health care benefits to retired 
employees. Finally, we sponsor defined contribution plans which cover substantially all employees. These 
plans are discussed in further detail below. 

Defined Benefit Plans 

EmpLoyee Pension PLans 

As of September 30, 2006, we maintained two defined benefit plans: the Atmos Energy Corporation 
Pension Account Plan (the Plan) and the Atmos Energy Corporation Retirement Plan for Mississippi Valley 
Gas Union Employees (the Union Plan) (collectively referred to as the Plans). The Plans are held within the 
Atmos Energy Corporation Master Retirement Trust (the Master Trust). 

The Plan is a cash balance pension plan, that was established effective January 1999 and covers 
substantially all employees of Atmos. Opening account balances were established for participants as of 
January 1999 equal to the present value of their respective accrued benefits under the pension plans which 
were previously in effect as of December 31, 1998. The Plan credits an allocation to each participant's account 
at the end of each year according to a formula based on the participant's age, service and total pay (excluding 
incentive pay). 

The Plan also provides for an additional annual allocation based upon a participant's age as of January 1, 
1999 for those participants who were participants in the prior pension plans. The Plan will credit this 
additional allocation each year through December 31, 2008. In addition, at the end of each year, a participant's 
account will be credited with interest on the employee's prior year account balance. A special grandfather 
benefit also applies through December 31, 2008, for participants who were at least age 50 as of January 1, 
1999, and who were participants in one of the prior plans on December 31, 1998. Participants fully vest in 
their account balances after five years of service and may choose to receive their account balances as a lump 
sum or an annuity. 

The Union Plan is a defined benefit plan that covers substantially all full-time union employees in our 
Mississippi Division. Under this plan, benefits are based upon years of benefit service and average final 
earnings. Participants vest in the plan after five years and will receive their benefit in an annuity. 

Generally, our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements of 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. However, additional voluntary contributions are made 
from time to time as considered necessary. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits 
attributed to service to date but also for those expected to be earned in the future. 
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During fiscal 2006, we voluntarily contributed $2.9 million to the Union Plan. The current year 
contribution achieved a desired level of funding by satisfying the minimum funding requirements while 
maximizing the tax deductible contribution for this plan for plan year 2005. During fiscal 2005, we voluntarily 
contributed $3.0 million to the Master Trust to maintain the level of funding we desire relative to our 
accumulated benefit obligation. We made the contribution because declining high yield corporate bond yields 
in the period leading up to our June 30, 2005 measurement date resulted in an increase in the present value of 
our plan liabilities. We are not required to make a minimum funding contribution during fiscal 2007 nor do we 
anticipate making any voluntary contributions during fiscal 2007. 

We manage the Master Trust's assets with the objective of achieving a rate of return net of inflation of 
approximately four percent per year. We make investment decisions and evaluate performance on a medium 
term horizon of at least three to five years. We also consider our current financial status when making 
recommendations and decisions regarding the Master Trust's assets. Finally, we strive to ensure the Master 
Trust's assets are appropriately invested to maintain an acceptable level of risk and meet the Master Trust's 
long term asset allocation policy. 

To achieve these objectives, we invest the Master Trust's assets in equity securities, fixed income 
securities, interests in commingled pension trust funds and cash and cash equivalents. Investments in equity 
securities are diversified among the market's various subsectors to diversify risk and maximize returns. Fixed 
income securities are invested in investment grade securities. Cash equivalents are invested in securities that 
either are short term (less than 180 days) or readily convertible to cash with modest risk. 

The following table presents asset allocation information for the Master Trust as of September 30, 2006 
and 2005. 

Security Class 
Targeted 

Allocation Range 

Actual 
Allocation 

September 30 
2006 2005 

Domestic equities 

International equities 

. 

. 

35%-55% 

10%-20% 

44.3% 

15.6% 

45.0% 

17.9% 

Fixed income . 10%-30% 18.8% 18.1% 

Company stock 

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

. 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

0%-10% 

5%-15% 

9.2% 

10.7% 

9.1% 

9.6% 

Cash and equivalents . N/A 1.4% 0.3% 

At September 30,2006 and 2005, the Plan held 1,169,700 shares of Atmos common stock, which 
represented 9.2 percent and 9.1 percent of total Master Trust assets. These shares generated dividend income 
for the Plan of approximately $1.5 million during both fiscal 2006 and 2005. 
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Our employee pension plan expenses and liabilities are determined on an actuarial basis and are affected 
by numerous assumptions and estimates including the market value of plan assets, estimates of the expected 
return on plan assets and assumed discount rates and demographic data. We review the estimates and 
assumptions underlying our employee pension plans annually based upon a June 30 measurement date. The 
development of our assumptions is fully described in our significant accounting policies in Note 2. The 
actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension liability for the Plans were determined as of June 30, 
2006 and 2005 and the actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the Plans 
were determined as of June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003. These assumptions are presented in the following table: 

Pension 
Liability Pension Cost 

2006 2005 2006 200S 2004 

Discount rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 6.30% 5.00% 5.00% 6.25% 6.00%
 

Rate of compensation increase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
 

Expected return on plan assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 8.25% 8.50% 8.50% 8.75% 9.00%
 

The following table presents the Plans' accumulated benefit obligation, projected benefit obligation and 
funded status as of September 30, 2006 and 2005. 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

Accumulated benefit obligation . $316,078 $348,383 

Change in projected benefit obligation: 
Benefit obligation at beginning of year . $359,924 $312,997 

Service cost . 13,465 10,401 

Interest cost . 17,932 19,412 

Actuarial loss (gain) . (36,748) 43,313 

Benefits paid . (28,109) (26,199) 

Benefit obligation at end of year . 326,464 359,924 

Change in plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year . 355,939 346,162 

Actual return on plan assets . 32,005 32,976 

Employer contributions . 2,879 3,000 

Benefits paid . (28,109) (26,199) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year '. 362,714 355,939 

Reconciliation: 

Funded status . 36,250 (3,985) 

Unrecognized prior service cost . (4,980) (5,939) 

Unrecognized net loss . 65,646 119,270 

Net amount recognized . $ 96,916 $109,346 
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Net periodic pension cost for the Plans for 2006, 2005 and 2004 is recorded as operating expense and 
included the following components: 

Year Ended September 30 
2006 2005 2004 

(In thousands) 

Components of net periodic pension cost: 

Service cost . $ 13,465 $ 10,401 $ 7,696 

Interest cost . 17,932 19,412 19,691 

Expected return on assets . (25,598) (27,541) (30,097) 

Amortization of prior service cost . (959) (1,028) (1,028) 

Recognized actuarial loss . 10,469 6,276 6,555 

Net periodic pension cost . $ 15,309 $ 7,520 $ 2,817 

Supplemental Executive Benefits Plans 

We have a nonqualified Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan which provides additional pension, 
disability and death benefits to the officers and certain other employees of Atmos. The Supplemental Plan was 
amended and restated in August 1998. In addition, in August 1998. we adopted the Performance-Based 
Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan which covers all employees who become officers or division presidents 
after August 12, 1998 or any other employees selected by our Board of Directors at its discretion. 

Similar to our employee pension plans, we review the estimates and assumptions underlying our 
supplemental executive benefit plans annually based upon a June 30 measurement date using the same 
techniques as ou! employee pension plans. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension liability 
for the supplemental plans were determined as of June 30, 2006 and 2005 and the actuarial assumptions used 
to determine the net periodic pension cost for the supplemental plans were determined as of June 30, 2005, 
2004 and 2003. These assumptions are presented in the following table: 

Pension 
Liability Pension Cost 

2006 2005 2006 2005 2004 

Discount rate. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 6.30% 5.00% 5.00% 6.25% 6.00%
 

Rate of compensation increase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
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The following table presents the supplemental plans' accumulated benefit obligation, projected benefit
 
obligation and funded status as of September 30, 2006 and 2005. 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

Accumulated benefit obligation ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 79,209 $ 86,661 

Change in projected benefit obligation: 

Benefit obligation at beginning of year . $ 97,941 $ 73,998 

Service cost . 3,001 2,144 

Interest cost . 4,955 4,658 

Actuarial loss (gain) . (14,618) 20,637 

Benefits paid . (3,780) (3,496) 

Benefit obligation at end of year . 87,499 97,941 

Change in plan assets: 

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year . 

Employer contribution . 3,780 3,496 

Benefits paid . (3,780) (3,496) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year . 

Reconciliation: 

Funded status . (87,499) (97,941) 

Unrecognized prior service cost. . 1,684 2,706 

Unrecognized net loss . 22,927 40,334 

Accrued pension cost . $(62,888) $(54,901) 

Assets for the supplemental plans are held in separate rabbi trusts and comprise the following: 

Unrealized 

Cost 
Holding 

Gain 
Market 
Value 

(In thousands) 

As of September 30, 2006: 

Domestic equity mutual funds . $30,562 $1,099 $31,661 

Foreign equity mutual funds . 5,975 1,542 7,517 

$36,537 $2,641 $39,178 

As of September 30, 2005: 

Domestic equity mutual funds . $28,902 $ 897 $29,799 

Foreign equity mutual funds . 5,133 328 5,461 

$34,035 $1,225 $35,260 
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At September 30, 2006, we maintained investments in one domestic equity mutual fund and one domestic 
bond fund that were in unrealized loss positions as of September 30, 2006. Information concerning unrealized 
losses for our supplemental plan assets follows: 

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More 
Unrealized Unrealized 

Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss 
(In thousands) 

Domestic equity mutual funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $19,963 $773 $­ $-

Because these funds are only used to fund the supplemental plans, we evaluate investment performance 
over a long-term horizon. Based upon our intent and ability to hold these investments, the short-term nature of 
the impairment as of September 30, 2006 and our ability to direct the source of the payments in order to 
maximize the life of the portfolio, the improved investment returns in the last year and the fact that these 
funds continue to receive good ratings from mutual fund rating companies, we do not consider this impairment 
to be other-than-temporary. 

Net periodic pension cost for the supplemental plans for 2006, 2005 and 2004 is recorded as operating 
expense and included the folIowing components: 

Year Ended September 30 
2006 2005 2004 

(In thousands) 

Components of net periodic pension cost 

Service cost . $ 3,001 $2,144 $2,037 

Interest cost . 4,955 4,658 4,324 

Amortization of transition asset . 4 96 

Amortization of prior service cost . 1,022 1,022 1,022 

Recognized actuarial loss . 2,789 1,290 1,516 

Net periodic pension cost . $11,767 $9,118 $8,995 

Supplemental Disclosures For Defined Benefit Plans with Accumulated Benefit Obligations in Excess of Plan 
Assets 

The following summarizes key information for our defined benefit plans with accumulated benefit 
obligations in excess of plan assets. For fiscal 2005 the accumulated benefit obligation for the MVG plan 
exceeded the fair value of plan assets. For fiscal 2006 and 2005 the accumulated benefit obligation for our 
supplemental plans exceeded the fair value of plan assets. 

Employee Pension Plans Supplemental Plans 
2005 2006 2005 

(In thousands) 

Projected Benefit Obligation . $13,550 $87,499 $97,941 

Accumulated Benefit Obligation . 10,738 79,209 86,661 

Fair Value of Plan Assets . 6,465 
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments 

The following benefit payments for our defined benefit plans, which reflect expected future service, as 
appropriate, are expected to be paid in the following years: 

Pension Supplemental 
Plans Plans 

(In thousands) 

2007 . $ 32,119 $ 3,729 

2008 . 27,923 4,242 

2009 . 28,588 4,512 

2010 . 29,811 5,262 

2011 . 29,399 5,287 

2012-2016 . 122,553 29,913 

Postretirement Benefits 

At September 30, 2006, we sponsored the Retiree Medical Plan for Retirees and Disabled Employees of 
Atmos Energy Corporation (the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan). Effective December 31,2004, the Atmos 
Energy Corporation Retiree Welfare Benefits Plan for Certain MVG Non-Union Employees and the Atmos 
Energy Corporation Retiree Welfare Benefits Plan for MVG Union Employees merged into the Atmos Retiree 
Medical Plan. 

This plan provides medical and prescription drug protection to all qualified participants based on their 
date of retirement. The Plan provides different levels of benefits depending on the level of coverage chosen by 
the participants and the terms of predecessor plans; however, we generally pay 80 percent of the projected net 
claims and administrative costs and participants pay the remaining 20 percent of this cost. 

On October I, 2004, in connection with the acquisition of TXU Gas, we transitioned certain employees 
from TXU Gas to Atmos Energy Corporation. Although we did not assume the existing employee benefit 
liabilities or plans of TXU Gas, we received a credit of $18.9 million against the purchase price to permit us 
to provide partial past service credits for retiree medical benefits under the Atmos Retiree Medical Plan. The 
$18.9 million credit approximated the actuarially determined present value of the accumulated benefits related 
to the past service of the transitioned employees on the acquisition date. 

Generally, our funding policy is to contribute annually an amount in accordance with the requirements of 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. However, additional voluntary contributions are made 
annually as considered necessary. Contributions are intended to provide not only for benefits attributed to 
service to date but also for those expected to be earned in the future. We expect to contribute $11.4 million to 
our postretirement benefits plans during fiscal 2007. 

We maintain a formal investment policy with respect to the assets in our postretirement benefits plans to 
ensure the assets funding the postretirement benefit plans are appropriately invested to maintain an acceptable 
level of risk. We also consider our current financial status when making recommendations and decisions 
regarding the postretirement benefits plans. 
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We currently invest the assets funding our postretirement benefit plans in money market funds, equity 
mutual funds, fixed income funds and a balanced fund. The following table presents asset allocation 
information for the postretirement benefit plan assets as of September 30, 2006 and 2005. 

Actual
 
Allocation
 

September 30
 
Security Class	 2006 2005 

Diversified investment fundO)	 . 100% 97.2% 

Cash and cash equivalents	 . 2.8% 

(I)	 This fund invests in a diversified portfolio of common stocks, preferred stocks and fixed income securities. 
It may invest up to 75 percent of assets in common stocks and convertible securities. 

Similar to our employee pension and supplemental plans, we review the estimates and assumptions 
underlying our supplemental executive benefit plans annually based upon a June 30 measurement date using 
the same techniques as our employee pension plans. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the pension 
liability for our postretirement plan were determined as of June 30, 2006 and 2005 and the actuarial 
assumptions used to determine the net periodic pension cost for the postretirement plan were determined as of 
June 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The assumptions are presented in the following table: 

Postretirement 
Liability Postretirement Cost 

2006 2005 2006 2005 2004 

Discount rate . 6.30% 5.00% 5.00% 6.25% 6.19% 

Expected return on plan assets . 5.20% 5.30% 5.30% 5.30% 5.30% 

Initial trend rate . 8.00% 9.00% 9.00% 10.00% 9.00% 

Ultimate trend rate . 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 

Ultimate trend reached in . 2010 2010 2010 2010 2008 
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The following table presents the postretirement plan's benefit obligation and funded status as of 
September 30, 2006 and 2005. 

Change in benefit obligation: 

Benefit obligation at beginning of year. 

Service cost 

Interest cost 

Plan participants' contributions 

Actuarial loss (gain) 

Acquisition 

Benefits paid 

Subsidy payments 

Benefit obligation at end of year 

Change in plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 

Actual return on plan assets 

Employer contributions 

Plan participants' contributions 

Benefits paid 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 

Reconciliation: 

Funded status 

Unrecognized transition obligation 

Unrecognized prior service cost
 

Unrecognized net loss
 

Accrued postretirement cost
 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

. $ 170,930 $ 125,189 

. 13,083 9,968 

. 8,840 9,369 

. 1,340 2,131 

. (22,657) 16,449 

. 18,878 

. (10,695) (11,054) 

. 60 

. 160,901 170,930 

. 39,843 36,408 

. 3,703 2,365 

. 10,609 9,993 

. 1,340 2,131 

. (10,695) (11,054) 

. 44,800 39,843 

. (116,101) (131,087) 

. 11,154 12,665 

. 33 394 

. 3,060 28,513 

. $(101,854) $ (89,515) 

Net periodic postretirement cost for 2006, 2005 and 2004 is recorded as operating expense and included 
the components presented below. The 2006, 2005 and 2004 amounts reflect the impact of adopting the 
provisions of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act) 
beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2004 as the plan is considered "actuarially equivalent" to Medicare 
PartD. 
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Year Ended September 30
 
2006 200S 2004
 

(In thousands)
 

Components of net periodic postretirement cost: 
Service cost . $13,083 $ 9,968 $ 5,941 

Interest cost . 8,840 9,369 7,355 

Expected return on assets . (2,187) (2,070) (1,523) 

Amortization of transition obligation . 1,511 1,511 1,511 

Amortization of prior service cost. . 361 386 386 

Recognized actuarial loss . 1,280 622 635 

Net periodic postretirement cost . $22,888 $19,786 $14,305 

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the plan. A 
one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects on the 
latest actuarial calculations: 

I-Percentage I-Percentage 
Point Increase Point Decrease 

(In thousands) 

Effect on total service and interest cost components . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,782 $ (3,064) 

Effect on postretirement benefit obligation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $17,678 $(14,974) 

We are currently recovering other postretirement benefits costs through our regulated rates under 
SFAS 106 accrual accounting in substantially all of our service areas. Other postretirement benefits costs have 
been specifically addressed in rate orders in each jurisdiction served by our Mid-States Division and our 
Mississippi Division or have been included in a rate case and not disallowed. Management believes that 
accrual accounting in accordance with SFAS 106 is appropriate and will continue to seek rate recovery of 
accrual-based expenses in its ratemaking jurisdictions that have not yet approved the recovery of these 
expenses. 

Estimated Future Benefit Payments 

The following benefit payments paid by us, retirees and prescription drug subsidy payments for our 
postretirement benefit plans, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid in 
the following years: 

Total 
Company Retiree Subsidy Postretirement 
Payments Payments Payments Benefits 

(In thousands) 

2007 . $11,408 $ 2,249 $127 $ 13,784 

2008 . 10,180 2,574 32 12,786 

2009 . 11,404 2,743 14,147 

2010 . 12,520 3,015 15,535 

2011 . 13,621 3,278 16,899 

2012-2016 . 86,065 20,698 106,763 
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Defined Contribution Plans 

As of September 30, 2006, we maintained two defined contribution benefit plans: the Atmos Energy 
Corporation Retirement Savings Plan and Trust (the Retirement Savings Plan) and the Atmos Energy 
Corporation Savings Plan for MVG Union Employees (the Union 40lK Plan). 

The Retirement Savings Plan covers substantially all employees and is subject to the provisions of 
Section 40 I (k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Participants may elect a salary reduction ranging from a 
minimum of one percent up to a maximum of 65 percent of eligible compensation, as defined by the Plan, not 
to exceed the maximum allowed by the Internal Revenue Service. We match 100 percent of a participant's 
contributions, limited to four percent of the participant's salary, in Atmos cornman stock. However, participants 
have the option to immediately transfer this matching contribution into other funds held within the plan. 
Participants are eligible to receive matching contributions after completing one year of service. Participants are 
also permitted to take out loans against their accounts subject to certain restrictions. 

The Union 401 K Plan covers substantially all Mississippi Division employees who are members of the 
International Chemical Workers Union Council, United Food and Commercial Workers Union International 
(the Union) and is subject to the provisions of Section 40l(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Employees of the 
Union automatically become participants of the Union 401K plan on the date of union employment. We match 
50 percent of a participant's contribution, limited to six percent of the participant's eligible contribution. 
Participants are also permitted to take out loans against their accounts subject to certain restrictions. 

Matching contributions to our defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred and amounted to 
$7.0 million, $5.7 million, and $4.6 million for 2006,2005 and 2004. The Board of Directors may also 
approve discretionary contributions, subject to the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and 
applicable regulations of the Internal Revenue Service. No discretionary contributions were made for 2006, 
2005 or 2004. At September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Retirement Savings Plan held 3.2 percent and 3.1 percent 
of our outstanding common stock. 

10. Details of Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet Captions 

The following tables provide additional infonnation regarding the composition of certain of our balance 
sheet captions. 

Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable was comprised of the following at September 30, 2006 and 2005: 

September 30
 
2006 2005
 

(In thousands)
 

Billed accounts receivable . $321,279 $381,469 

Unbilled revenue . 44,607 62,337 

Other accounts receivable . 22,429 26,120 

Total accounts receivable . 388,315 469,926 

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,686) (15,613) 

Net accounts receivable . $374,629 $454,313 
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Other current assets 

Other current assets as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 were comprised of the following accounts. 
September 30 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

Assets from risk management activities . $ 12,553 $107,913 

Deferred gas cost . 44,992 38,173 

Taxes receivable . 56,034 

Current deferred tax asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,943 67,365 

Prepaid expenses . 16,379 13,334 

Current portion of leased assets receivable . 2,973 2,973 

Materials and supplies . 6,088 7,502 

Other . 11,990 978 

Total . $169,952 $238,238 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment was comprised of the following as of September 30, 2006 and 2005: 

September 30 
2006 2005 

(In thousands) 

Production plant . $ 12,563 $ 19,401 

Storage plant . 118,902 116,708 

Transmission plant . 863,882 753,499 

Distribution plant . 3,404,220 3,164,316 

General plant . 541,852 502,189 

Intangible plant . 85,059 75,571 

5,026,478 4,631,684 

Construction in progress . 74,830 133,926 

5,101,308 4,765,610 

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization . (l,472,152) (1,391,243) 

Net property, plant and equipment . $ 3,629,156 $ 3,374,367 
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Deferred charges and other assets 

Deferred charges and other assets as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 were comprised of the following 
accounts. 

September 30
 
2006 2005
 

(In thousands)
 

Pension plan assets in excess of plan obligations . $ 96,916 $109,346 

Marketable securities . 39,178 35,260 

Long-term receivable on leased assets . 16,440 19,413 

Regulatory assets . 30,823 37,844 

Deferred financing costs . 42,673 47,792 

Assets from risk management activities . 6,186 735 

Other . 2,109 26,553 

Total . $234,325 $276,943 

Othercurrentlwbilities 

Other current liabilities as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 were comprised of the following accounts. 

September 30 
2006 2005 

(In thousands) 

Customer deposits . $102,555 $ 89,918 

Accrued employee costs . 27,276 26,409 

Deferred gas costs . 68,959 134,048 

Accrued interest . 54,892 53,675 

Liabilities from risk management activities . 30,669 61,920 

Taxes payable . 50,673 66,083 

Post-retirement obligations . 8,850 5,300 

Regulatory cost of removal accrual . 15,114 11,565 

Other . 29,463 54,450 

Total . $388,451 $503,368 
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Deferred credits and other liabilities 

Deferred credits and other liabilities as of September 30, 2006 and 2005 were comprised of the following 
accounts. 

September 30 
2006 2005 

(In thousands) 

Post-retirement obligations . $ 93,004 $ 84,215 

Nonqualified retirement plan obligation . 62,888 54,901 

Customer advances for construction . 17,481 18,872 

Liabilities from risk management activities . 276 15,316 

Deferred revenue . 4,049 5,488 

Regulatory liabilities . 10,825 8,084 

Asset retirement obligation . 15,070 

Other . 785 12,739 

Total . $204,378 $199,615 

11. Earnings Per Share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended September 30 are calculated as follows: 
2006 2005 2004 

(In thousands, except per share data) 

Net income . $147,737 $135,785 $86,227 

Denominator for basic income per share ­ weighted average 
common shares . 80,731 78,508 54,021 

Effect of dilutive securities: 

Restricted and other shares . 551 360 281 

Stock options . 108 144 114 

Denominator for diluted income per share ­ weighted average 
common shares . 81,390 79,012 54,416 

Net income per share ­ basic . $ 1.83 $ 1.73 $ 1.60 

Net income per share ­ diluted . $ 1.82 $ 1.72 $ 1.58 

There were no out-of-the-money options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for 
the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. There were approximately 3,000 out-of-the-money options 
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended September 30, 2004 as their 
exercise price was greater than the average market price of the common stock during that period. 
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12. Income Taxes 

The components of income tax expense from continuing operations for 2006, 2005 and 2004 were as 
follows: 

2006 2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

Current 

Federal . $ 838 $61,508 $ 9,003 

State . 2,623 8,569 2,021 

Deferred 

Federal . 77,154 11,453 35,970 

State . 9,024 1,217 5,079 

Investment tax credits . (486) (514) (535) 

$89,153 $82,233 $51,538 

Reconciliations of the provision for income taxes computed at the statutory rate to the reported provisions 
for income taxes from continuing operations for 2006, 2005 and 2004 are set forth below: 

2006 2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

Tax at statutory rate of 35% . $82,912 $76,306 $48,218 

Common stock dividends deductible for tax reporting . (1,180) (1,088) (985) 

State taxes (net of federal benefit) . 7,570 6,361 4,615 

Other, net . (149) 654 (310) 

Income tax expense . $89,153 $82,233 $51,538 
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Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect of differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for 
book and tax purposes. The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant components of the 
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets at September 30, 2006 and 2005 are presented below: 

2006 2005 
(In thousands) 

Deferred tax assets: 

Costs expensed for book purposes and capitalized for tax purposes . $ 6,469 $ 1,299 

Accruals not currently deductible for tax purposes . 7,709 13,319 

Customer advances . 6,643 8,455 

Nonqualified benefit plans . 26,337 24,869 

Postretirement benefits . 37,558 33,176 

Treasury lock agreement . 12,589 14,698 

Unamortized investment tax credit . 680 864 

Regulatory liabilities . 1,460 9,836 

Tax net operating loss and credit carryforwards . 5,623 855 

Gas cost adjustments . 19,434 36,432 

Other, net . 4,525 9,781 

Total deferred tax assets . 129,027 153,584 

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Difference in net book value and net tax value of assets . (364,438) (317,834) 

Pension funding . (37,188) (42,597) 

Regulatory assets '" . (1,695) (13,021 ) 

Cost capitalized for book purposes and expensed for tax purposes . (1,618) (2,739) 

Difference between book and tax on mark to market accounting . (9,536) (82) 

Other, net . (1,781) (2,153) 

Total deferred tax liabilities . (416,256) (378,426) 

Net deferred tax liabilities . $(287,229) $(224,842) 

SFAS No. 109 deferred credits for rate regulated entities . $ 2,687 $ 2,833 

We have tax carryforwards amounting to $5.6 million. The tax carryforwards include net operating losses 
for federal purposes amounting to $4.3 million and state net operating losses amounting to $1.3 million. The 
federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire in 2026. Depending on the jurisdiction in which the net 
operating loss was generated, the state net operating losses will begin to expire between 2011 and 2026. 

The Internal Revenue Service is currently conducting a routine examination of our fiscal 2002, 2003 and 
2004 tax returns. We believe all material tax items which relate to the years under audit have been properly 
accrued. 
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13. Commitments and Contingencies 

Litigation 

Colorado-Kansas Division 

We are a defendant in a lawsuit originally filed by Quinque Operating Company, Tom Boles and Robert 
Ditto in September 1999 in the District Court of Stevens County, Kansas against more than 200 companies in 
the natural gas industry. The plaintiffs, who purport to represent a class of royalty owners, allege that the 
defendants have underpaid royalties on gas taken from wells situated on non-federal and non-Indian lands in 
Kansas, predicated upon allegations that the defendants' gas measurements were inaccurate. The plaintiffs 
have not specifically alleged an amount of damages. We are also a defendant, along with over 50 other 
companies in the natural gas industry, in another proposed class action lawsuit filed in the same court by Will 
Price, Tom Boles and The Cooper Clarke Foundation in May 2003 involving similar allegations. We believe 
that the plaintiffs' claims are lacking in merit and we intend to vigorously defend these actions. While the 
results cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation will not have a 
material adverse effect on our financial conditions, results of operations or net cash flows. We were also a 
defendant in another lawsuit entitled In Re Natural Gas Royalties Qui Tam Litigation, involving similar 
allegations filed in June 1997 in the United States District Court for the District of Colorado, which was later 
transferred to the United States District Court for the District of Wyoming, where it was consolidated with 
approximately 50 additional lawsuits in October 1999. On October 20, 2006, the District Court granted the 
defendants' motion to dismiss this lawsuit for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. 

United Cities Propane Gas, Inc. 

United Cities Propane Gas, Inc., one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, was a party to an action filed in 
June 2000 that was pending in the Circuit Court of Sevier County, Tennessee. The plaintiffs' claims arose out 
of injuries alleged to have been caused by a low-level propane explosion. The plaintiffs were seeking to 
recover damages of $13.0 million. The case was settled on November 14, 2006. As the settlement amount was 
fully covered by insurance, the settlement did not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, 
results of operations or net cash flows. 

We are a party to other litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of our business, including 
certain litigation and claims that arose in the ordinary course of the business of TXU Gas Company, the 
natural gas distribution and pipeline operations we acquired on October 1, 2004. While the results of such 
litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such litigation and 
claims will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash 
flows. 

Environmental Matters 

Former Manufactured Gas Plant Sites 

We are the owner or previous owner of former manufactured gas plant sites in Johnson City and Bristol, 
Tennessee, Keokuk, Iowa, and Hannibal, Missouri, which were used to supply gas prior to the availability of 
natural gas. The gas manufacturing process resulted in certain byproducts and residual materials, including 
coal tar. The manufacturing process used by our predecessors was an acceptable and satisfactory process at the 
time such operations were being conducted. Under current environmental protection laws and regulations, we 
may be responsible for response actions with respect to such materials if response actions are necessary. 

United Cities Gas Company and the Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation (TDEC) 
entered into a consent order effective in January 1997, to facilitate the investigation, removal and remediation 
of the Johnson City site. Prior to our merger with United Cities Gas Company in July 1997, United Cities Gas 
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Company began the implementation of the consent order in the first quarter of fiscal 1997, which will continue 
for the foreseeable future. The investigative phase of the work at the site has been completed, and an interim 
removal action was completed in June 2001. We installed four groundwater monitoring wells at the site in 
2002 and have submitted the analytical results to the TDEC. We completed a risk assessment report that has 
been approved by the TDEC as well as a feasibility study for this site, which was submitted to the TDEC in 
October 2003. The feasibility study recommends a remedial action that will limit the use of and access to the 
impacted soil, cap the site with the addition of a clay fill and geosynthetic liner and groundwater monitoring 
for a period of up to 30 years. The feasibility study was approved by the TDEC in February 2005. The 
estimated cost of the remedial action is $1.5 million, which is comprised primarily of operating and 
maintenance costs that would be associated with a groundwater monitoring project. In January 2006, the 
TDEC issued a Record of Decision approving the remedial action recommended in the feasibility study. The 
Tennessee Regulatory Authority granted us permission to defer, until our next rate case in Tennessee, all costs 
incurred in Tennessee in connection with state and federally mandated environmental control requirements. 

In March 2002, the TDEC contacted us about conducting an investigation at a former manufactured gas 
plant located in Bristol, Tennessee. We agreed to perform a preliminary investigation at the site, which we 
completed in June 2002. The investigation identified manufactured gas plant residual materials in the soil 
beneath the site, and we have proposed performing a focused removal action to remove any such residuals. 
The TDEC requested that the focused removal action be conducted pursuant to a voluntary agreement. In 
April 2004, we entered into a voluntary consent agreement with the TDEC for the performance of the removal 
action and the removal action was completed in November 2004. In September 2005, we filed site use 
limitations on the property in the local property records, including restrictions on the use of the site to 
commercial and industrial purposes and a prohibition of the use of groundwater for use as drinking water were 
filed. In February 2006, we received a Completion Letter from the TDEC informing us that no further action 
is required at this site pursuant to the voluntary consent agreement with the TDEC. 

In July 1998, we entered into an Abatement Order on Consent with the Missouri Department of Natural 
Resources to address the former manufactured gas plant located in Hannibal, Missouri. We agreed to perform 
a removal action and a subsequent site evaluation and to reimburse the response costs incurred by the state of 
Missouri in connection with the property. The removal action was conducted and completed in August 1998, 
and the site-evaluation field work was conducted in August 1999. A risk assessment for the site has been 
approved by the Missouri Department of Natural Resources. In preparation for the risk assessment, we 
executed and recorded certain site-use limitations, including restricting use of the site to commercial and 
industrial purposes and prohibiting the withdrawal of groundwater for use as drinking water. In addition, we 
have installed a geosynthetic liner over the surface of the site. 

In 1995, United Cities Gas Company entered into an agreement with a third party to resolve its share of 
the costs of additional investigations and environmental-response actions for soil contamination at a former 
manufactured gas plant in Keokuk, Iowa. However, the extent of groundwater contamination at the site, if any, 
which is not covered by the agreement, has yet to be determined. 

As of September 30, 2006, we had incurred costs of approximately $2.3 million for the investigations of 
the Johnson City and Bristol, Tennessee, and Hannibal, Missouri sites. 

We are a party to other environmental matters and claims that have arisen in the ordinary course of our 
business. While the ultimate results of response actions to these environmental matters and claims cannot be 
predicted with certainty, we believe the final outcome of such response actions will not have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or net cash flows because we believe that the 
expenditures related to such response actions will either be recovered through rates, shared with other parties 
or are adequately covered by insurance. 
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Purchase Commitments 

AEM has commitments to purchase physical quantities of natural gas under contracts indexed to the 
forward NYMEX strip or fixed price contracts. At September 30, 2006, AEM was committed to purchase 
61.7 Bet within one year, 51.2 Bcf within one to three years and 0.8 Bet after three years under indexed 
contracts. AEM is committed to purchase 2.4 Bcf within one year and 0.1 Bet within one to three years under 
fixed price contracts with prices ranging from $3.40 to $12.00. Purchases under these contracts totaled 
$2,124.3 million, $1,421.2 million and $1,252.2 million for 2006, 2005 and 2004. 

Our utility divisions, except for our Mid-Tex Division, maintain supply contracts with several vendors 
that generally cover a period of up to one year. Commitments for estimated base gas volumes are established 
under these contracts on a monthly basis at contractually negotiated prices. Commitments for incremental daily 
purchases are made as necessary during the month in accordance with the terms of the individual contract. 

Our Mid-Tex Division maintains long-term supply contracts to ensure a reliable source of gas for our 
customers in its service area which obligate it to purchase specified volumes at market prices. The estimated 
commitments under these contracts as of September 30, 2006 are as follows (in thousands): 

2007 $560,461 

2008 101,702 

2009 9,091 
2010 8,518 

2011 8,517 

Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,928 

$708,217 

14. Leases 

Leasing Operations 

Atmos Power Systems, Inc. constructs electric peaking power-generating plants and associated facilities 
and enters into agreements to either lease or sell these plants. We completed a sales-type lease transaction for 
one distributed electric generation plant in 2001 and a second sales-type lease transaction in 2003. In 
connection with these lease transactions, as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, we had receivables of 
$19.4 million and $22.4 million and recognized income of $1.7 million, $1.6 million and $1.9 million for 
fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004. The future minimum lease payments to be received for each of the five 
succeeding years are as follows: 

Minimum 
Lease 

Receipts 
(In thousands) 

2007 . $ 2,973 

2008 . 2,973 

2009 . 2,973 

2010 . 2,973 

2011 . 2,973 

Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,548
 

Total minimum lease receipts . $19,413
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Capital and Operating Leases 

We have entered into non-cancelable operating leases for office and warehouse space used in our 
operations. The remaining lease terms range from one to 20 years and generally provide for the payment of 
taxes, insurance and maintenance by the lessee. Renewal options exist for certain of these leases. We have also 
entered into capital leases for division offices and operating facilities. Property, plant and equipment included 
amounts for capital leases of $5.8 million at September 30, 2006 and 2005. Accumulated depreciation for 
these capital leases totaled $4.2 million and $3.8 million at September 30, 2006 and 2005. Depreciation 
expense for these assets is included in consolidated depreciation expense on the consolidated statement of 
income. 

The related future minimum lease payments at September 30, 2006 were as follows: 

Capital Operating 
Leases Leases 

(In thousands) 

2007 . $ 433 $ 15,959 

2008 . 362 15,463 

2009 . 311 14,694 

2010 . 291 13,502 

2011 . 186 13,410 

Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,194 103,778 

Total minimum lease payments . 2,777 $176,806 

Less amount representing interest . 1,205 

Present value of net minimum lease payments . $1,572 

Consolidated lease and rental expense amounted to $11.4 million, $9.5 million and $8.1 million for fiscal 
2006, 2005 and 2004. 

15. Concentration of Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a customer fails to perform its contractual obligations. We 
engage in transactions for the purchase and sale of products and services with major companies in the energy 
industry and with industrial, commercial, residential and municipal energy consumers. These transactions 
principally occur in the southern and midwestern regions of the United States. We believe that this geographic 
concentration does not contribute significantly to our overall exposure to credit risk. Credit risk associated 
with trade accounts receivable for the utility segment is mitigated by the large number of individual customers 
and diversity in our customer base. Due to minimal receivables, the credit risk for our other nonutility segment 
is not significant. 

Customer diversification also helps mitigate AEM's exposure to credit risk. AEM maintains credit 
policies with respect to its counterparties that it believes minimizes overall credit risk. Where appropriate, such 
policies include the evaluation of a prospective counterparty's financial condition, collateral requirements and 
the use of standardized agreements that facilitate the netting of cash flows associated with a single 
counterparty. AEM also monitors the financial condition of existing counterparties on an ongoing basis. 
Customers not meeting minimum standards are required to provide adequate assurance of financial 
performance. 

AEM maintains a provision for credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of customers, 
historical trends and other information. We believe, based on our credit policies and our provisions for credit 
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losses, that our financial position, results of operations and cash flows will not be material1y affected as a 
result of nonperformance by any single counterparty. 

AEM's estimated credit exposure is monitored in terms of the percentage of its customers that are rated 
as investment grade versus non-investment grade. Credit exposure is defined as the total of (l) accounts 
receivable, (2) delivered, but unbilled physical sales and (3) mark-to-market exposure for sales and purchases. 
Investment grade determinations are set internal1y by AEM's credit department, but are primarily based on 
external ratings provided by Moody's Investors Service Inc. (Moody's) and/or Standard & Poor's Corporation 
(S&P). For non-rated entities, the default rating for municipalities is investment grade, while the default rating 
for non-guaranteed industrials and commercials is non-investment grade. The following table shows the 
percentages related to the investment ratings as of September 30, 2006 and 2005. 

September 30, 
2006 

September 30, 
2005 

Investment grade 

Non-investment grade 

. 

. 

40% 

60% 

49% 

51% 

Total . 100% 100% 

The following table presents our derivative counterparty credit exposure by operating segment based upon 
the unrealized fair value of our derivative contracts that represent assets as of September 30, 2006. Investment 
grade counterparties have minimum credit ratings of BBB-, assigned by Standard & Poor's Rating Group; or 
Baa3, assigned by Moody's Investor Service. Non-investment grade counterparties are composed of counter­
parties that are below investment grade or that have not been assigned an internal investment grade rating due 
to the short-term nature of the contracts associated with that counterparty. This category is composed of 
numerous smaller counterparties, none of which is individual1y significant. 

Natural Gas 
Utility Marketing

Segment{l) Segment Consolidated 
(In thousands) 

Investment grade counterparties . $­ $16,001 $16,001 

Non-investment grade counterparties . 2,738 2,738 

$­ $18,739 $18,739 

(I)	 Counterparty risk for our utility segment is minimized because hedging gains and losses are passed through 
to our customers. 

16. Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information for 2006, 2005 and 2004 are presented below. 

2004 
(In thousands) 

Cash paid for interest. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $149,031 $103,418 $65,700 

Cash paid for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. $ 77,265 $ 51,490 $ 1,677 

2006 2005 

There were no significant noncash investing and financing transactions during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 
2004. All cash fiows and non cash activities related to our commodity derivatives are considered as operating 
activities. 
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17. Segment Information 

Atmos Energy Corporation and its subsidiaries are engaged primarily in the natural gas utility business as 
well as certain nonutility businesses. We distribute natural gas through sales and transportation arrangements 
to approximately 3.2 mi11ion residential, commercial, public-authority and industrial customers throughout our 
seven regulated utility divisions, which cover service areas located in 12 states. In addition, we transport 
natural gas for others through our distribution system. 

Through our nonutility businesses, we provide natural gas management and marketing services to 
industrial customers, municipalities and other local distribution companies located in 22 states. Additionally, 
we provide natural gas transportation and storage services to certain of our utility operations and to third 
parties. 

Our operations are divided into four segments: 

• The utility segment, which includes our regulated natural gas distribution and related sales operations, 

• The natural gas marketing segment, which includes a variety of nonregulated natural gas management 
services, 

• The pipeline and storage segment, which includes our regulated and nonregulated natural gas transmis­
sion and storage services and 

• The other nonutility segment, which includes all of our other nonregulated nonutility operations. 

Our determination of reportable segments considers the strategic operating units under which we manage 
sales of various products and services to customers in differing regulatory environments. Although our utility 
segment operations are geographically dispersed, they are reported as a single segment as each utility division 
has similar economic characteristics. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described 
in the summary of significant accounting policies. We evaluate performance based on net income or loss of 
the respective operating units. Interest expense is allocated pro rata to each segment based upon our net 
investment in each segment. Income taxes are allocated to each segment as if each segment's taxes were 
calculated on a separate return basis. 
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Summarized income statements and capital expenditures by segment are shown in the following tables.
 

Year Ended September 30, 2006 
Natural Gas Pipeline Other 

Utility Marketing and Storage Nonutility Eliminations Consolidated 
(In thousands) 

Operating revenues from external 
parties ................... $3,649,851 $2,418,856 $ 81,857 $1,799 $ $6,152,363 

Intersegment revenues ......... 740 737,668 78,710 4,099 (821,217) 

3,650,591 3,156,524 160,567 5,898 (821,217) 6,152,363 

Purchased gas cost. ........... 2,725,534 3,025,897 838 (816,476) 4,935,793 

Gross profit ............... 925,057 130,627 159,729 5,898 (4,741 ) 1,216,570 

Operating expenses 

Operation and maintenance '" 357,519 22,223 53,641 5,013 (4,978) 433,418 

Depreciation and 
amortization ............. 164,493 1,834 19,166 103 185,596 

Taxes, other than income ..... 178,204 4,335 9,064 390 191,993 

Impairment of long-lived 
assets .................. 22,947 22,947
 

Total operating expenses ....... 723,163 28,392 81,871 5,506 (4,978) 833,954
 

Operating income ............ 201,894 102,235 77,858 392 237 382,616
 

Miscellaneous income ......... 9,506 2,598 2,554 4,151 (17,928) 881
 

Interest charges .............. 126,489 8,510 25,331 3,968 (17,691) 146,607
 

Income before income taxes ..... 84,911 96,323 55,081 575 236,890 

Income tax expense ........... 31,909 37,757 19,457 30 89,153 

Net income ............. $ 53,002 $ 58,566 $ 35,624 $ 545 $ $ 147,737
 

Capital expenditures .......... $ 307,742 $ 909 $116,673 $ $ $ 425,324
 

117 



ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued) 

Year Ended September 30, 2005 
Natural Gas Pipeline Other 

Utility Marketing and Storage Nonutility Eliminations Consolidated 
(In thousands) 

Operating revenues from external 
parties ................... $3,102,041 $1,783,926 $ 73,880 $2,026 $ $4,961,873 

Intersegment revenues ......... 1,099 322,352 79,409 3,276 (406,136) 

3,103,140 2,106,278 153,289 5,302 (406,136) 4,961,873 

Purchased gas cost. ........... 2,195,774 2,044,305 6,811 (402,654) 3,844,236 

Gross profit ............... 907,366 61,973 146,478 5,302 (3,482) 1,117,637
 
Operating expenses 

Operation and maintenance ... 346,594 18,444 50,773 4,153 (3,683) 416,281 
Depreciation and 

amortization ............. 159,497 1,896 16,504 108 178,005 
Taxes, other than income ..... 164,910 648 8,915 223 174,696 

Total operating expenses ....... 671,001 20,988 76,192 4,484 (3,683) 768,982
 

Operating income ............ 236,365 40,985 70,286 818 201 348,655
 

Miscellaneous income ......... 6,776 771 2,030 2,575 (10,131) 2,021
 
Interest charges .............. 112,382 3,405 24,579 2,222 (9,930) 132,658
 

Income before income taxes ..... 130,759 38,351 47,737 1,171 218,018 
Income tax expense ........... 49,642 14,947 17,138 506 82,233 

Net income ............. $ 81,117 $ 23,404 $ 30,599 $ 665 $ $ 135,785
 

Capital expenditures .......... $ 300,574 $ 649 $ 31,960 $ $ $ 333,183
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Year Ended September 30, 2004 
Natural Gas Pipeline Other 

Utility Marketing and Storage NonutiIity Eliminations Consolidated 
(In thousands) 

Operating revenues from external 
parties ................... $1,636,636 $1,279,424 $ 1,617 $2,360 $ $2,920,037 

Intersegment revenues ......... 1,092 339,178 18,141 1,033 (359,444) 

1,637,728 1,618,602 19,758 3,393 (359,444) 2,920,037 

Purchased gas cost. ........... 1,134,594 1,571 ,971 9,383 (358,102) 2,357,846 

Gross profit ............... 503,134 46,631 10,375 3,393 (1,342) 562,191 
Operating expenses 

Operation and maintenance ... 195,471 15,692 2,533 2,150 (1,376) 214,470 
Depreciation and 

amortization ............. 92,954 2,089 1,488 116 96,647 
Taxes, other than income ..... 54,819 1,124 1,061 375 57,379 

Total operating expenses ....... 343,244 18,905 5,082 2,641 (1,376) 368,496 

Operating income ............ 159,890 27,726 5,293 752 34 193,695 

Miscellaneous income ......... 5,847 843 289 8,290 (5,762) 9,507 
Interest charges .............. 65,399 2,711 1,053 2,002 (5,728) 65,437 

Income before income taxes ..... 100,338 25,858 4,529 7,040 137,765 
Income tax expense ........... 37,242 9,225 1,762 3,309 51,538 

Net income ............. $ 63,096 $ 16,633 $ 2,767 $3,731 $ $ 86,227 

Capital expenditures .......... $ 189,291 $ 520 $ 474 $ $ $ 190,285 

The following table summarizes our revenues by products and services for the year ended September 30. 

2006 2005 2004 
(In thousands) 

Utility revenues: 

Gas sales revenues: 

Residential . $2,068,736 $1,791,172 $ 923,773 

Commercial . 1,061,783 869,722 400,704 

Industrial . 276,186 229,649 155,336 

Agricultural . 40,664 27,889 31,851 

Public authority and other . 103,936 86,853 77,178 

Total gas sales revenues . 3,551,305 3,005,285 1,588,842 

Transportation revenues . 61,475 58,897 30,622 

Other gas revenues . 37,071 37,859 17,172 

Total utility revenues . 3,649,851 3,102,041 1,636,636 

Natural gas marketing revenues . 2,418,856 1,783,926 1,279,424 

Pipeline and storage revenues . 81,857 73,880 1,617 

Other nonutility revenues . 1,799 2,026 2,360 

Total operating revenues . $6,152,363 $4,961,873 $2,920,037 
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Balance sheet information at September 30, 2006 and 2005 by segment is presented in the following 
tables: 

September 30, 2006 
Natural Pipeline 

Gas and Other 
Utility Marketing Storage Nonutility Eliminations Consolidated 

(In thousands) 

ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment, net $3,083,301 $ 7,531 $537,028 $ 1,296 $ $3,629,156 
Investment in subsidiaries ........... 281,143 (2,155) (278,988) 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents ......... 8,738 45,481 21,596 75,815 
Cash held on deposit in margin 

account .................... 35,647 35,647 
Assets from risk management 

activities .................... 13,164 19,040 (19,651) 12,553 
Other current assets ............. 714,472 261,435 26,325 8,119 (16,821) 993,530 
Intercompany receivables ......... 602,809 (602,809) 

Total current assets ............ 1,326,019 355,727 45,365 29,715 (639,281) 1,117,545 
Intangible assets .................. 3,152 3,152 
Goodwill ....................... 567,221 24,282 143,866 735,369 
Noncurrent assets from risk 

management activities ............ 6,190 5 (9) 6,186 
Deferred charges and other assets ..... 204,617 1,315 5,301 16,906 228,139 

$5,462,301 $396,042 $731,565 $47,917 $(918,278) $5,719,547 

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES 
Shareholders' equity ............... $1,648,098 $139,863 $107,640 $33,640 $(281,143) $1,648,098 
Long-term debt .................. 2,176,473 3,889 2,180,362 

Total capitalization ............ 3,824,57] 139,863 107,640 37,529 (281,]43) 3,828,460 
Current liabilities 

Current maturities of long-term 
debt ....................... 1,250 ],936 3,186 

Short-term debt ................ 382,4]6 382,416 
Liabilities from risk management 

activities .................... 27,209 22,500 531 (19,571) 30,669 
Other current liabilities ........... 473,101 183,077 61,458 (14,746) 702,890 
Intercompany payables ........... 75,665 525,895 ],249 (602,809) 

Total current liabilities ......... 883,976 281,242 587,884 3,185 (637,] 26) I,] ]9,]61 

Deferred income taxes ............. 297,821 (25,777) 31,927 2,201 306,172 
Noncurrent liabilities from risk 

management activities ............ 280 5 (9) 276 

Regulatory cost of removal obligation .. 261,376 261,376 

Deferred credits and other liabilities ... 194,557 434 4,109 5,002 204,102 

$5,462,301 $396,042 $731,565 $47,917 $(9] 8,278) $5,719,547 
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued) 

September 30, 2005 
Natural Pipeline 

Gas and Other 
Utility Marketing Storage Nonutility Eliminations Consolidated 

(In thousands) 

ASSETS 

Property, plant and equipment, net .... $2,926,096 $ 7,278 $439,574 $ 1,419 $ $3,374,367 
Investment in subsidiaries .................... 231,342 (l,896) (229,446) 
Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents .., ...... 10,663 28,949 504 40,116 
Cash held on deposit in margin 

account ................ , ... 4,170 76,786 80,956 
Assets from risk management 

activities ................... 93,310 39,528 1,739 (26,664) 107,913 
Other current assets ............. 666,081 421,777 36,208 63,820 (152,441) 1,035,445 
Intercompany receivables ......... 505,728 20,133 (525,861) 

Total current assets ............ 1,279,952 567,040 37,947 84,457 (704,966) 1,264,430 
Intangible assets ................. 3,507 3,507 
Goodwill ..... , .. , .............. 566,800 24,282 143,198 734,280 
Noncurrent assets from risk 

management activities ........... 2,073 1,338 (2,676) 735 
Deferred charges and other assets ..... 249,179 1,461 5,737 19,831 276,208 

$5,253,369 $603,745 $627,794 $105,707 $(937,088) $5,653,527 

CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES 

Shareholders' equity .............. $1,602,422 $144,827 $ 53,426 $ 33,089 $(231,342) $1,602,422 
Long-term debt .................. 2,177,279 5,825 2,183,104 

Total capitalization ............ 3,779,701 144,827 53,426 38,914 (231,342) 3,785,526 
Current liabilities 

Current maturities of long-term 
debt ....................... 1,250 2,014 3,264 

Short-term debt ................ 144,809 60,000 51,320 (111,320) 144,809 
Liabilities from risk management 

activities ............ , .. , ... 63,936 25,038 (27,054) 61,920 
Other current liabilities. , ......... 623,300 217,777 95,557 4,963 (38,835) 902,762 
Intercompany payables ........... 87,968 437,893 (525,861 ) 

Total current liabilities ......... 769,359 429,681 558,488 58,297 (703,070) 1,112,755 
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . 268,108 12,369 9,563 2,167 292,207 
Noncurrent liabilities from risk 

management activities ........... 16,654 1,338 (2,676) 15,316 

Regulatory cost of removal obligation .. 263,424 263,424 

Deferred credits and other liabilities ... 172,777 214 4,979 6,329 184,299 

$5,253,369 $603,745 $627,794 $105,707 $(937,088) $5,653,527 
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
 

18. Related Party Transactions 

AEM provides a variety of natural gas management services to our Kentucky, Louisiana and Mid-States 
divisions including furnishing natural gas supplies at fixed and market-based prices and the management of 
certain of our underground storage facilities. Additionally, at times, AEM places financial instruments for our 
various divisions to partially insulate us and our customers from gas price volatility. 

Atmos Pipeline and Storage, L.L.C. provides asset management services for certain of our utility storage 
fields in exchange for a contractually negotiated demand charge. The Atmos Pipeline - Texas Division, a 
division of Atmos, provides natural gas transportation services to our Atmos Energy Mid-Tex Division. 

Atmos Energy Services, L.L.c., provides natural gas management services for our own utility operations, 
other than the Mid-Tex Division. Prior to the second quarter of fiscal 2004, this entity conducted limited 
operations. However, beginning in April 2004, AES began providing natural gas supply management services 
to our utility operations in a limited number of states. These services include aggregating and purchasing gas 
supply, arranging transportation and storage logistics and ultimately delivering the gas to our utility service 
areas at competitive prices. 

The following summarizes our significant affiliate transactions with AEM, APS and AES. 
2006 2005 2004 

(In thousands, unless otherwise indicated) 

Gas purchasesCI): 

Dollars . $471,844 $227,315 $235,320 

Volumes (Met) . 52,554 31,370 42,518 

Average sales price per Mcf . $ 8.98 $ 7.25 $ 5.53 

Storage contract fees . $ 1,792 $ 1,753 $ 2,765 

Natural gas management services . $ 3,573 $ 2,986 $ 682 

(1)	 Gas purchases are made in a competitive bidding process, reflect market prices and exclude demand and 
other charges. 

JD Woodward was Senior Vice President, Nonutility Operations of the Company from April 2001 to 
April 2006. Woodward Marketing L.L.C., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company through September 30, 
2003 and its successor, AEM, leased office space from one corporation owned by Mr. Woodward. The lease 
originated in April 2002 and was terminated in July 2006. 

During 2006, 2005 and 2004, our utility division leased office space and vehicles from our natural gas 
marketing and other non utility segments. Base lease payments were $1.1 million, $1.0 million and $1.2 million 
in 2006, 2005 and 2004. 
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ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
 

19. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data is presented below. The sum of net income per share by 
quarter may not equal the net income per share for the year due to variations in the weighted average shares 
outstanding used in computing such amounts. Our businesses are seasonal due to weather conditions in our 
service areas. For further information on its effects on quarterly results, see the "Results of Operations" 
discussion included in the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations" section herein. 

Fiscal year 2006: 

Operating revenues
 

Utility segment .........................
 

Natural gas marketing segment. .............
 

Pipeline and storage segment ...............
 

Other nonutility segment ..................
 

Intersegment eliminations ..................
 

Gross profit ..............................
 

Operating income .........................
 

Net income (loss) .........................
 

Net income (loss) per basic share ..............
 

Net income (loss) per diluted share .................
 
Fiscal year 2005: 

Operating revenues 

Utility segment ......................... 

Natural gas marketing segment .............. 

Pipeline and storage segment ............... 

Other nonutility segment .................. 

Intersegment eliminations .................. 

Gross profit ..............................
 

Operating income .........................
 

Net income (loss) .........................
 

Net income (loss) per basic share ..............
 

Net income (loss) per diluted share ............
 

Quarter Ended
 
December 31 March 31 June 30 September 30
 

(In thousands, except per share data)
 

$1,405,010 $1,447,620 $ 402,044 $ 395,917 

1,101,845 818,629 562,447 673,603 

39,712 45,483 35,862 39,510 

1,492 1,595 1,413 1,398 

(264,239) (279,481 ) ( 138,523) (138,974) 

2,283,820 2,033,846 863,243 971,454 

346,590 405,403 204,500 260,077 

149,697 180,833 4,803 47,283 

71,027 88,796 (18,145) 6,059 

$ 0.88 $ 1.10 $ (0.22) $ 0.07 

$ 0.88 $ 1.10 $ (0.22) $ 0.07 

$ 913,681 $1,235,377 $ 501,735 $ 452,347 

493,801 512,891 466,835 632,751 

43,690 45,546 33,449 30,604 

1,359 1,278 1,421 1,244 

(83,907) (110,007) (96,563) (115,659) 

1,368,624 1,685,085 906,877 1,001,287 

322,103 375,894 221,274 198,366 

128,674 172,181 39,468 8,332 

59,599 88,502 4,486 (16,802) 

$ 0.79 $ 1.12 $ 0.06 $ (0.21) 

$ 0.79 $ 1.11 $ 0.06 $ (0.21) 
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Management's Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

We have established disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that information required to be disclosed by us, including our consolidated entities, in the reports that we file 
or submit to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities and Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (the "Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms. Under the supervision and with the 
participation of our management, including our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer ("Principal 
Executive Officer") and our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ("Principal Financial Officer"), 
we evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under 
Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Act. Based on this evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and our 
Principal Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of 
September 30, 2006 in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in this annual report on 
Form 10-K was accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Principal Executive and 
Principal Financial Officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), in providing reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Under the supervision and with the participation of 
our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, we evaluated the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control­
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by 
COSO and applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules, our management concluded that our internal 
control over financial reporting was effective as of September 30, 2006. 

Ernst & Young LLP has issued its report on management's assessment and on the effectiveness of the 
Company's internal control over financial reporting. That report appears below. 

lsi ROBERT W. BEST 

Robert W. Best 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 

lsi JOHN P. REDDY 

John P. Reddy 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financ,ial Officer 

November 20,2006 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON
 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
 

The Board of Directors 
Atmos Energy Corporation 

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Atmos Energy Corporation maintained effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control ­
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(the COSO criteria). Atmos Energy Corporation's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating 
management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, 
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management's assessment that Atmos Energy Corporation maintained effective internal 
control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the 
COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Atmos Energy Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2006, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Atmos Energy Corporation as of September 30, 2006 
and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended September 30, 2006 of Atmos Energy Corporation and our report dated 
November 20, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

ERNST & YOUNG LLP 

Dallas, Texas 
November 20,2006 
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

We did not make any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) 
and 15d-15(f) under the Act) during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

ITEM 9B.	 Other Information 

Not applicable. 

PART III 

ITEM 10.	 Directors and Executive OffICers of the Registrant 

Information regarding directors and compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 is incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders on February 7, 2007. Information regarding executive officers is included in Part I of 
this Form lO-K. 

Identification of the members of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors as well as the Board of 
Directors' determination as to whether one or more audit committee financial experts are serving on the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors is incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Definitive Proxy 
Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February 7, 2007. 

The Company has adopted a code of ethics for its principal executive officer, principal financial officer 
and principal accounting officer. Such code of ethics is represented by the Company's Code of Conduct, which 
is applicable to all directors, officers and employees of the Company, including the Company's principal 
executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. A copy of the Company's Code 
of Conduct is posted on the Company's website at www.atmosenergy.com under "Corporate Governance". In 
addition, any amendment to or waiver granted from a provision of the Company's Code of Conduct will be 
posted on the Company's website under "Corporate Governance". 

ITEM 11.	 Executive Compensation 

Incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders on February 7, 2007. 

ITEM 12.	 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder 
Matters 

Security ownership of certain beneficial owners and of management is incorporated herein by reference 
from the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on February 7, 2007. 
Information concerning our equity compensation plans is provided in Part II, Item 5, Market for Registrant's 
Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities, of this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K. 

ITEM 13.	 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

Incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders on February 7, 2007. 
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ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

Incorporated herein by reference from the Company's Definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting 
of Shareholders on February 7, 2007. 

PART IV 

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) I. and 2. Financial statements and financial statement schedules. 

The financial statements and financial statement schedule listed in the Index to Financial Statements in 
Item 8 are filed as part of this Form 1O-K. 

3. Exhibits 

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibits Index are filed as part of this Form IO-K. The exhibits 
numbered 1O.7(a) through IO.16(e) are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or l5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant 
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION 
(Registrant) 

By: ---..:../.::::.s/-=.J...::O..:..:H=-N.:.....;P:...:......::.RE:::::::=.D:....::D=--=Y=-- _ 

John P. Reddy 
Senior Vice President 

and Chief Financial Officer 

Date: November 22, 2006 
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POWER OF ATTORNEY 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby 
constitutes and appoints Robert W. Best and John P. Reddy, or either of them acting alone or together, as his 
true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power to act alone, for him and in his name, place and 
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Form lO-K, and to file the same, with 
all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each 
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents 
and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact 
and agent, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below 
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated: 

lsi ROBERT W. BEST 
Robert W. Best 

Chairman, President and Chief 
Executive Officer 

November 22,2006 

/s/ JOHN P. REDDY 
John P. Reddy 

Senior Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer 

November 22, 2006 

lsi F. E. MEISENHEIMER 

F. E. Meisenheimer 

Vice President and Controller (Principal 
Accounting Officer) 

November 22, 2006 

lsi TRAVIS W. BAIN, II 

Travis W. Bain, II 
Director November 22, 2006 

/s/ DAN BUSBEE 
Dan Busbee 

Director November 22, 2006 

lsi RICHARD W. CARDIN 

Richard W. Cardin 
Director November 22,2006 

Is/ THOMAS J. GARLAND 

Thomas J. Garland 
Director November 22,2006 

lsi RICHARD K. GORDON 

Richard K. Gordon 
Director November 22,2006 

lsi GENE C. KOONCE 
Gene C. Koonce 

Director November 22, 2006 
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/s/ THOMAS C. MEREDITH 

Thomas C. Meredith 

Director November 22,2006 

/s/ PHILLIP E. NICHOL 

Phillip E. Nichol 

Director November 22,2006 

/s/ NANCY K. QUINN 

Nancy K. Quinn 

Director November 22, 2006 

/s/ STEPHEN R. SPRINGER 

Stephen R. Springer 

Director November 22,2006 

/s/ CHARLES K. VAUGHAN 

Charles K. Vaughan 

Director November 22,2006 

/s/ RICHARD WARE II 

Richard Ware II 

Director November 22,2006 
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Schedule II 

ATMOS ENERGY CORPORATION 

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 
Three Years Ended September 30,2006 

Additions 
Balance at 
Beginning 
of Period 

Charged to 
Cost & 

Expenses 

Charged to 
Other 

Accounts Deductions 

Balance 
at End 

of Period 
(In thousands) 

2006 

Allowance for doubtful accounts ...... $ 15,613 $ 21,819 $ $ 23,746(2) $ 13,686 

2005 

Allowance for doubtful accounts ...... $ 7,214 $ 20,293 $4,563(1) $ 16,45i2 ) $ 15,613 

2004 

Allowance for doubtful accounts ...... $ 13,051 $ 5,379 $ $ 11,216(2) $ 7,214 

(I) Represents allowance for doubtful accounts recorded in connection with the TXU Gas acquisition. 

(2) Uncollectible accounts written off. 
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EXHIBITS INDEX 
Item 14.(a)(3) 

Exhibit 
Number Description 

Plan of Reorganization 

2.1(a) Agreement and Plan of Merger and 
Reorganization dated as of September 21, 2001, 
by and among Atmos Energy Corporation, 
Mississippi Valley Gas Company and the 
Shareholders Named on the Signature Pages 
hereto 

2.1 (b) Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between 
TXU Gas Company and LSG Acquisition 
Corporation dated June 17, 2004 

2.1(c) Amendment NO.1 to Merger Agreement, dated 
as of September 30, 2004, by and between LSG 
Acquisition Corporation and TXU Gas 
Company LP 

Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws 

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of 
Incorporation of Atmos Energy Corporation (as 
of February 9, 2005) 

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Atmos 
Energy Corporation (as of August 13, 2003) 

Instruments Defining Rights of Security Holders 

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Atmos 
Energy Corporation) 

4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of November 12, 
1997, between the Company and BankBoston, 
N.A., as Rights Agent 

4.3 First Amendment to Rights Agreement dated as 
of August 11, 1999, between the Company and 
BankBoston, N.A., as Rights Agent 

4.4 Second Amendment to Rights Agreement dated 
as of February 13, 2002, between the Company 
and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., fka 
BankBoston, N.A., as Rights Agent 

4.5 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of 
December 3, 2002, by and among Atmos 
Energy Corporation and the Shareholders of 
Mississippi Valley Gas Company 

4.6 Standstill Agreement, dated as of December 3, 
2002, by and among Atmos Energy Corporation 
and the Shareholders of Mississippi Valley Gas 
Company 

4.7 Indenture dated as of July 15, 1998 between 
Atmos Energy Corporation and U.S. Bank 
Trust National Association, Trustee 

4.8 Indenture between Atmos Energy Corporation, 
as Issuer, and SunTrust Bank, Trustee dated as 
of May 22, 2001 
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Incorporation by
 

Reference to
 

Exhibit 2.2 to Fonn IO-K for fiscal year ended 
September 30,2001 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K dated June 17,2004 
(File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K dated September 30, 
2004 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 3(1) to Form 10-Q dated March 31, 
2005 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 4.2 to Form S-3 dated August 31, 2004 
(File No. 333-118706) 

Exhibit (4)(b) to Form IO-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1988 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K dated November 12, 
1997 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 2 to Form 8-A, Amendment No.1, 
dated August 12, 1999 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 4 to Form 10-Q for quarter ended 
December 31, 2001 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K/A, dated December 3, 
2002 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 99.3 to Form 8-K/A, dated December 3, 
2002 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 4.8 to Form S-3 dated August 31, 2004 
(File No. 333-118706) 

Exhibit 99.3 to Form 8-K dated May 15, 2001 
(File No. 1-10042) 



Exhibit 
Number Description 

4.9(a) Indenture of Mortgage, dated as of July 15, 
1959, from United Cities Gas Company to First 
Trust of Illinois, National Association, and MJ. 
Kruger, as Trustees, as amended and 
supplemented through December I, 1992 (the 
Indenture of Mortgage through the 
20th Supplemental Indenture) 

4.9(b) Twenty-First Supplemental Indenture dated as 
of February 5, 1997 by and among United 
Cities Gas Company and Bank of America 
Illinois and First Trust National Association and 
Russell C. Bergman supplementing Indenture of 
Mortgage dated as of July 15, 1959 

4.9(c) Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture dated 
as of July 29, 1997 by and among Atmos 
Energy Corporation and First Trust National 
Association and Russell C. Bergman 
supplementing Indenture of Mortgage dated as 
of July 15, 1959 

4.1O(a) Indenture between United Cities Gas Company 
and Bank of America Illinois, as Trustee dated 
as of November 15,1995 

4.1O(b) First Supplemental Indenture between Atmos 
Energy Corporation and Bank of America 
Illinois, as Trustee dated as of July 29, 1997 

4.11(a) Debenture Certificate for the 6%% Debentures 
due 2028 

4.11(b) Global Security for the 7%% Senior Notes due 
2011 

4.11(c) Global Security for the 5~% Senior Notes due 
2013 

4.11(d) Global Security for the Floating Rate Senior 
Notes due 2007 

4.11(e) Global Security for the 4.00% Senior Notes due 
2009 

4.1l(f) Global Security for the 4.95% Senior Notes due 
2014 

4. 11 (g) Global Security for the 5.95% Senior Notes due 
2034 

Material Contracts 

10.1 Guaranty of Atmos Energy Corporation dated 
June 17, 2004 

1O.2(a) Transitional Services Agreement, dated as of 
October 1, 2004, by and between Atmos Energy 
Corporation and TXU Gas Company LP 

1O.2(b) Transitional Services Agreement, dated as of 
October 1, 2004, by and between Atmos Energy 
Corporation, Oncor Utility Solutions (Texas) 
Company and TXU Electric Delivery Company 
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Exhibit to Registration Statement of United
 
Cities Gas Company on Form S-3 (File No.
 
33-56983)
 

Exhibit 1O.7(a) to Form lO-K for fiscal year
 
ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 4.1O(c) to Form S-3 dated August 31,
 
2004 (File No. 333-118706)
 

Exhibit 4.11(a) to Form S-3 dated August 31,
 
2004 (File No. 333-118706)
 

Exhibit 4.11 (b) to Form S-3 dated August 31,
 
2004 (File No. 333-118706)
 

Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K dated July 22, 1998
 
(File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K dated May 15, 2001
 
(File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 1O(2)(c) to Form lO-K for the year
 
ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 1O(2)(d) to Form 10-K for the year
 
ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 1O(2)(e) to Form IO-K for the year
 
ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 1O(2)(f) to Form 10-K for the year
 
ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 1O(2)(g) to Form lO-K for the year
 
ended September 30, 2004 (File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K dated June 17, 2004
 
(File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated September 30,
 
2004 (File No. 1-10042)
 

Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K dated September 30,
 
2004 (File No. 1-10042)
 



10.3 

Exhibit
 
Number
 

1O.2(c) 

10.2(d) 

lOA 

10.5(a) 

10.5(b) 

1O.5(c) 

Description 

Transitional Services Agreement, dated as of 
October 1, 2004, by and between Atmos Energy 
Corporation and TXU Business Services 
Company (Exhibit A to Schedule 2 containing 
listing of employee credit and procurement 
cards is omitted, to be supplementally furnished 
to the Commission upon request) 

Transitional Access Agreement, dated as of 
October I, 2004, by and among Atmos Energy 
Corporation and TXU Energy Retail Company 
LP, TXU Business Services Company, TXU 
Properties Company and TXU Electric Delivery 
Company 

Revolving Credit Agreement (3 Year Facility), 
dated as of October 18, 2005, among Atmos 
Energy Corporation, SunTrust Bank, as 
Administrative Agent, lPMorgan Chase Bank, 
N.A., as Syndication Agent and Bank of 
America, N.A., Wachovia Bank, National 
Association and Societe Generale, as 
Co-Documentation Agents, and the lenders 
from time to time parties thereto 

Pipeline Construction and Operating 
Agreement, dated November 30, 2005, by and 
between Atmos-Pipeline Texas, a division of 
Atmos Energy Corporation, a Texas and 
Virginia corporation and Energy Transfer Fuel, 
LP, a Delaware limited partnership 

Uncommitted Second Amended and Restated 
Credit Agreement, dated to be effective 
March 30, 2005, among Atmos Energy 
Marketing, LLC, Fortis Capital Corp., BNP 
Paribas and the other financial institutions 
which may become parties thereto. 

First Amendment, dated as of November 28, 
2005, to the Uncommitted Second Amended 
and Restated Credit Agreement, dated to be 
effective March 30, 2005, among Atmos Energy 
Marketing, LLC, Fortis Capital Corp., BNP 
Paribas, Societe Generale, and the other 
financial institutions which may become parties 
thereto. 

Second Amendment, dated as of March 31, 
2006, to the Uncommitted Second Amended 
and Restated Credit Agreement, dated to be 
effective March 30, 2005, among Atmos Energy 
Marketing, LLC, Fortis Capital Corp., BNP 
Paribas, Societe Generale and the other 
financial institutions which may become parties 
thereto 

Page Number or
 
Incorporation by
 

Reference to
 

Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K dated September 30, 
2004 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit lOA to Form 8-K dated September 30, 
2004 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated October 18, 
2005 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated November 30, 
2005 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated March 30, 2005 
(File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated November 28, 
2005 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated March 31, 2006 
(File No. 1-10042) 
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Exhibit 
Number Description 

10.6 Revolving Credit Agreement (364 Day 
Facility), dated as of November 7, 2006, among 
Atmos Energy Corporation, SunTrust Bank, as 
Administrative Agent, Wachovia Bank, N.A., as 
Syndication Agent and Bank of America, N.A., 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and the Royal 
Bank of Scotland, Pic as Co-Documentation 
Agents, and the lenders from time to time 
parties thereto 

Executive Compensation Plans and 
Arrangements 

1O.7(a)* Form of Atmos Energy Corporation Change in 
Control Severance Agreement - Tier I 

1O.7(b)* Form of Amendment No. One to the Atmos 
Energy Corporation Change in Control 
Severance Agreement, Tier I 

1O.7(c)* Form of Atmos Energy Corporation Change in 
Control Severance Agreement - Tier II 

1O.7(d)* Form of Amendment No. One to the Atmos 
Energy Corporation Change in Control 
Severance Agreement, Tier II 

10.8* Atmos Energy Corporation Long-Term Stock 
Plan for the United Cities Gas Company 
Division 

1O.9(a)* Atmos Energy Corporation Executive Retiree 
Life Plan 

1O.9(b)* Amendment No. I to the Atmos Energy 
Corporation Executive Retiree Life Plan 

10. 1O(a)* Description of Financial and Estate Planning 
Program 

10.1 O(b)* Description of Sporting Events Program 

10. 11 (a)* Atmos Energy Corporation Supplemental 
Executive Benefits Plan, Amended and Restated 
in its Entirety August 12, 1998 

10.11 (b)* Atmos Energy Corporation Performance-Based 
Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan, Effective 
Date August 12, 1998 

1O.11(c)* Amendment No. One to the Atmos Energy 
Corporation Performance-Based Supplemental 
Executive Benefits Plan, Effective Date 
January 1, 1999 

1O.11(d)* Atmos Energy Corporation Performance-Based 
Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan 
Trust Agreement, Effective Date December 1, 
2000 

10.11 (e)* Form of Individual Trust Agreement for the 
Supplemental Executive Benefits Plan 

10.12* Atmos Energy Corporation Executive 
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan 
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Page Number or
 
Incorporation by
 

Reference to
 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated November 7, 
2006 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.21 (b) to Form 10-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated May 9, 2006 
(File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 1O.21(c) to Form lO-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K dated May 9, 2006 
(File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 99.1 to Form S-8 filed July 29, 1997 
(File No. 333-32343) 

Exhibit 10.31 to Form lO-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 1O.31(a) to Form lO-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 1O.25(b) to Form IO-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.26(c) to Form 10-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1993 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.26 to Form 10-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.32 to Form 1O-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.2 to Form 10-Q for quarter ended 
December 31, 2000 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for quarter ended 
December 31, 2000 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.3 to Form IO-Q for quarter ended 
December 31, 2000 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.33 to Form IO-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1998 (File No. 1-10042) 



Exhibit
 
Number Description
 

10. 13(a)* Mini-MedfDental Benefit Extension Agreement 
dated October I, 1994 

10.13(b)*	 Amendment No.1 to Mini-MedfDental Benefit 
Extension Agreement dated August 14, 2001 

10. 13(c)* Amendment No.2 to Mini-MedfDental Benefit 
Extension Agreement dated December 31, 2002 

10.14*	 Atmos Energy Corporation Equity Incentive and 
Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee 
Directors 

10.15*	 Atmos Energy Corporation Outside Directors 
Stock-for-Fee Plan (Amended and Restated as 
of November 12, 1997) 

10.16(a)*	 Atmos Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term 
Incentive Plan (as amended and restated 
February 14, 2002) 

1O.16(b)*	 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option 
Agreement under the Atmos Energy 
Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan 

1O.16(c)*	 Form of Award Agreement of Restricted Stock 
With Time-Lapse Vesting under the Atmos 
Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive 
Plan 

1O.16(d)*	 Form of Award Agreement of Performance­
Based Restricted Stock Units under the Atmos 
Energy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive 
Plan 

10.16(e)*	 Atmos Energy Corporation Annual Incentive 
Plan for Management (as amended and restated 
February 14, 2002) 

12	 Statement of computation of ratio of earnings to 
fixed charges 

Other Exhibits, as indicated 

21 Subsidiaries of the registrant 

23 Consent of independent registered public 
accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP 

24 Power of Attorney 

31	 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications 

32	 Section 1350 Certifications ** 

99	 Annual Certification Pursuant to 
Section 303A.12 of the New York Stock 
Exchange Listed Company Manual 

Page Number or
 
Incorporation by
 

Reference to
 

Exhibit 1O.28(f) to Form IO-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2001 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.28(g) to Form 10-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 200 I (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit lO.1 to Form IO-Q for quarter ended 
December 31,2002 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit C to Definitive Proxy Statement on 
Schedule 14A filed December 30, 1998 (File 
No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.28 to Form 10-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for quarter ended 
March 31, 2002 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit lO.16(b) to Form IO-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2005 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 1O.16(c) to Form 10-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2005 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 1O.16(d) to Form 10-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2005 (File No. 1-10042) 

Exhibit 10.2 to Form IO-Q for quarter ended 
March 31, 2002 (File No. 1-10042) 

Signature page of Form IO-K for fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2006 

* This exhibit constitutes a "management contract or compensatory plan, contract, or arrangement." 

**	 These certifications pursuant to 18 U.S.c. Section 1350 by the Company's Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer, furnished as Exhibit 32 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, will not be deemed 
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or incorporated by reference into any filing by 
the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the 
extent that the Company specifically incorporates such certifications by reference. 
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